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Passionate about providing 
people with the perfect 
shopping experience, we help 
retailers fl ourish. And it’s 
this that powers our business, 
driving our long-term success
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We own and operate 14 of the 
very best shopping centres, 
in the strongest locations, 
right across the country 

This means we’re able to offer 
easy access to great spaces for 
shopping and socialising 
to more people than anyone else
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The Trafford Centre, Manchester
The combination of stunning architecture, size and quality of 
the shopping and leisure offer, long opening hours, powerful 
advertising and marketing and the constant drive to improve 
the customer experience has built a commercial success that 
grows with every year. 

A fl agship destination in every sense with over 200 shops 
on 3 miles of marble malls, 2011 has seen newly extended 
fl agship stores for Marks & Spencer and Debenhams, Ernest 
Jones and Dune. The Circle Champagne Bar opened in July, 
successfully bringing one of Manchester’s most popular 
venues into The Trafford Centre.

“A phenomenal mix that keeps evolving” The Trafford Centre 
is the only place in the UK outside Oxford Street where 
you can fi nd Selfridges, John Lewis, Debenhams and M&S 
trading together; 20 new stores and restaurants opened in 
2011, including Boux Avenue, North Face, Bertie, Ted Baker 
and the fi rst Banana Republic in the North, with retailers 
investing around £20 million in new and replacement shopfi ts.

35m
Customer visits a year

 £85m
Annual property income
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Catering
11% of our centre space is dedicated to 
providing the right blend of leisure and 
catering, a fi gure which continues to increase 
as we deliver on our aim to provide a 
compelling destination for visitors.

Leisure
Following the trend for catering being 
such a key element of the tenant mix, the 
importance of leisure is growing with shoppers 
looking for more family friendly activities 
as part of their visit. With top performing 
IMAX cinemas at Metrocentre and 
The Chimes, Legoland Discovery Centre at 
The Trafford Centre, Namco Funscape at 
Metrocentre and ice skating at Braehead, 
a visit to a CSC centre gives a whole new 
meaning to retail therapy.
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And by providing just the right blend 
of retail, leisure and catering, 
including access to the brands people 
love, we attract over 320 million 
customer visits a year

Retail
“I am a shopaholic at heart and for me 
the collection of great retailers under one 
roof is one of the benefits that shopping 
centre retailing holds over other locations. 
Where else can you spend a whole day 
in the middle of the dreaded winter 
with such pure escapism than a fabulous 
shopping centre? Shopping is now all 
about the experience.”

Theo Paphitis, chairman and founder
Boux Avenue
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You can fi nd every one of the 
UK’s top 20 retail brands in 
our shopping centres 

They sit alongside some of the 
world’s most iconic global brands 
and the best places to meet, eat, 
drink and be sociable

I love the restaurants outside; 

Wagamama is my Saturday 

lunchtime treat! It was a good place to shop before 

but now they’ve got Apple 

and Hollister.
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Global brands
With two thirds of the UK population being able to drive 
to a CSC centre in 45 minutes or less it’s no wonder that 
almost 200 global brands choose to open stores with CSC. 
So for a shopper looking for easy access to brands such 
as Hollister, Apple, Forever 21 or Superdry, the best place 
to visit is a CSC centre. 

“As we continue with our UK and European expansion our 
strategy means it is vital that we have the best stores in key 
shopping centres and we are grateful that CSC has helped 
us in our aims by investing in a redevelopment that helps 
us to achieve that goal.” 

Larry Meyer, executive vice president
Forever 21

35,000
sq ft fl agship Forever 21 store 
opening at Lakeside

The fashion show was very good. 

The models looked real and I could visualise 

myself in it. I went and bought one of the 

tops from Top Shop afterwards. It’s got Selfridges, 

Banana Republic 

and a Carluccios – 

what’s not to love?
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“My favourite shops, 
lovely places to eat, 

the kids can go to the 
cinema too as a reward 

for being good.”
Shopper, Lakeside

“It’s a nice environment 
and there is a kudos which comes 
from working in one of the best 
shopping centres in the country 

not only sizewise but also 
for layout and retail mix.” 

Retailer, The Trafford Centre

“I know it’s 
got everything 

I need, lots of nice 
shops and easy 

to get to.”
Shopper, Metrocentre

“They’ve improved 
the centre no end with 

the new restaurants and 
they are continually 

improving tenant mix.” 
Retailer, Braehead

“They want all of us to be 
successful and I think 

that they do all they can 
to make this happen.”

Retailer, Victoria Centre

 Anchors
 Leisure
 Food
 Retail
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We’re able to build such strong 
relationships because we 
focus on shopping centres and 
nothing else. This means we 
fully understand what makes 
retailers and their customers tick 

We’ve found it’s about getting things 
right and keeping them that way 

We’ve been here, creating great 
retail experiences, for decades. 
And we’re here to stay 
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We create, acquire and 
transform shopping centres, 
and continue investing to make 
them even better 

We develop enduring, 
mutually rewarding 
relationships with retailers 

And by working with our 
communities, we build a 
shared sense of purpose 
wherever we operate
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Chapelfi eld, Norwich
Since opening in 2005, Chapelfi eld has changed the retail 
profi le in Norwich and transformed it into a top 10 shopping 
destination. As the prime pitch in East Anglia, this stylish and 
cutting-edge shopping mall has now defi ned an exciting retail 
quarter at the heart of the city. 

When 18 of the 94 stores at Chapelfi eld went into 
administration during the 2008/9 recession, CSC took the 
opportunity to evolve the tenant mix. We knew that Norwich 
had great potential and Apple, Hollister and Superdry agreed 
with us. Back in 2008 Chapelfi eld had limited dining options 
so we also created a new restaurant quarter with 4 launches 
including Carluccio’s best 2011 opening and YO! Sushi’s best 
opening outside London. And there’s more to come in 2012.

+13%
Increase in footfall 2011

+10%
Net rental income in 2011
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CSC asset valuations

£6.7bn

1

 Out-of-town centres (65%)

 1 The Trafford Centre (£1,700 million)
 2 Lakeside (£1,081 million)
 3 Metrocentre (£864 million)
 4 Braehead (£583 million)
 5 Cribbs Causeway (£220 million)

 Town and city centres (35%)

 6 Arndale (£370 million)
 7 Victoria Centre (£333 million)
 8 The Harlequin (£327 million)
 9 St David’s (£286 million)
 10 Eldon Square (£256 million)
 11 Chapelfield (£238 million)
 12 The Chimes (£214 million)
 13 The Potteries (£184 million)
 14 The Glades (£174 million)

2
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The results demonstrate CSC’s considerable 
progress in 2011. The transformational 
acquisition of The Trafford Centre 
has driven our strong performance 
and exceeded our expectations

Highlights of the year
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Financial highlights1

Twelve months ended 31 December

20112 2010 Change

Net rental income from 
continuing operations £364m £277m up 31%

Underlying earnings £139m £97m up 43%

Property revaluation surplus £63m  £501m n/a

Profi t for the year £34m £529m n/a

Basic EPS, continuing operations 2.9p 68.3p n/a

Underlying EPS 16.5p 15.4p up 7%

Dividend per share (including 
proposed 10p fi nal dividend) 15.0p 15.0p Unchanged

31 December
2011

31 December
2010 Change

Market value of investment properties £6,960m £5,099m up 36%

Net external debt £3,374m £2,437m up 38%

Equity attributable to shareholders £2,922m £2,273m up 29%

NAV per share (diluted, adjusted) 391p 390p up 1p

Debt to assets ratio 48% 48% Unchanged

1 Please refer to glossary for defi nition of terms.
2 31 December 2011 income data includes Traff ord Centre results for the 11 months since acquisition.

 £364m
Net rental income

 16.5p
Underlying EPS

97%
Occupancy

 +2%
Footfall

 198
Long-term lettings

Operational highlights
Transformational acquisition of The Traff ord Centre

 High quality income stream

 Valuation increased by £50 million to £1,700 million

 Integration and management changes

Strong key operational metrics

 Like-for-like net rental income has grown 3.6 per cent

 Occupancy remains strong at 97 per cent

 198 new long-term lettings have added £9 million additional annual rent for the Group

 Footfall is up a further 2 per cent following two years of growth. After a fl at autumn, 
December was up 7 per cent on 2010

 Positive impact on earnings and valuations with underlying earnings per share up 
7 per cent to 16.5 pence and property values stable

Growing the pipeline of projects

 Asset management initiatives underway, notably at Lakeside and Metrocentre

 Acquisition of Broadmarsh, Nottingham

 Planned capital expenditure of around £120 million, covering most centres, plus 
progress on potential major extensions at Lakeside and Nottingham

 Acquisitions of land with potential for future development

Robust fi nancial position

 New £375 million revolving credit facility evidence of access to funding

 Wholly owned assets, mostly freehold, make up 75 per cent of investment 
properties by value

Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC
Annual Report 2011

Overview Business model
and strategy

Business 
review

Financial 
review

Corporate 
responsibility

Governance Accounts  13Other 
information



Introduction
Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC is well placed to deal with the 
challenges and opportunities arising from the current weak economic 
climate in the UK which is further hampered by wider uncertainties. 

Adverse conditions do not last forever and represent precisely the 
time when those who can, should be laying the foundations for future 
growth – and we are among them.

CSC has assets of uniquely high quality overall, a considerable capital 
base and a committed and resilient management team. We aim to use 
the creative energy of the organisation to improve CSC’s competitive 
position in the shopping centre industry over the next few years. 

Strengths of CSC
Let me enlarge on these strengths of CSC. 

We have in 2011 been building a pipeline of active management projects 
and growth options, detailed in the Operating Review which follows. 
This includes planning applications and acquisitions, such as the 
Broadmarsh Centre, Nottingham, a transaction which should unlock 
the opportunity for CSC to upgrade the retail off er of Nottingham city 
centre after a long period of stalemate.

We have benefi tted from the transformational acquisition of 
The Traff ord Centre at the beginning of 2011, not only because of 
the high quality income stream but also from the successful integration 
into CSC of its management and ideas.

By any measure, we are robust operationally, with 97 per cent 
occupancy and three consecutive years of overall footfall increases 
at our centres. 75 per cent of our investment properties are 
wholly-owned and mostly freehold, underpinning our £3.5 billion 
of shareholders’ funds*, with our top quality properties providing 
a two-fold assurance. First, the leading retailers want to occupy, 
and shoppers to visit them; secondly, as a result, the performance 
of the assets comes under less pressure in adverse conditions.

CSC has assets of uniquely 
high quality overall, 
a considerable capital base 
and a committed and 
resilient management team

Patrick Burgess
Chairman

Chairman’s statement

* Adjusted, diluted.
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The successful completion in late 2011 of a new £375 million revolving 
credit facility with fi ve banks is testimony to the solidity of our fi nancial 
position and capacity for growth. So is the evident attractiveness of 
CSC as a potential partner for long term investors looking to participate 
in individual assets. While banks may be withdrawing for regulatory 
reasons from UK property lending, we see an encouraging range of 
other providers of debt and equity stepping forward to take their 
place for quality assets.

All of this means that we are confi dent about the company’s ability 
to manage the key operational risks confronting CSC, as addressed 
in the Operating review, of tenant failure and lease expiries. We are 
positioning the business to emerge powerfully from the next two years 
during which the UK and Eurozone economies may be expected to 
be at best subdued. 

Results for the year
We are pleased to have recorded in 2011 a creditable 3.6 per cent 
increase in like-for-like net rental income and a 7 per cent increase in 
underlying earnings per share. While capital values have been in eff ect 
stable, the Traff ord Centre acquisition and related capital raising have 
substantially strengthened the Group’s balance sheet, and interest 
cover has notably improved in the year.

People
Everywhere, people are of the utmost importance to CSC: the 
customers who visit our shopping centres, our tenants, the retailers, 
and their staff , the teams who run the centres and CSC’s head 
offi  ce employees.

We provide an uplifting experience for those who visit our centres and 
for those who work in the Group a stimulating context for all they do.

I want to thank all our employees for the contribution they have made 
to the attractiveness of our centres and the success of our activities. 
Our thanks are also due to our executive team who have engineered 
the smooth absorption of The Traff ord Centre into our operations and, 
in particular, we welcome Mike Butterworth as Chief Operating Offi  cer.

I am also grateful to all my fellow Directors whose contributions to our 
strategy and approach have been very valuable. 

We have greatly appreciated the important contribution across our 
entire business with stimulating ideas for many of our centres from 
John Whittaker in the role of Deputy Chairman since January last year.

In September, we were delighted to welcome Lady Patten to 
the Board as a Non-Executive Director and a member of the 
Remuneration Committee.

CSC shopping centres continue to attract 
a growing number of shoppers each year.
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Kay Chaldecott stood down as an Executive Director of CSC, on 
30 September 2011, after 27 years with the Group. Kay played an 
instrumental part in the development and success of the Group’s 
shopping centre business. I would like to thank Kay very warmly on 
behalf of us all for her years of dedication and role as a member 
of the executive team. 

I also want to express particular thanks to Ian Henderson who is 
standing down from the Board at our forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting, after seven years as a Non-Executive Director including a 
period as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Ian also played 
an important role in the demerger from CSC of Capital & Counties, 
taking on the role of Deputy Chairman of that business in May 2010.

Over the next two years, it is our intention to comply with Lord Davies’ 
recommendations as to the composition of Boards.

Remuneration 
CSC has always been a cost conscious organisation in all facets of its 
activities. In the case of executives, the Remuneration Committee aims 
for a balance with base salary set below median and a greater emphasis 
on performance related pay, commensurate with CSC’s business 
objectives and risk profi le, to provide an appropriately positioned 
overall level of remuneration.

Economic contribution and corporate responsibility
We have in 2011 commissioned a third party exercise to assess 
the economic contribution of CSC’s regional shopping centres. 
For example, we now estimate some 80,000 people are directly 
employed in our shopping centres with around a further 25,000 
indirect jobs also supported in the local economies. 

Corporate responsibility is woven into the fabric of our business. 
We are active in all the communities in which we are located and 
address with them many local concerns, particularly focusing on youth, 
education and health issues.

These local engagements extend to a national level in terms of our 
eff orts to meet a number of environmental targets – eff orts that 
have been recognised in a number of important national awards. 
Over the last fi ve years, we have reduced our energy use on a 
like-for-like basis by a signifi cant 18 per cent while we have increased 
recycling as a percentage of all waste from 33 per cent to an 
impressive 75 per cent. 

 15p
Dividend

Chairman’s statement continued

80,000
people employed within our shopping centres
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Dividends
The Directors are recommending a fi nal dividend of 10.0 pence per share 
bringing the amount paid and payable in respect of 2011 to 15.0 pence, 
the same as 2010 and covered by the underlying earnings per share for 
2011 of 16.5 pence. 2.5 pence of the fi nal dividend (2010 – 5.0 pence) will 
be paid as a Property Income Distribution (PID), subject to withholding 
tax as appropriate. 

As previously highlighted, the rules governing UK REITs were recently 
amended and scrip dividends are now eligible to be classifi ed as a PID. 
To give the company the additional fl exibility this would provide, 
a resolution will be proposed to shareholders at the forthcoming AGM 
in April 2012 to establish a scrip dividend scheme. If approved by the 
AGM, and dependent on the stock market conditions at the time, the 
Board could choose to off er a scrip alternative for an individual dividend, 
including for the 2011 fi nal dividend. In particular, the level of the 
share price relative to the net asset value per share would be taken 
into consideration. 

Prospects
CSC has made very considerable progress in 2011, the fi rst full year since 
the demerger of Capital & Counties in May 2010, and we are well placed 
to continue to develop the overall business.

As the retail market evolves, the scarcity value of CSC’s high quality assets 
is increasing, together with the value of CSC’s operating skills. Our large 
scale in the industry continues to be a benefi t as we strengthen our key 
relationships with retailers and improve our operating performance.

CSC is a single minded organisation, focused on one industry, in which a 
long-term approach is crucial to be a successful participant. Our challenge 
for 2012 and beyond is to continue to optimise the performance of 
existing assets while seizing opportunities to enhance returns further 
by creating new income streams whether organically or by acquisition.

Patrick Burgess
Chairman

23 February 2012
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Our focus, scale and quality 
set us apart allowing us to 
create value for shoppers, 
retailers and shareholders...

Business model

With shopping centres 
in the best locations 
across the country

And by developing 
and actively managing 
these centres to provide 
the right mix of retail, 
leisure and catering

We are the only pure UK prime 
shopping centre REIT. 

We own and operate 14 regional 
shopping centres in the strongest 
locations right across the country 
– more than any other operator.

 10
of the top 25 UK shopping centres

2/3
of the population live within a 45 minute 
drive of a CSC centre

Enabled by the following 
CSC qualities...

Ownership of major UK shopping centres*
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Source: PMA 2011

We provide 
people with 
the perfect 
shopping 
experience
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The powerful footfall 
that results is a 
compelling attraction 
for retailers 

While we demonstrate 
operating excellence, 
managing our centres 
to provide the right 
trading environment

This ensures that 
occupancy remains 
strong

And drives rental income 
over the long term

Our thriving centres 
are sought-after 
investments, supporting 
access to capital 
and creating value 
for shareholders

A robust capital structure
Astute fi nancial management to maximise funding options for disciplined 
and shrewd investment. 

 See Financial review pages 41 to 47

Talented employees
Professional, motivated and empowered teams, specialists in their fi eld, 
focused on creating mutually-benefi cial opportunities and relationships 
with partners. 

 See People page 53

A balanced approach to risk 
Risk management is underpinned by rigorous analysis in the context 
of potential threats to strategic objectives. 

 Key risks and uncertainties pages 24 and 25

A long-term focus
Creative and collaborative approach to long-term investment and 
growth, facilitated by development expertise and community focus. 

 See Corporate responsibility pages 48 to 53

Allowing us 
to establish 
enduring 
relationships 
with retailers

Which delivers 
long-term 
growth for 
CSC

And generates 
returns for 
shareholders 
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We have clear strategic objectives 
to ensure the business model 
is put into action effectively

Strategy

To provide compelling 
destinations for shoppers

We provide 
people with the 
perfect shopping 
experience

 “Marketing has worked 
brilliantly for us. We had 
amazing results from the 
Jean Genie campaign.” 
Fashion retailer
Lakeside

Strategic objective

Business model

How we are delivering on 
our strategy

Finding and showcasing the 
best mix of retailers

The most accessible locations 
for shopping and socialising

Excellent service, security 
and facilities

Marketing events that create 
theatre and experience

33 new brands to CSC centres 
in 2011, including Boux Avenue, 
Forever 21, Gilly Hicks and 
Banana Republic 

      See Operating review pages 34 
to 40

35 million visitors to 
The Traff ord Centre

      See The Traff ord Centre page 3

Strategy in action

 “Next has had a longstanding 
relationship with CSC and 
has worked with them over 
the years to create excellent 
shops in the right locations. 
Our recent relocation to Eldon 
Square Newcastle where we 
created a major store in the 
prime retail area is a proven 
example of that relationship.”
Andrew Varley 
Group Property Director
Next
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To be the landlord that 
retailers want to do 
business with

Allowing us to 
establish enduring 
relationships 
with retailers

To create long-term 
and sustainable growth 
in net rental income

Which delivers 
long-term growth 
for CSC

To generate superior 
shareholder returns 
through dividend growth 
and capital appreciation

And generates 
returns for 
shareholders 

Highest footfall locations 
across the UK

Specialist and collaborative 
approach to retail change

Impeccable yet cost eff ective 
facilities management

Consistently deliver creative 
developments

Innovative and eff ective marketing

Astute investment in 
improvements

Specialist knowledge of emerging 
occupier and management trends

Non-rental income from 
shopping centres

Long-term partnerships with 
local authorities and communities

Tight cost control and lean 
operation

Effi  cient use of debt markets

Creative involvement of 
non-equity partners

Real Service retailer survey 
shows overall satisfaction level 
3 percentage points above 
benchmark, a third successive 
year of improvement

Innovative “Style Pod” events 
demonstrably increasing sales 
of featured products

     See panel on left

Impressive new Next fl agship store 
at Eldon Square out-performing 
former high street location and 
driving further demand 

     See panel on left

Unique “Facilities Alliance” 
partnership encouraging operational 
innovation and improving property 
management effi  ciency

      See Operating review pages 34 
to 40

Improved operating margin 

     See Operating review page 37

New revolving credit facility 
secures increased bank 
commitment at a lower margin 
in a challenging market

     See Financial review page 45
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1. To provide compelling destinations for shoppers

2. To be the landlord that retailers want to do business with

3. To create long-term and sustainable growth in net rental income

Why is this important?
Footfall is an important measure 
of a centre’s popularity with 
customers. Retailers use 
this measure as a key part of 
their decision making process 
on where to locate their stores.

How is this measured?
Footfall numbers across CSC’s 
centres, including those managed 
by our partners, are captured 
using a combination of person 
or car counting cameras located 
at specifi c entrance and exit 
points within the centre.

How have we performed?
Despite tough economic 
conditions during 2011 footfall 
has increased by over 2 per 
cent in the year confi rming 
the continuing attractiveness 
to the public of our quality 
shopping centres.

Why is this important?
CSC aims to maximise 
the occupancy of its properties 
as vacant space will adversely 
impact on a centre’s 
trading environment.

How is this measured?
The passing rent of the Group’s 
properties currently occupied 
expressed as a percentage of the 
passing rent of occupied and the 
ERV of unoccupied properties. 

How have we performed?
The attractiveness of the 
Group’s properties to retailers 
is evidenced by the continued 
above average occupancy levels. 
The small reduction in 2011 
was due to a number of tenant 
administrations in December 2011.

Why is this important?
Measures the organic growth 
in income generated from the 
Group’s properties  in the year. 

How is this measured?
Removes from the year-on-year 
movement in net rental income 
the impact of acquisitions, 
developments and disposals.

How have we performed?
After the downturn in the 
commercial property market 
in 2009, the Group returned to 
positive like-for-like net rental 
income growth in 2010, with a 
further increase in the growth 
level achieved in 2011.

We measure progress against 
strategic objectives using the 
following fi nancial and non-fi nancial 
performance measures 

Key performance indicators

 Current year
 Historic comparative
 Benchmark comparative
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Footfall

Occupancy

Like-for-like net rental income

2009 2010 2011

+3% +3%

+2%

2009 2010 2011

97.8% 97.7%

96.7%

IPD (retail)

94.6%

2009 2010 2011

–3.4%

2.1%

3.6%



4. To generate superior shareholders returns through dividend growth and capital appreciation

*  Data source: Bloomberg.
†  Uses the CSC share price on 11 January 2011 as the opening value being the day on which Simon Property Group announced they had no intention 

to make a fi rm off er for the Group. This is consistent with methodology used in 2010.
º  No peer group comparable data is provided due to the lack of available data on a comparable time period.
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Why is this important?
Combines share price movement 
and dividends to produce a direct 
measure of the movement in 
shareholder value in the year.

How is this measured?
Uses the movement in share 
price during the year plus 
dividends paid in the year.†

How have we performed?
REIT share prices fell in 2011 as 
did the general UK stock market. 
CSC marginally under performed 
the REIT index due to a relatively 
stronger performance from 
those companies in the index 
focused on the London 
property market.

Shareholder return

2010 2011 FTSE REIT Index*

7%

–14%
–13%

Why is this important?
This is a measurement of the 
total return movement in the 
Group’s balance sheet value 
through the change in the 
Group’s property valuations 
and its capital structure. 

How is this measured?
Uses the movement in adjusted 
net asset value plus the impact 
of dividends paid in the year.

How have we performed?
Although net asset value per 
share increased in the year 
due to property valuation 
gains the return was aff ected 
by exceptional costs incurred 
in the year. 

Total fi nancial returnº

2010 2011

20%

4%

Why is this important?
The measure gives the underlying 
income generated in the year 
which gives an indication of the 
Group’s ability to pay dividends.

How is this measured?
Uses underlying earnings per 
share, which excludes property 
and derivative valuation 
movements and exceptional 
income or charges.

How have we performed?
Underlying earnings per share 
has grown in 2011 due to 
improved like-for-like net rental 
income and tight cost control.

Income performance

2009 2010 2011

15.1p
15.4p

16.5p

Why is this important?
Measures the capital return on 
the Group’s property assets and 
compares this with the IPD index, 
a recognised industry benchmark.

How is this measured?
Includes the capital growth from 
the  Group’s properties.

How have we performed?
The UK commercial property 
market experienced more 
diffi  cult conditions following 
the signifi cant rebound in 
values in 2010. The Group 
continued to outperform its  
benchmark in 2011.

Prime property assets

2009 2010 2011

–9.8%

11%

1.0%

IPD monthly
index (retail)

0.6%



Eff ective identifi cation and management of risks is a major factor 
in CSC’s ability to deliver strategic objectives. The risk management 
framework targets the early identifi cation of key risks and the 
formation of plans to remove or mitigate them. It focuses 
on managing these risks to maximise returns and minimise 
negative impacts. 

The CSC Board has overall responsibility for managing risk across 
the Group. The process as designed, which is illustrated below, 
involves identifi cation and review of risk involving all areas of the 
business and resulting in appropriate action plans. 

Operational reviews performed by each team focus on the impact 
of changing risks on the function’s key objectives and, along with 
reviews of current controls and the resulting action plans, are subject 
to executive challenge. The executive team also conducts a strategic 
review which considers changes in the overall environment, which may 
hinder the business in achieving its objectives. Combined action plans 
are subject to a detailed review and challenge process, including by the 
Audit Committee. Progress on implementation of actions is regularly 
monitored and informs the next phase of identifi cation and analysis.

Strategic 
objectives
Compelling destinations 

for shoppers

The landlord that retailers 
want to do business with

Long-term and sustainable 
growth in net rental income

Superior shareholder returns

CSC recognises that it faces 
a number of risks in achieving 
its strategic objectives

Key risks and uncertainties

Implement
Plan allocates responsibilities 

for implementation

Risk and Internal Audit oversight

Progress reporting to 
Audit Committee

 Output – improved risk profi le

Action
Range of options considered 

(mitigate, avoid, transfer 
or accept)

Audit Committee review 
and challenge

  Output – risk register 
action plan

Analyse
Review of existing controls

Prioritisation based on impact 
and likelihood of aff ecting 
strategic objectives

 Output – prioritised risk register

Identify
Strategic and operational 

risk reviews

Reviews undertaken by 
shopping centre teams, 
facilities management partners 
and corporate functions

Executive Director and Board 
level challenge

 Output – risk list
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Risk and Impact Mitigation Change 2011 commentary

Property market
Macro environment weakness 
could undermine rental income 
levels and property values, 
reducing return on investment 
and covenant headroom

Focus on prime assets 

Covenant headroom 
monitored and stress tested

Regular monitoring of tenant 
strength and diversity 

Despite macro concerns and reducing consumer confi dence 
from early summer 2011, positive valuation movement 
of 1 per cent for the year refl ecting prime nature of assets

  See Business review pages 28 to 30

  Covenant headroom on individual properties increased 
during 2011

Financing
Reduced availability of funds could 
limit liquidity leading to restriction 
of investing and operating 
activities and/or increase in 
funding cost

Regular reporting to Board 
of current and projected 
funding position

Eff ective treasury management 
aimed at balancing long 
debt maturity profi le and 
diversifi cation of sources 
of fi nance 

Renewed uncertainty in banking and debt markets. 
However CSC’s position supported by capital raising, 
acquisition of long-dated Traff ord Centre debt and new 
broader-based corporate revolving credit facility

  See Financial review page 45

Operations
Accident, system failure or 
external factors could threaten 
the safe and secure environment 
provided for shoppers and 
retailers, leading to fi nancial and/
or reputational loss

Strong business process and 
procedures supported by 
regular training and exercises

Annual audits of operational 
standards carried out by 
internal and external 
consultants

Culture of visitor safety

Retailer liaison and briefi ngs

Appropriate levels of insurance

Roll out of group policy and best practice post Traff ord 
acquisition complete

Seamless transition to “Facilities Alliance”, CSC’s innovative 
property management partnership, with effi  ciency savings 
reinvested in fabric improvements 

Mid year riots provided test of existing procedures: 
generally well managed, learning points implemented 
including new policies on monitoring and use of 
social media

Regulatory change: good ranking in Carbon Reduction 
Commitment “early action metrics”

Strategy and 
execution
Misjudged or poorly executed 
strategy fails to create 
shareholder value

Annual strategic review by 
Board informed by external 
research and advice

Board and management team 
experienced in shopping centre 
and broader retail industry

Engagement with national and 
international retailers

Key staff  succession planning, 
performance-based incentives

Focus on optimising performance of pre-eminent centres 
to benefi t from ongoing structural shift in UK retail, 
including broader off er of leisure and catering and 
inclusion of “theatre”

Fresh perspective from new directors/management 
has enhanced debate while maintaining our long term 
sustainable growth objective 

  See Chairman’s statement page 14

Development 
and acquisitions
Misjudged or poorly executed 
project results in increased cost 
or income foregone, hence fails 
to create shareholder value

Capital Projects Committee 
reviews detailed appraisals 
before and monitors progress 
during signifi cant projects

Research and third party due 
diligence undertaken for 
transactions

Increased focus on pre-let space before committing 
capital to projects 

Unprecedented number of planning applications including 
local consultations, positioning the Group for next phase 
of growth

  See Operating review page 34
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5

888
3

66661

 10

9
2

77
4

Market value

£1,700m
Occupancy

96.2%
Size (sq. ft. 000)

1,992
Annual property income

£85.3m
% ownership

100%
Headline rent ITZA

£400
Number of stores

242
ABC1 customers

69%
Key stores

Selfridges
John Lewis
Apple
Superdry
Hollister
JD Sports
Kurt Geiger
Ted Baker
Banana Republic
Odeon Cinema
Legoland Discovery Centre

Market value

£1,081m
Market value

£864m
Market value

£220m
Market value

£583m
Occupancy

98.2%
Occupancy

96.3%
Occupancy

96.0%
Occupancy

95.5%
Size (sq. ft. 000)

1,434
Size (sq. ft. 000)

2,092
Size (sq. ft. 000)

1,025
Size (sq. ft. 000)

1,136
Annual property income

£57.3m
Annual property income

£50.4m
Annual property income

£13.1m
Annual property income

£32.0m
% ownership

100%
% ownership

90%
% ownership

33%
% ownership

100%
Headline rent ITZA

£339
Headline rent ITZA

£320
Headline rent ITZA

£305
Headline rent ITZA

£225Scottish
English equivalent £300

Number of stores

254
Number of stores

350
Number of stores

151
Number of stores

125
ABC1 customers

60%
ABC1 customers

57%
ABC1 customers

71%
ABC1 customers

53%
Key stores

House of Fraser
Debenhams
Marks & Spencer
Hugo Boss
Guess
Top Shop
Zara
Primark

Key stores

House of Fraser
Marks & Spencer
Debenhams
Apple
H&M
Top Shop
Zara
Primark

Key stores

John Lewis
Marks & Spencer
Apple
Next
Top Shop
Timberland
Kurt Geiger
Hobbs
Hugo Boss
H&M

Key stores

Marks & Spencer
Primark
Apple
Next
G Star
H&M
Superdry
Top Shop
Hollister
Gap

Top properties

Out-of-town centres
 Please refer to glossary for defi nition of terms

1
The Trafford Centre 
Manchester

2
Lakeside 
Thurrock

3
Metrocentre
Gateshead

4
Cribbs Causeway 
Bristol

5
Braehead 
Glasgow

   See Investment and development property page 130
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Market value

£256m
Occupancy

94.1%
Size (sq. ft. 000)

1,350
Annual property income

£14.3m
% ownership

60%
Headline rent ITZA

£300
Number of stores

151
ABC1 customers

55%
Key stores

John Lewis
Fenwick
Debenhams
Waitrose
Apple
Hollister
Top Shop
Boots

8
Eldon Square 
Newcastle

Market value

£370m
Occupancy

97.9%
Size (sq. ft. 000)

1,600
Annual property income

£21.6m
% ownership

48%
Headline rent ITZA

£230
Number of stores

232
ABC1 customers

62%
Key stores

Harvey Nichols
Apple
Burberry
LK Bennett
Top Shop
Next
UGG
Hugo Boss
Superdry
Zara
Hollister
YO! Sushi
Nandos

Market value

£286m
Market value

£333m
Occupancy

94.1%
Occupancy

96.9%
Size (sq. ft. 000)

1,391
Size (sq. ft. 000)

981
Annual property income

£15.0m
Annual property income

£19.5m
% ownership

50%
% ownership

100%
Headline rent ITZA

£200
Headline rent ITZA

£216
Number of stores

199
Number of stores

127
ABC1 customers

66%
ABC1 customers

59%
Key stores

John Lewis 
Debenhams
Marks & Spencer
Apple
Hollister
Hugo Boss
Cath Kidston
Gap

Key stores

John Lewis
House of Fraser
Next
Top Shop
Monsoon
Boots
Next
Gap

Top in-town centres
 Please refer to glossary for defi nition of terms

6
Arndale 
Manchester

7
St David’s 
Cardiff

Market value

£327m
Occupancy

97.9%
Size (sq. ft. 000)

726
Annual property income

£20.0m
% ownership

93%
Headline rent ITZA

£250
Number of stores

147
ABC1 customers

64%
Key stores

John Lewis
Marks & Spencer
Zara
Primark
Next
Lakeland
Karen Millen
Phase Eight

9
The Harlequin 
Watford

10
Victoria Centre 
Nottingham
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CSC is well placed to deal 
with the challenges and 
opportunities arising from 
the current economic environment

UK macro and consumer backdrop
In June 2009 the UK economy started to recover from the “credit crunch” recessionary period 
but GDP dipped again in the last quarter of 2010. 2011 proved more diffi  cult than generally 
anticipated with only 0.8 per cent GDP growth overall. For CSC, this is most noticeable in the 
level of tenant failures, at a very low level in 2010 but increased to 3 per cent of passing rent 
in 2011. We expect UK economic output to grow only slowly for some time.

The appetite of both businesses and households to make investment and borrowing decisions 
is being aff ected by the current constrained lending markets and uncertainty relating to the 
euro-zone. Focus is fi rmly on downside risks.

Consumer confi dence remains at an extremely low level, below the previous trough in winter 
2008/9 according to the Nationwide benchmark metric. Infl ationary pressure on household 
costs, particularly from the fuel price increases in 2011, whilst apparently starting to ease, is still 
well in excess of wage increases. Combined with higher unemployment, this has brought the 
UK average household disposable income down 7 per cent in the year to December 2011 
according to the Asda benchmark index.

The UK retail environment
Faced with this spending squeeze, consumer habits have been changing. CSC’s consumer 
feedback including from focus groups is stressing value for money and convenience, including 
access to all their favourite brands.

National spending patterns have been shifting, notably with a higher proportion of sales 
conducted online (from 8.6 per cent of all retail trade in 2008 to 12 per cent in 2011) and in the 
larger destinations both in cities and out-of-town. With shoppers becoming more demanding 
in looking for their preferred combination of product, experience and service, top shopping 
centres such as CSC’s with a compelling mix of retail brands, catering and leisure have shown 
increasing footfall and retailer sales in contrast to the UK overall data which shows reductions.

The challenge to retailers has been to keep their business moving forward while facing reduced 
disposable income and changing consumer patterns in the face of supply chain infl ation and, 
in some cases, limited access to capital.

Not all retailers have succeeded. Failures include business models challenged by structural shift 
or prolonged sub-sector cyclical downturn, fi nancing structures unable to withstand the tighter 
fi nancing market, businesses focused on “big ticket” products and those simply losing their 
share to competitors.

However the level of failures this winter has been well below that of winter 2008/9 when, in the 
immediate aftermath of the credit crunch, CSC lost 9 per cent of the rent roll in two quarters 
by way of failures. The adept retailers have been successfully focusing on cost control to improve 
margins and returns.

As well as work on supply chains, several retailers have publicly initiated programmes to exit 
their “tail” of underperforming stores. This will challenge less successful locations, with potential 
for downward spiral, but is unlikely to harm the best cities and centres where other expanding 
retailers including international brands are competing for well-confi gured space in prime pitches.

Market review
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Successful retailers are seeking out the most cost eff ective access to their customers, be 
that through online or physical footfall, with the best located stores and integration of online 
and physical brands. Various techniques are being applied to drive traffi  c between the 
channels such as click and collect options and access to pods for in-store access to online 
ranges. Four of CSC’s centres have now launched mobile apps which provide shoppers 
with convenient access to centre and retailer information and special off ers. Several brands 
which started without stores have now added a physical presence to extend their reach – 
including, now in our centres, Simply Be and Amazon.

CSC’s position
The eff ect of this polarisation can be seen in the vacancy rates of diff erent retail property, 
with secondary shopping centres averaging over 15 per cent, town centre properties over 
10 per cent, the larger prime centres 8 per cent and CSC’s centres 3 per cent.

Vacancy rate, UK retail property by class

Secondary shopping centres

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011% units

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

16.0

18.0

20.0

Town centresBig shopping centres Smaller prime shopping centresCSC centres

To put this into context, of the UK’s total 1.4 billion sq. ft. of retail fl oor space, only 14 per cent 
is within shopping centres and less than 5 per cent is in the segments in which CSC specialises, 
the top 50 retail locations or in major out-of-town regional centres.

Source: PMA

Braehead
Located on the banks of the River Clyde, 
Braehead is a world class retail and leisure 
destination with the UK’s top retail names and 
successful international arrivals. With an impressive 
integrated leisure off er, Braehead’s catering options 
have been widened in 2011 by the successful 
introduction of three new restaurants on a former 
children’s ice rink. 

Aff ected by 19 tenant failures during the 2008/9 
recession, CSC’s team has developed the retailer 
mix, upsizing successful tenants such as Primark 
and H&M to new fl agship stores. With CSC’s 
strong relationships and proven record of delivery, 
Braehead’s compelling story attracted both 
Apple and Hollister during 2011. Other strong 
brands are following, demonstrating that Braehead 
is the region’s centre of choice. We are working 
with the local authority on a master plan which 
should lead over time to increased economic and 
social activity in the area.

 3%
CSC vacancy rate, compared to 14% national 
vacancy rate per Local Data Company
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Retail property investment market overview
As income yields appeared attractive relative to risk free investment returns, the UK property 
market has in 2011 seen good demand for prime assets and vendors reluctant to sell other 
than at robust levels. As a result, yields for prime assets such as CSC’s have remained stable 
to slightly tightening.

By comparison secondary retail property, a category in which none of CSC’s regional shopping 
centres would be classifi ed, has had more variable pricing. Yields have increased during 2011 
as purchasers allowed for their expectation of falling rents (see Market review), as the pool of 
potential lenders reduced by well publicised withdrawals from UK real estate lending and with 
the unresolved overhang of defaulted property in the hands of lenders.

Yield by retail sub class

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011%

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

Prime shopping centres Prime retail warehouses Prime high street shops Secondary shopping centres

CSC’s property valuation performance

Full year 
2011*

First half
2011

Second half
2011*

CSC like-for-like revaluation surplus 1.0% 1.2% –

IPD** capital growth 0.6% 1.1% -0.5%

CSC equivalent yield compression -14bp -11bp -8bp

IPD** equivalent yield compression -15bp -11bp -4bp

CSC change in ERV -2.2% -0.1% -2.2%

IPD** change in rental value index -0.9% -0.2% -0.6%

*  The Traff ord Centre is treated as like-for-like for the second half and for the full year (compares to 31 December 2010 
pro forma data)

** IPD monthly index, retail

Source: DTZ

Market values of CSC’s investment 
properties rose 1 per cent in 
the year, refl ecting continuing 
demand for prime assets

Investment property valuations

 +1.0%
Valuation surplus year ended 31 December 2011

6.0%
CSC weighted average nominal equivalent yield 
31 December 2011
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Market values of CSC’s investment properties rose by an average of 1.2 per cent in the fi rst 
half of 2011 and were steady in the second half, compared to IPD increasing 1.1 per cent and 
then falling 0.5 per cent.

Yields
CSC’s performance results from a slight tightening of equivalent yields, 11 basis points in the 
fi rst half and 8 basis points in the second half, and increases in passing rent partly off set by 
net reductions in ERV.

Comparison of CSC yield and 10 year gilt yield

1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011%

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

Weighted average nominal equivalent yield CSC Gilts 10 years IPD Monthly Index Retail

6.7%

6.0%

2.0%

At 5.98 per cent, CSC’s weighted average nominal equivalent yield has recovered 139 basis 
points from 7.37 per cent at the point where the market troughed in June 2009 and remains 
121 basis points above its level of 4.77 per cent at the peak of the market in June 2007.

Further, with continuing reductions in the yields available from investment grade bonds, the 
spread of CSC’s nominal equivalent yield over a medium-term gilt yield represents a historic 
high of 400 basis points as illustrated by the graph above, demonstrating the attractiveness 
of the income proposition.

ERV
ERVs are regularly adjusted to refl ect the impact of transactions and changing circumstances. 
The largest component of the ERV in the valuation calculation is the passing rent, with any step 
up to estimated market rent being discounted to match the timing of the relevant lease event.

CSC’s like-for-like ERV fell 2 per cent in the year, largely in the second half, bringing the total 
reduction from its peak to 8 per cent. The aggregated change in 2011 refl ects the impact 
of variable performance between centres and between areas within individual centres as 
commented on below.

Prime pitches tend to hold their own on the downside and lead the way in demonstrating 
growth in the recovery. Weaker areas of centres are inevitably more susceptible to tenant 
failures and are more diffi  cult to relet. There is greater churn, more availability and therefore 
more downward pressure on the rents achievable, the risk of which tends to be refl ected in 
a higher yield until leasing evidence supports a new ERV level.
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Lakeside
With 254 stores including 45 catering outlets, 
Lakeside’s retail off er is an ever-changing blend 
of national and international brands. During 2011 
we welcomed 16 new retailers, as part of 29 
new long-term lettings, including Boux Avenue, 
Jack n Jones, Love Coff ee and Panasonic. 
The opening in November of Topshop/TopMan’s 
new concept store was one of the more 
impressive of 52 retailer fi touts during the year. 
And Forever 21, an exciting US brand, will be 
opening a 35,000 fl agship store in late 2012, just 
their fourth in the UK. 

Located within the largest concentration of retail 
and leisure in Europe, Lakeside has continuously 
evolved over its 21 years. By supporting over 
9,000 jobs in the area, the centre makes a vital 
contribution to its community. And with a 
planning application submitted for a 325,000 sq. ft. 
extension including a new department store, 
30 to 40 new shops and restaurants, new public 
space and integrated transport hub, it remains 
uniquely positioned for the future.

 +5%
Increase in Lakeside net rental income in 2011

9,000
Number of jobs supported at Lakeside

Investment property valuations continued
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The interaction of yield and other valuation factors can be seen in second half valuation 
changes at some of the centres:

 Lakeside’s value increased by £10 million. The improved equivalent yield, down 6 basis points 
to 5.63 per cent, has more than off set a marginal reduction in ERV in secondary malls. 
Lettings in prime areas above the tone of £339 ITZA has not yet been refl ected in adjacent 
unit ERV

 Metrocentre’s value reduced by £10 million. Total ERV has reduced by 5 per cent. 
However, expectation of some disruption from the expiry profi le had been factored 
into the previous yield. Thus the ERV reduction is largely off set in the valuation by a 
12 basis points improvement in the equivalent yield refl ecting the reduced uncertainty 
following the progress made on lease expiries

 The value of The Harlequin, Watford reduced by £26 million, largely due to a 12 per cent 
reduction in prime headline Zone A rent to £250 ITZA refl ecting recent lettings

 The value of Manchester Arndale increased by £22 million. Following consistent lettings well 
above previous tone and a strengthening tenant mix, aggregate ERV has increased 1 per 
cent. Further, the equivalent yield improved by 23 basis points to 5.74 per cent

 The value of The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent reduced by £14 million. Its equivalent yield has 
increased 25 basis points to 7.50 per cent to refl ect the risks associated with a third of the 
rent roll due to expire in 2013. Also aggregate ERV has reduced by 3 per cent refl ecting 
recent lettings

 The Traff ord Centre’s value increased by £50 million, as improved tenant mix, including 
new fl agship store openings, has reinforced its position as a top prime centre. As such, 
the equivalent yield has contracted 10 basis points to 5.52 per cent

As illustrated by the chart below, there is signifi cant increment between the “topped up” 
net rent and the valuers’ assessment of the ERV. The impact on the valuation of the uplift is 
discounted for the time to the reversionary lease event and is subject to assumptions regarding 
the level of running voids, any re-letting period and the valuer’s expectation of incentives.

Aggregate estimated rental value (ERV)

“Topped up”
net rent

Rent reviews Lease expiry Vacancies Over rented ERV£m

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

382
+20

+41
+21

–15

449
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CSC aims to provide great 
retail and leisure experiences. 
This drives rental levels over 
the long term

Introduction
Two thirds of the UK’s population live within a 45 minute drive of a CSC shopping centre.

This scale and specialist approach gives CSC strong relationships with retailers, providing 
opportunities for both CSC and the retailers’ businesses to develop.

CSC’s objective is to create long-term and sustainable income growth to drive capital 
appreciation and hence attractive shareholder returns.

We made signifi cant progress on the three key objectives for 2011, namely:

 continued enhancement of our centres

 growth in like-for-like net rental income

 integration of the Traff ord Centre team and operations

We start 2012 with robust operating indicators.

Value creation through continued enhancement 
of CSC’s destinations
CSC aims to provide great retail and leisure experiences so that shoppers prefer to 
spend their time at one of our centres than on one of the many other activities competing 
for their attention.

By providing entertainment, a sense of theatre and catering outlets, as well as the full 
range of major brands, our centres have recorded some 320 million customer visits in 2011, 
almost a million a day.

Combined with the effi  cient delivery of facilities and operational services to retailers, 
CSC aims to create an environment in which the retailers’ brands can fl ourish. This drives 
rental levels over the long term and reduces the risk associated with tenant failures and 
lease expiries.

Four main aspects are central to CSC’s business proposition:

Tenant mix
 Retailers are highly aware of how their brand performs relative to competitors and 
complementary off ers. The right neighbouring stores guarantee a fl ow of potential 
customers and cut down risk when investing in a new location. CSC has been successful 
in attracting the brands customers most want to see – for example six centres now have 
both Apple and Hollister. 33 new brands have been introduced to CSC centres during 
2011 and 14 new names brought to Wales at St David’s, Cardiff 

Operating review

David Fischel
Chief Executive
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Catering
It’s no surprise that Jamie Oliver chose to open 
his fi rst restaurant in Wales, Jamie’s Italian, at 
St David’s. The centre has exceptional catering 
throughout – from “grab and go” off ers including 
YO! Sushi, Pret a Manger and Cadwaladers to 
restaurants such as TGI Friday, Café Rouge, 
Nando’s and Chimichanga’s. As well as giving 
our shoppers more reasons to visit and stay, 
the 31 outlets deliver a full 13% of St David’s’ 
rental income. 

But this is not unique in CSC’s portfolio, with 
The Traff ord Centre’s 60 restaurants plus in-store 
catering outlets providing 6,000 covers including 
the UK’s number one TGI Friday’s. Four of our 
centres now have a Carluccio’s and six a YO! Sushi. 
We have added new casual dining at Braehead, 
Newcastle and Norwich in 2011, with plans 
underway at Bromley, Metrocentre and 
Stoke-on-Trent. 

With this exceptional blend, it’s no wonder that 
our shoppers list food and drink as one of their 
top reasons for visiting. 

400
Outlets

 10%
Of rent roll now catering and leisure

 +25%
Increase in CSC’s catering rent roll in 2011
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Top quality centres
 As several retailers have publicly commented, not all stores contribute equally to their 
business. In focusing their investment on the stronger centres that attract the highest footfall, 
retailers get the most cost-eff ective and reliable access to potential customers. CSC’s footfall 
has continued rising over the last three years by contrast to UK retail footfall statistics 
published by Experian which have shown falls

Minimal new supply
 With minimal new supply of retail space at UK regional shopping centres, retailers 
requiring larger spaces for fl agship stores in the best locations are driving rental levels 
forward. Recent lettings of larger space at The Traff ord Centre have created new higher 
evidence for certain 2013 rent reviews. The competitive challenge for established shopping 
centres is to reinforce the superiority of their tenant mix, experience and service over other 
formats available to retailers and shoppers such as the traditional high street, retail parks, 
outlet centres, superstores and online shopping

New initiatives
 Retail is a dynamic sector, with shoppers and retailers attracted to locations where 
something fresh is happening. A continuing trend in 2011 has been improved catering, 
with a 25 per cent increase in CSC’s passing rent from catering operators and almost 
400 catering outlets now among CSC’s 2,500 units. Other projects are outlined below 
in Plans for major centres

Capital expenditure and active management
In positioning CSC for the future, four planning consents have been obtained during 2011 
and a further four have been submitted and are awaiting determination.

Capital expenditure of £77 million is committed or accrued and there are a variety of active 
management projects totalling around £120 million over the next three years. In aggregate 
we anticipate creating a stabilised initial yield on cost of around 10 per cent on these projects.

We have also acquired assets where they increase our strategic fl exibility:

 In November we bought Broadmarsh, the second shopping centre in Nottingham, 
for £73 million

 In two transactions since the year end which arose from our closer relationship with the 
Peel Group, we purchased for £4.7 million a 31 acre site adjacent to Braehead and obtained 
for €2.5 million an option over an approximately 60 acre site in Southern Spain with 
planning consent for a major regional shopping centre

Net rental income
Net rental income (NRI) of £364 million is 31 per cent above that of 2010 including 11 months 
of The Traff ord Centre. On a like-for-like basis, it has grown by 3.6 per cent for the year, 
with the majority of the relative increase being recorded in the fi rst half (up 6.1 per cent 
like-for-like) as the eff ect of leases signed in 2010 fl owed through.

Growth in like-for-like net rental income
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Operating review continued

 +3.3%
Compound annual growth in like-for-like net rental 
income 2001 to 2011
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Individual centres showing strong recovery include Lakeside, up 5 per cent, and Chapelfi eld, 
Norwich, up 10 per cent, due to improved occupancy levels and tenant mix. The extension 
to St David’s, now 95 per cent committed, contributed an extra £4 million. Conversely, 
fl exible deals in preparation for the planned extension at Victoria Centre, Nottingham, 
brought its NRI down by 9 per cent.

Year ended 
31 December 

2011
£m

Year ended 
31 December 

2010
£m

Gross rental income 432 350

Head rent payable (26) (24)

406 326

Net service charge expense and void rates (9) (10)

Bad debt and lease incentive write-off s (6) (5)

Property operating expense (27) (34)

Net rental income 364 277

The Group’s net rental income margin increased signifi cantly in the year as operating costs 
reduced while income grew following the Traff ord Centre acquisition and leasing activity 
at the existing centres. 

Property operating expense in 2011 includes £10 million of direct costs in respect 
of the Group’s car park operations and a £7 million contribution towards shopping 
centre marketing.

Occupancy
Occupancy remains high at 96.7 per cent (31 December 2010 – 97.7 per cent). The bulk of 
the decrease can be attributed to tenants representing around 1 per cent of rent entering 
administration in the fourth quarter, compared to none in the same period of 2010.

This brought the total of tenant failures for 2011 to 3 per cent of rent. The fi rst few weeks 
of 2012 have seen failures amounting to a further 2 per cent of rent, the majority of which 
are still trading.

Lettings
Notwithstanding the deterioration in the UK macro environment in the second half of 2011, 
steady progress has been made in securing new lettings. 198 long-term lettings have been 
completed in the year increasing the annual rent for those units by £11 million to £35 million 
in aggregate. Excluding partners’ interests, CSC’s share increased by £9 million to £29 million.

Lettings and ERV
The new rent on long-term lettings made during the year represented on average 96 per cent 
of ERV for those units, with upside potential beyond the base rent from turnover leases in the 
majority of CSC’s lettings.

New rent on leases signed in the fourth quarter represented 98 per cent of ERV.

Leases may be agreed below ERV for tenant mix enhancement, to retain fl exibility for 
a planned asset management initiative or for stabilisation of a particular area of a centre. 
For example the fourth quarter included three lettings at Victoria Centre, Nottingham, 
designed to build fl exibility in the run up to the proposed extension.

 +3.6%
Increase in like-for-like net rental income

 198
Long-term lettings

97%
Occupancy
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In all cases, the overall objective is long-term sustainable growth in net rental income.

This has been demonstrated by the asset management approach at Chapelfi eld, Norwich. 
Having been open for just three years before the downturn, the centre had 18 tenant 
failures out of 94 units during 2008 and 2009 including CSC’s only large format Borders store. 
A number of short-term leases were entered into for immediate stabilisation, particularly 
of areas which had yet to establish themselves within the new centre. With the objective of 
establishing Chapelfi eld as the new prime pitch of Norwich, in 2010 and 2011 a number of major 
brands were attracted to the centre at rental levels below ERV to establish the best retail and 
catering mix. This created the ideal environment to attract shoppers and other retailers, such 
that 2011 net rental income is up 10 per cent, passing rent up 5 per cent, footfall up 13 per cent, 
retailer sales up 9 per cent and the centre is 99 per cent let.

ERVs are adjusted at each valuation date to take account of market conditions; see Investment 
property valuations.

At 31 December 2011 CSC had 132 short-term leases in place which represented 1 per cent 
of passing rent, 2 per cent of space and 4 per cent of ERV (2010 – 2 per cent, 4 per cent and 
7 per cent respectively, excluding The Traff ord Centre).

Footfall
The number of customer visits to CSC centres increased by 2 per cent in 2011. The second 
quarter of the year showed the highest increase relative to the same period of 2010, followed 
by a fl at autumn but a good run in to Christmas.

Chapelfi eld, Norwich, up 13 per cent, and Manchester Arndale, up 7 per cent, have been 
consistently strong all year, as have Eldon Square, Newcastle, and St David’s, Cardiff , up 6 
and 5 per cent respectively in their second years after signifi cant extensions. Lakeside fi nished 
the year up 3 per cent, with a 2 per cent increase recorded in the fourth quarter. Some 
of the smaller centres recorded small negative fi gures in the diffi  cult environment including 
The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent, situated in a region whose economy has suff ered more 
than most.

Retailer sales
Retailer sales in CSC centres increased by an estimated 2 per cent in total, out-performing 
the national trend. The benchmark BRC non-food like-for-like index has indicated declines 
for the last fi ve quarters.

The estimated occupancy cost ratio (rent to retailer turnover) for the group including 
The Traff ord Centre and St David’s, Cardiff , is 13.2 per cent excluding anchor stores, compared 
to 13.7 per cent at 30 June 2011, continuing the recent slight downward trend as sales continue 
to progress ahead of rental increases.

Lease expiry profi le
CSC’s average lease maturity has increased slightly to 7.5 years (31 December 2010 pro forma 
– 7.3 years), largely due to the progress made on the signifi cant level of expiries due in 2011 
and 2012 at Metrocentre. Around two-thirds of these have now been settled or are in 
solicitors’ hands.

The chart sets out the forthcoming expiry profi le. There is a concentration of expiries in 2013 
at The Traff ord Centre, Cribbs Causeway and The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent. Our teams are 
pro-actively working with existing and new retailers to create a tenant mix which generates 
higher turnover for them and the rent levels that we want to achieve.

Operating review continued

Lease expiry profi le*
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* Proportion of passing rent expiring in each period.
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Plans for major centres
The Traff ord Centre (market value £1,700 million, planned expenditure £32 million): 
With signifi cant enhancements to tenant mix in 2011 including the fi rst Banana Republic 
store in the north of England and extended anchor stores for M&S and Debenhams, future 
development is focused on Barton Square. A planning application to enclose the courtyard 
has been approved and other tenant mix improvements are expected to follow.

Lakeside (market value £1,081 million, planned expenditure £17 million, plus potential extension 
£180 million): Successful new openings in the autumn include the 25,000 sq. ft. new concept 
Topshop/Topman fl agship store to be followed in late 2012 by Forever 21’s fourth UK store. 
A planning application was submitted in December for a 325,000 sq. ft. extension including 
a new department store, 30 to 40 new shops and restaurants and a new transport hub. 
Discussions are progressing with major retailers.

Metrocentre (market value £864 million, planned expenditure £12 million): A 15,000 sq. ft. 
terrace of restaurants, “MetrOasis”, is now pre-let to three catering operators with the fi nal 
unit in solicitors hands. Construction started last month and the development is expected to 
open in the autumn. This will further strengthen the ambience of the retail park and improve 
the connections between the main centre and the retail park.

Braehead (market value £583 million, planned expenditure £12 million): With Apple and 
Hollister plus a new restaurant cluster open and trading well, plans have been drawn up to 
improve impact and sight lines on the upper mall by increasing the height of shop fronts and 
moving escalators. We continue to work with the local authority on a master plan for the mix 
of uses in the broader Braehead area and, as part of these plans, have acquired an adjacent 
31 acre site, currently a working dock, with future development potential.

Nottingham (Victoria Centre market value £333 million, Broadmarsh market value £65 million): 
Nottingham ranks sixth in the UK in terms of available comparison shopping expenditure but 
has suff ered relative to other cities from a lack of modernisation of its shopping centre provision. 
Following the acquisition of Broadmarsh in the last quarter of 2011, we are optimistic about the 
city’s potential assuming a pragmatic approach by the local authority. We aim to bring forward 
proposals for complementary development to upgrade both centres and the city centre overall.

Newcastle (Eldon Square market value £256 million, planned expenditure £16 million): 
Following the three stage redevelopment from 2005 to 2010 culminating in the highly 
successful St Andrew’s Way Mall extension, we intend along with our local authority 
partner to reconfi gure some of the less modern areas with potential for rent enhancement.

Stoke-on-Trent (The Potteries market value £184 million, planned expenditure £14 million): 
A planning application for a 58,000 sq. ft. leisure and catering development has been approved. 
The leisure space is under off er to a cinema operator, with good indications of demand for the six 
restaurants. Construction is expected to start within the next 12 months for an opening in 2014.

Bromley (The Glades market value £174 million, planned expenditure £6 million): We are in the 
process of obtaining planning consent for a terrace of fi ve restaurants overlooking the adjacent 
gardens. We received 10 off ers from catering operators for the fi ve units and have comfortably 
exceeded the target rent for the project.

CSC working with retailers to deliver fl agship stores.
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Operating review continued 

International 
CSC holds 4.1 million shares directly in Equity One, a US retail REIT, and 11.4 million redeemable 
joint venture units convertible on a one-for-one basis into shares, as a result of the restructuring 
of our previous investment in Californian property which was completed in January 2011. 
This provides an eff ective 12 per cent interest in Equity One valued at £168 million based on 
the 31 December share price of $16.98. Its annualised dividend is $0.88 per share.

Equity One owns, develops and manages US neighbourhood shopping centres anchored by 
supermarket chains. It has had an active and constructive year with sales of non-core assets 
exceeding $700 million, including a $473 million portfolio of 36 centres sold in a single 
transaction, and has been recycling capital into high quality urban retail assets mainly in 
New York State and California. 

CSC’s interests in India comprise a 25 per cent interest in the shopping centre developer, Prozone, 
and 11.4 million shares (9.9 per cent) in the listed Indian retailer, Provogue, our joint venture partner 
in Prozone. Provogue has announced terms for the demerger of Prozone as a separately listed real 
estate company in 2012 which will result in approximately a 32 per cent interest for CSC. 

The economic and political uncertainties in India in 2011 led to both its currency and stock 
market producing some of the worst falls in global markets and the share price of Provogue, 
in common with many small market-capitalisation stocks, showed a material decline in the year. 
Improved sentiment as the rising interest rate cycle is considered to have peaked, helped by 
the relaxation of rules relating to foreign investment in Indian retailers and listed shares, has 
led to a signifi cant rise in the stock market and Provogue’s share price since the year end. 

Prozone’s fi rst shopping centre, Aurangabad, has recorded its fi rst full year of operations since 
opening in October 2010 with encouraging levels of trade at the hypermarket, other anchor stores 
and catering outlets. 

In 2012, work is expected to commence on three mixed-use projects in Indore, Coimbatore 
and Nagpur, to be funded locally. 

Prospects and priorities 
Our base case assumption is that the UK economy will continue to experience low growth 
for some time, with continuing risk of tenant failures and closures on expiry of leases. 

Our specialist skills and relationships enable us to manage those risks while identifying and 
developing those shopping centres which have the most potential to produce attractive returns 
over the medium to long term. 

We consider that CSC is well positioned to create value as the market recovers. 

Our strategic priorities for 2012 are:

 to optimise the performance of our existing assets, prioritising medium-term value creation

 to identify further initiatives and create the fi nancing fl exibility to advance CSC’s business 
and deliver incremental returns 

David Fischel
Chief Executive

23 February 2012
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Financing strategy and fi nancial management
In 2011 the Group’s fi nancial management has focused on achieving the successful integration 
of The Traff ord Centre and continuing to address the appropriate fi nancial management 
and medium-term funding structure for the Group. 

Key points of note in the year 
 Underlying earnings per share up by 7 per cent

 NAV per share at 391 pence; total return for the year 4 per cent 

 New £375 million 5 year Revolving Credit Facility completed in November 2011

 Debt to assets ratio remains in targeted range at 48 per cent

 Interest cover ratio increased to 1.71x above the target level of 1.6x

As previously indicated, the debt to assets ratio reduced to 48 per cent at the end of 
2010 and remains at this level at 31 December 2011. This is within the Group’s preferred 
40–50 per cent range. It is pleasing to note that in respect of our additional funding aim, 
to achieve interest cover greater than 1.6x, following an improvement in the year 
to 1.71x, this target has also been achieved.

Acquisition of The Trafford Centre and associated 
Capital Raising 
The Group successfully completed the acquisition of The Traff ord Centre on 28 January 2011. 
Details of the opening balance sheet and the contribution to the Group’s results are provided 
in note 40. The Income Statement includes the results of The Traff ord Centre for the period 
from 28 January 2011 to 31 December 2011.

As part of the acquisition in January 2011, Peel subscribed £43.7 million for 12.3 million 
ordinary shares and £23.7 million for convertible bonds with a nominal value of £26.7 million 
converting into 6.7 million ordinary shares at a conversion price of 400 pence, giving a total 
cash infl ow of £67.4 million. 

Acquisition of Broadmarsh
The Group completed the acquisition of Broadmarsh, Nottingham, on 1 December 2011 
for an initial cash consideration of £73 million. This initial consideration is subject to an 
adjustment based on the opening net assets position. It is anticipated that this adjustment will 
be fi nalised in the fi rst half of 2012. Details of the opening balance sheet and the contribution 
to the Group’s results for the year are provided in note 40. 

CSC has a robust capital 
structure underpinned by 
astute fi nancial management

 16.5p
Underlying earnings per share

 £375m
New 5 year Revolving Credit Facility

 1.71x
2011 interest cover

Financial review
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Financial review continued

Results for the year ended 31 December 2011
As has been widely reported, the general economic environment in the UK became increasingly 
challenging as 2011 progressed and it is therefore encouraging that the Group achieved a further 
year of growth in both like-for-like net rental income and underlying earnings per share, two of 
the Group’s key measures of performance. Property valuations have in aggregate been positive 
and overall there has been a small increase in adjusted net asset value per share.

Income statement 
The Group recorded a profi t for the period of £34 million, a reduction on the profi t of 
£529 million reported in the year ended 31 December 2010. The major factors in the 
fl uctuation from 2010’s result are valuation items. These comprised a lower level of property 
valuation gain and a higher non-cash charge arising from the change in fair value of the Group’s 
derivative fi nancial instruments. The derivatives are largely interest rate swaps used to hedge 
the interest rate payable on a signifi cant proportion of the Group’s fl oating rate borrowings.

The 2011 results include a £63 million gain on property valuations which is more than off set 
by a £193 million non-cash charge due to the movement in the fair value of derivative fi nancial 
instruments. In contrast, the 2010 results included a £497 million gain on property sales and 
valuations from continuing operations and a £50 million adverse movement in the fair value 
of derivative fi nancial instruments. 

The 2010 results also included a £83 million profi t, largely due to property valuation gains, from 
those businesses classifi ed as discontinued operations, namely Capco, which was demerged in 
May 2010, and C&C US, which was sold for shares and instruments convertible into shares 
in Equity One, a US retail REIT in January 2011.

As the fair value of the Traff ord Centre net assets acquired of £756 million exceeded the 
£703 million fair value of the consideration, based on the Group’s share price on 28 January 2011 
of 376 pence per share, negative goodwill of £53 million arose on the acquisition. There has 
been a £1 million reduction to the negative goodwill fi gure compared to that disclosed in the 
2011 Interim results mainly due to fi nalisation of certain taxation provisions. This negative 
goodwill is recorded in the Income Statement as a gain on acquisition of subsidiaries.

The disposal of the C&C US business that was completed in January 2011 resulted in a gain of 
£40 million before tax. The results for the year also includes an initial deferred tax provision 
of £14 million in respect of the investment in Equity One shares and joint venture units 
received as consideration, giving a net post-tax gain of £26 million on the combined impact 
of this transaction.

Exceptional costs in the period include fi nance costs of £48 million being largely interest rate 
swap amendment costs. Expenses relating to the two acquisitions completed in 2011, including 
fi nancial advice costs in relation to the Simon Property Group’s proposal, amounted to 
£21 million in the period. These costs are classifi ed as exceptional administration costs. 

The income statement includes two items arising from the Group’s interests in India. 
The £9.0 million share of associate income from Prozone, the shopping centre developer, 
is off set by the impairment of £8.7 million in the market value of the 9.9 per cent interest in 
Provogue, the listed Indian retailer, as the overall Indian stock market came under pressure.

Underlying earnings which excludes valuation and exceptional items, increased by £42 million 
to £139 million, as shown in the chart below. Taking into account additional shares issued as 
part of the Traff ord Centre acquisition, underlying earnings per share increased by 7 per cent 
to 16.5 pence. 

The Group’s net rental income which increased by 4 per cent on a like-for-like basis in the year 
benefi tted from the continued growth in income at St David’s, Cardiff , Lakeside and Chapelfi eld. 
More detail on the rental performance is included in the Business review.

Underlying net fi nance costs, which exclude exceptional items, increased by £35 million in 2011, 
with the benefi t of the interest rate swap amendments undertaken in January 2011 off setting 
the £42 million cost of the Traff ord Centre CMBS notes. 

Ongoing administration expenses, increased from £23 million in 2010 to £24 million in 2011 
wholly due to inclusion of The Traff ord Centre, illustrating the continued focus on tight control 
of administration costs.

 £139m
Underlying earnings
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Underlying earnings bridge 2010–2011

2010 Trafford Centre Net rental income Net finance costs Other 2011£m
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Further details on underlying earnings can be found in the Other information section of this report.

Balance sheet
The Group’s net assets attributable to equity shareholders have increased from the £2.3 billion 
disclosed in the 2010 annual report to £2.9 billion, with the increase largely resulting from the 
acquisition of The Traff ord Centre and the associated equity capital raised.

As detailed in the table below, net assets (diluted, adjusted) have increased by £816 million from 
31 December 2010 with the Traff ord Centre acquisition and the property valuation gain 
comprising the majority of the movement. 

31 December
2011

£m

31 December
2010

£m

Pro forma
31 December 

20101

£m

Investment, development and trading properties 6,903.7 5,076.5 6,718.9

Investments 203.7 45.2 218.6

Net external debt (3,374.2) (2,436.5) (3,188.6)

Other assets and liabilities (787.6) (539.2) (650.3)

C&C US net assets – 147.3 –

Net assets 2,945.6 2,293.3 3,098.6

Minority interest (23.5) (19.9) (19.9)

Attributable to equity shareholders 2,922.1 2,273.4 3,078.7

Fair value of derivatives (net of tax) 520.9 314.9 339.0

Other adjustments 45.9 88.7 55.5

Eff ect of dilution 3.8 – –

Net assets (diluted, adjusted) 3,492.7 2,677.0 3,473.2

Net external debt (3,374.2) (2,436.5) (3,188.6)

Debt to assets ratio 48% 48% 47%

NAV per share (diluted, adjusted) 391p 390p 390p

1 Pro forma balance sheet at 31 December 2010 illustrates the impact of the C&C US disposal and the acquisition 
 of The Traff ord Centre both having completed at 31 December 2010

The investments of £204 million as at 31 December 2011 comprise the Group’s interests 
in the US and India. The investment in the US comprises 4.1 million shares in Equity One, 
and 11.4 million shares in a joint venture with Equity One, that the Group received in exchange 
for its interest in C&C US. Based on the Equity One share price of $16.98 the Group’s 
investment has been valued at £168 million at 31 December 2011. The Equity One share price 
has increased to $19.81 as at 20 February 2012 increasing the value of the Group’s investment 
to £192 million.

The fair value provision for fi nancial derivatives, principally interest rate swaps, included in 
other assets and liabilities above, increased by £201 million as UK interest rates remained 
at exceptionally low levels.

 £3,493m
Net assets (diluted, adjusted)
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Financial review continued

Adjusted net assets per share
As illustrated in the chart below, diluted adjusted net assets per share were 391 pence at 
31 December 2011, an increase of 1 penny in the year. The increase is the net result of the 
property valuation gain and the retained profi t for the year being off set by the 15 pence per 
share of dividends paid in the year and the exceptional fi nance and administration costs. 

Adjusted net assets per share bridge 2010–2011
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Cash fl ow 
The cash fl ow summary below shows a net utilisation of cash in the year largely to fund the 
acquisition of Broadmarsh, Nottingham and the exceptional fi nance and other costs associated 
with the Traff ord acquisition.

2011
£m

2010
£m

Underlying operating cash generated 347.4 250.7

Net fi nance charges paid (201.4) (161.3)

Exceptional fi nance and other costs (68.7) (81.9)

Net movement in working capital (3.5) (8.3)

Taxation/REIT entry charge (41.1) (37.9)

Cash fl ow from operations 32.7 (38.7)

Property development/investments (26.9) (51.6)

Sale proceeds of property/investments 1.7 74.8

Other derivative fi nancial instruments (8.3) (26.2)

Acquisition of businesses (72.8) –

Cash acquired with businesses 37.6 –

Cash sold with businesses (20.3) –

Dividends (125.6) (102.2)

Cash fl ow before fi nancing and equity raises (181.9) (143.9)

Net debt repaid (36.8) (171.6)

Equity capital raised 68.4 222.4

Impact of discontinued operations – (248.7)

Other (4.1) 21.7

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (154.4) (320.1)

 391p
Net assets per share (diluted, adjusted) 
at 31 December 2011
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Investment in property related assets was mainly limited to existing commitments in the period, 
with the most signifi cant expenditure in the period being in respect of Lakeside (£5 million), 
St. David’s, Cardiff  (£4 million) and £3 million at each of Braehead, Eldon Square, Metrocentre 
and the Victoria Centre.

The cash acquired/sold with businesses relates to The Traff ord Centre and C&C US respectively. 

Net debt repayments of £37 million are discussed in the Debt structure section below. 

The table below illustrates that recurring cash fl ow covers the 2011 Interim dividend of 
5.0 pence per share that was paid in the year and the proposed fi nal dividend of 10.0 pence 
per share that if approved will be paid in 2012. 

Dividends – cash cover

Year ended 
31 December 2011

pence per share

Underlying operating cash generated 41.3

Net fi nance charges excluding exceptional items (24.0)

Convertible bond coupon (0.6)

Net movement in working capital (0.4)

Recurring cash fl ow 16.3

Dividends paid and proposed for 2011 15.0

Capital commitments
The Group has an aggregate cash commitment to capital projects of £77 million at 
31 December 2011, including amounts accrued on the Group’s balance sheet. In addition to the 
committed expenditure, the Group has an identifi ed project pipeline of around £120 million 
over the next three years. It is anticipated that approximately £90 million relating to capital 
projects, both committed and currently at the planning stage, will be incurred in 2012.

Financial position
At 31 December 2011, the Group had net external debt of £3,374 million, an increase of 
£185 million compared to the 31 December 2010 pro forma of £3,189 million. In addition to cash 
balances of £91 million the Group had undrawn facilities of £357 million at 31 December 2011, 
the £330 million undrawn element of the new revolving credit facility agreed in November 2011 
and £27 million on the St David’s, Cardiff , joint venture loan facility, giving total headroom 
of £448 million.

Debt structure 
The Group’s debt is largely arranged on an asset-specifi c basis, with limited or non-recourse 
from the borrowing entities to other Group companies. It is largely syndicated bank debt and 
CMBS structures with corporate-level debt limited to the revolving credit facility.

The revolving credit facility which was scheduled to mature in mid 2013 was refi nanced in 
November 2011 as a fi rst step towards a broader refi nancing of the Group’s asset specifi c debt. 
The revolving credit facility increased from £248 million to £375 million, whilst reducing the 
initial margin from 200 to 175 basis points. At the same time, a reduction in utilisation fee levels 
was also achieved. The refi nancing was delivered in a challenging market.

The table to the left shows that the value of maturities peaks in 2015–2017. Consideration 
is being given to replacing facilities early, although the associated one-off  costs remain high. 
However, this needs to be weighed against longer term rates currently being low.

The Group intends to continue with a diversifi ed funding structure, allowing opportunistic 
access to bank and bond markets, whilst minimising its cost of funds. Despite the current 
uncertain economic outlook, demand for sterling bond issuance backed by quality assets 
has remained strong.

 £448m
Headroom consisting of cash and available facilities 
at 31 December 2011
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Financial review continued

During the year net debt repayments of £37 million were made, the most signifi cant item being 
the repayment of the £81 million loan secured on Barton Square. An additional £56 million 
has been drawn on the St. David’s, Cardiff  joint venture loan facility, with the balance of the net 
repayment being due to scheduled debt amortisation payments. At year end the revolving credit 
facility was £45 million drawn, in part to fund the acquisition of the Broadmarsh centre.

Group debt ratios
31 December 

2011
31 December 

2010

Pro forma1 
31 December 

2010

Debt to assets 48% 48% 47%

Interest cover 1.71x 1.56x n/a

Weighted average debt maturity 7.0 years 5.8 years 8.0 years

Weighted average cost of gross debt 5.6% 5.7% 5.9%

Proportion of gross debt with interest 

rate protection 97% 94% 95%

1  The pro forma fi gures include the Traff ord Centre balances following the acquisition which was completed on 
28 January 2011

Hedging 
The majority of the Group’s debt is fl oating rate. The Group uses interest rate swaps to fi x 
short- and medium-term interest obligations, reducing cash fl ow volatility caused by changes 
in interest rates. The Group is currently eff ectively fully hedged.

The table below sets out the nominal amount and average rate of hedging, excluding lenders’ 
margins, in place under current and forward starting swap contracts.

In eff ect on or after
Nominal amount

£m

Average 
rate

%

1 year 2,914 4.45

2 years 2,946 4.55

5 years 1,196 4.41

10 years 688 4.77

15 years 681 4.78

20 years 619 4.77

25 years 125 4.57

As detailed in the 2011 Interim results, the Group has a number of forward starting interest 
rate swaps, which due to a change in lenders’ practice can no longer be used for hedging current 
or future anticipated borrowing needs. Using the 31 December 2011 forward interest rate 
yields, these swaps have a market value liability of £189 million. Based on these rates and 
values, it is estimated the Group will be required to make cash payments of £15 million in 2012. 
These payments will be reported as an exceptional fi nance charge and will impact NAV (diluted, 
adjusted) as incurred. 

48%
Debt to assets ratio
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Covenants
Full details of the loan fi nancial covenants are included in the Other information section of this 
report. The Group is in compliance with all of its corporate and asset-specifi c loan covenants. 
As detailed in that analysis, as a result of improved property valuations and rental income levels, 
the headroom over the minimum covenant levels has generally increased in the year.

Tax strategy and charge for the year 
Being a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) signifi cantly reduces the taxation costs of the Group, 
but brings with it the requirement to operate within the rules of the REIT regime. Since 2007, 
the Group has paid REIT entry charges of £184 million in respect of the original property 
portfolio and subsequent purchases with a further amount of £15 million to be paid in 2012. 
The Group must also meet certain REIT requirements and conditions, but doing so results in 
not having to pay tax on property income or gains on property sales, the fi nancial benefi ts of 
which to date amount to £200 million.

The Group’s approach to taxation is approved by the Board and is subject to regular review. 
The Group maintains an open, up-front and no-surprises policy in dealing with HMRC and as 
a result it is anticipated the Group will receive a “low risk” rating from HMRC once the recent 
major corporate transactions are fully absorbed into the Group. The Group seeks pre-clearance 
from HMRC in complex areas and actively engages in discussions on potential or proposed 
changes in the taxation system that might aff ect property tax and REIT legislation. 

The Group continues to pay tax on overseas earnings, any UK non-property income under 
the REIT rules, business rates, and transaction taxes including the REIT entry charge and stamp 
duty land tax. In the year ended 31 December 2011 the total of such payments to HMRC was 
£54 million. In addition, the Group also collects VAT, employment taxes and withholding tax 
on dividends for HMRC.

The tax expense in the period of £2.6 million comprises current tax on US investments of 
£0.3 million and deferred tax largely on the revaluation of interest rate swaps and investments 
of £2.3 million.

Matthew Roberts
Finance Director

23 February 2012
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But our centres are more than just retail destinations. They provide 
compelling places to shop, eat, drink and spend leisure time; and this 
brings communities together. They also drive economic development, 
creating jobs, stimulating growth and generating revenue for our retail 
partners and suppliers – locally, regionally, nationally and internationally.

As an owner and developer of prime shopping destinations, 
we understand the impact that we can have on the environment. 
CSC aspires to be a leader in environmental practices and 
measurement, regularly exceeding national and local regulations. 
We are aware that an increasing number of people who use our 
centres, including retail occupiers, expect nothing less than a strong 
commitment to environmental management.

We therefore continue to make signifi cant environmental effi  ciency 
improvements and benchmark our performance against external 
sustainability measures every year to ensure we are always 
one step ahead. Our commitment is based on a simple premise: 
environmental management saves CSC money, helps keep operating 
costs low for our tenants and protects our reputation, all of which 
is good for our business.

For us, corporate responsibility isn’t about marketing gloss or PR. 
It’s a practical and sustainable approach to doing business and making 
a diff erence at our centres. It fosters conversations with the people 
that matter, while generating value for communities through jobs 
and social cohesion, and for our investors and tenants through cost 
control and far-sighted risk management. It’s the CSC way.

CSC has been at the heart 
of many of Britain’s towns and 
cities for over 25 years. 
Some of our shopping centres, 
including Braehead and Lakeside, 
have led large-scale out-of-town 
regeneration

Benchmarks and accolades

Corporate responsibility
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Why does CR matter?
We operate a long-term business with the very best shopping centre assets in 
key UK locations. We recognise the indispensable importance of actively caring 
for the communities and the natural environment around us. Involving our employees, 
retail occupiers and community partners including charities, schools and local authorities 
in close engagement underscores our long-term embedded approach to ‘corporate 
responsibility’ as a key ingredient to promote sustainable operations, fruitful and 
meaningful community partnerships and business development. The case study on 
page 50 demonstrates our holistic approach to CR in action at The Glades, Bromley.

License to operate
Our centres cannot be developed or marketed without engagement with local stakeholders. 
Local authorities, town centre management bodies and business partnerships help our centres 
to become key economic players for their local community and, more widely, for regions of 
the UK. Our CR initiatives work to bring partnerships together, including CSC employees, 
and foster relationships which help drive effi  ciency in our daily business operations and 
contribute to achievement of our longer term business objectives (see business model 
and strategy page 18). 

Risk management
CSC’s CR actions are ultimately tied to issues highlighted in the risk register of our business. 
For instance, failure to handle hazardous waste from our shopping centre operations or 
to consider our energy procurement options can add costs to our business and harm the 
returns expected by our investors. Equally, forward-looking CR engagement can safeguard 
and enhance the reputation of CSC in the eyes of observers including investors, regulatory 
bodies and tenants.

Cost management
Our approach to environmental and facilities management underpins our broader desire 
to operate in an environmentally responsible manner. It also contributes substantial cost 
savings. Our centres continue to roll out leading technology solutions and supporting energy 
management plans to optimise effi  cient energy use and explore new ways to bear down on 
our energy demands and our corporate carbon footprint. CSC’s Carbon Alternative Review 
Group, drawing together diff erent segments of our business, monitors this work alongside 
active consideration of appropriate alternative energy products and procurement methods.

We provide 
people with the 
perfect shopping 
experience

Allowing us to 
establish enduring 
relationships 
with retailers

Which delivers 
long-term growth 
for CSC

And generates 
returns for 
shareholders 

Our approach to CR underpins our business model – by enhancing our relationships with 
communities and local authorities, managing risk and reducing costs.

CR governance
The CSC Board takes direct responsibility for determining policy and strategic direction 
on CR matters. Our broad strategic direction is disseminated through the CR Board 
Committee and progress against our operational objectives is delegated to the 
CR Management Committee.

Delivery of the agreed action plans, targets and objectives is the responsibility of executive 
management reporting to the CR Management Committee, as appropriate. Benchmarking 
against best practice, including GRI, FTSE4Good, Dow Jones Sustainability Indexes, Defra 
and the BitC Corporate Responsibility Index, ensures that we remain focused on current 
thinking in CR issues. Within this broader benchmarking we monitor the actions of our 
UK REIT competitors and engage with them via membership of trade bodies such as the 
British Property Federation. For more information on our CR governance arrangements, 
please visit our website.

2011 highlights

90% 
waste diversion from landfi ll 
across all directly managed centres

£2,132,000
total cash equivalent community support

6,597
hours spent on community engagement

6% 
reduction in Greenhouse gas emissions
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The Glades, Bromley – 
A 360 degree approach to CR
“When Bromley’s Environment Partnership was launched, 
The Glades was the fi rst partner to commit to funding a community 
project. The Penge Green Gym allows local residents to improve 
their health and the environment through a programme of activities 
designed to bring a local park back to life as a vital community 
resource. Without The Glades’ active and on-going commitment, 
this important initiative would not have happened. And because 
of it, people’s lives and the local environment have been enriched.”

Alastair Baillie, Environmental Development Manager, 
Bromley Council

The Glades are working with a number of the retailers in the 
centre to deliver CSC’s Retail Gold programme in association 
with the Bromley Education Business Partnership and Harris 
Academy Beckenham.

The centre has partnered with national charity Outward Bound 
and will do so again in 2012. Funding and support from the centre 
team has helped local young people take on challenges such 
as mountain trekking and water sports, culminating in a testing 
overnight expedition that requires maturity and teamwork.

2011 saw the launch of the Penge Green Gym created by an 
innovative partnership led by The Glades with Bromley Council 
and the charity BTCV. A derelict and unloved local park has 
already been transformed since the Gym started in May 2011 and 
The Glades team has been actively involved on site. The Green Gym 
is working to breathe life back into the green space by involving the 
local community in transforming the area. Through food growing, 
gardening and conservation activities Winsford Gardens will 
become a space for the enjoyment of local people and of value 
to wildlife. Volunteers have regularly been consulted on what they 
would like to see in the gardens and comments welcomed from 
members of the public.

The Glades has innovated in a number of areas of environmental 
management at the centre. A water bore hole supplies the 
needs of washrooms and other facilities and LED lighting is being 
installed to cut carbon emissions and costs. It seemed natural that 
The Glades should host the inaugural meeting of the Bromley 
Environmental Partnership and a number of projects of benefi t 
to the local community have been considered including The Glades’ 
own suggested Green Gym project.

Corporate responsibility continued
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The Harlequin creates 
‘sound:images’ for Watford
Between 20 June and 15 July 2011 the team at 
The Harlequin worked, for a second year running, 
with the dynamic creative arts charity Create. 
The project ‘sound:images’ brought together 
students from Breakspeare School (a community 
special school for pupils with severe learning 
diffi  culties), Parmiter’s School and St Michael’s 
Catholic High School in Watford. As a two-phase 
visual art and music project, ‘sound:images’ 
aimed to break down barriers, encourage shared 
experiences and understanding, and enable 
the students to develop their teamwork and 
leadership skills.

Communities and economic contribution

Why it matters
One of our primary aims is to provide shoppers with compelling retail destinations 
which we hope will leave a lasting impression. We strongly believe that the experience 
on off er in our shopping centres goes far beyond the retail, leisure and catering mix. 
Our shopping centres are at the heart of their communities. They provide places to 
meet, eat, drink and socialise. They also support local and national charities by providing 
space, investment and CSC staff  time. Community outreach therefore plays a vital 
role in helping make our centres part of the communities they serve. We aim to deliver 
community strategies that address fundamental issues in modern society which are 
important to the long-term success of our business. In particular, our joint projects 
focus on youth, education and the prevention of anti-social behaviour.

What we’re doing
 Working with 9 community partners across 8 CSC centres

 Sponsored The Big Sing at The Sage Gateshead for 2,594 children

 CSC Chairman’s Prize open to all directly managed centres

 In support of young people and acknowledging the high percentage of entrants to retail aged 
under 25, CSC has developed the Retail Gold project which currently operates at three 
of our centres. This successful programme is based upon a three-way partnership between 
CSC, our retailers and local Education Business Partnerships. Over 200 young people 
and 20 retailers have participated in Retail Gold to date

 Third CSC Green Gym launched by The Glades, in partnership with BTCV and 
Bromley Council. Joins existing Green Gyms promoted by Braehead and The Harlequin

How we’re performing
 £2,132,000 total cash equivalent community support

 6,597 hours spent on community engagement

 Operating as one of only 41 UK companies holding the BitC CommunityMark

 Staff  Recognition Fund fully subscribed in 2011

What we plan to do
 New partnerships with four charities

 Support BitC Ready for Work Scheme at several centres

 Staff  Recognition Fund increased to meet demand from CSC employees

Bromley Environmental Partnership
The Glades was a founder member of the 
Bromley Environmental Partnership set up by 
Bromley Council. Several initiatives are being 
developed under the partnership banner and 
The Glades own initiative, the Penge Green Gym, 
has been successfully launched.
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Corporate responsibility continued

Environmental effi ciency

Why it matters
We recognise that we have a responsibility to manage and minimise our impacts on 
the environment, as well as an opportunity to contribute positively to the creation 
of a more sustainable built environment. We’re working hard to improve our 
environmental effi  ciency in those operational areas where we have greatest control 
and this creates benefi ts for us and our retailers. We are also committed to designing 
new and refurbished buildings to high and exacting environmental standards.

What we’re doing
 Achieved good ranking in opening CRC Energy Effi  ciency Scheme league table

 Energy, carbon and water trends monitored and reviewed

 Energy Management Plans for all directly managed centres

 Commenced roll out of LED installations at centres

 Installing energy optimisation systems at centres

 Centre-based sustainable travel plans created

 Habitat management work undertaken at Lakeside (bat boxes, rare orchid conservation 
and land management)

How we’re performing
 8 directly managed centres now have 100 per cent diversion from landfi ll at end of 2011

 90 per cent diversion from landfi ll across all directly managed centres during 2011

 Chapelfi eld – Environmental Team of the Year SCEPTRE awards 2011

 6 per cent reduction in Greenhouse gas emissions

 Metrocentre became the fi rst location in the UK to have a public electric car fast 
charging point. Furthermore, CSC is a partner in six of the Government’s Plugged in 
Places programmes designed to increase electric vehicle use and required infrastructure

What we plan to do
 Carbon emissions – reduce by 30 per cent by the end of 2014

 Water – reduce consumption by 10 per cent by end of 2014

 Waste – reduce amount to landfi ll to less than 5 per cent by the end of 2014

 Complete roll out of LED installations at centres

Going Green at Chapelfi eld
All our centres are working hard to achieve 
excellent environmental management results. 
Chapelfi eld went one better and proudly scooped 
the award for Environmental Management Team 
of the Year at the 2011 SCEPTRE awards, which 
recognise best practice and people within the 
shopping centre industry.

The award was won by Chapelfi eld for its recycling 
strategy which has seen the centre more than 
treble its recycling fi gure since setting itself a target 
to increase recycled waste from 31.4 per cent 
to 95 per cent since 2006. The scheme now sees 
waste sorted at source and Chapelfi eld has slashed 
the amount of waste sent to landfi ll from 37 tonnes 
to just three tonnes a month.

Chapelfi eld has been an active member 
of the Norwich Carbon Reduction Trust 
since its foundation.
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People
Our employees are fundamental to the success of our business and to the delivery 
of a high quality service for our occupiers and shoppers. We are committed to 
providing a working environment which is stimulating and challenging, giving employees 
opportunities to reach both personal and professional goals whilst delivering business 
targets. We therefore maintain a comprehensive set of policies that continues to 
embody our approach to our employees and which provide the framework for the 
high standards of behaviour and values that we expect.

What we’re doing
 Staff  survey – company-wide Staff  Survey carried out in 2011

 Staff  Recognition Fund – expanded due to take up for 2012

 The Traff ord Centre – holder of Investor in People Gold Award

 Chairman’s CR Prize – now in third year

 Annual staff -wide CR presentation

 New staff  induction – CR module

How we’re performing
 Management retention 94 per cent 

 Staff  retention 88 per cent 

 Diversity statistics – Female employees 45 per cent Female managers 41 per cent

 There were no whistleblowing incidents

 4 H&S RIDDOR incidents aff ecting CSC people and contractors

Local authorities
Why it matters
Fostering strong working relationships with local authorities, town centre management 
bodies and other community business partnerships is vital to our centres’ continued 
success and in turn the economic impact we have on local communities and, more 
widely, regions of the UK.

What we’re doing
 Partner with Bromley Council and Watford Council re Green Gyms

 Partner with Norwich City Council re Norwich Carbon Reduction Trust

 Partner with Bromley Council in Bromley Environmental Partnership

 The Potteries supports Stoke-on-Trent City Council Safer Places Scheme

 Support for The Big Sing acknowledged by Gateshead Council and Newcastle City Council

 CSC support for town centre management forums and partnerships

CSC Retail Gold supports young 
people in the North East

Relationships

“I have found working at John Lewis to be an 
amazing experience. I’ve really enjoyed meeting so 
many new people and working as part of a team. 
This experience has given me a really good insight 
into the world of retail and I certainly appreciate 
the opportunity.”

Matthew Loftus
Gosforth Academy

Scan this code with one of the 
many available QR reader apps 
on your smartphone to access 
enriched content.
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Board of Directors

Patrick Burgess MBE
Chairman
Age 67      

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director of the Group in 
2001 and Chairman on 1 August 2008. 

Career: Patrick Burgess qualifi ed as a Solicitor 
in 1972 and became a partner in Gouldens 
in 1974, serving as head of the Corporate 
Department for 14 years and as Senior 
Partner for six, culminating with the merger 
of Gouldens with Jones Day in 2003, from 
which he retired in 2007. He has also been 
active in a number of charitable and 
community organisations.

Skills and experience: At Jones Day, 
Patrick specialised in mergers and acquisitions 
and corporate re-structuring. He also has 
considerable experience in compliance, 
regulatory and stock exchange matters. 

Other appointments: Non-Executive 
Director of Standard Bank PLC

Chairman of the Capital 
Projects Committee

Chairman of the Nomination and
Review Committee

Chairman of the Corporate 
Responsibility Committee

Matthew Roberts
Finance Director
Age 48      

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as 
Finance Director on 3 June 2010.

Career: Matthew Roberts was previously 
the Finance Director of Debenhams plc from 
1996 to 2003, and Chief Financial Offi  cer of 
Gala, subsequently Gala Coral Group Ltd, 
from 2004 to 2008.

Skills and experience: Matthew is a Fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales, and has gained signifi cant 
executive level fi nance experience in 
his previous positions at Debenhams plc, 
where he managed its 1998 IPO and ran its 
international business and property function, 
and at Gala where he led a number of 
acquisitions and fundraisings including the 
creation of a £3 billion debt package following 
the acquisition of Coral.

David Fischel
Chief Executive
Age 53      

Appointed to the Board: Appointed 
Finance Director in 1988, Managing Director 
in 1992 and Chief Executive in March 2001.

Career: David Fischel qualifi ed as a chartered 
accountant in 1983 at Touche Ross & Co 
before joining Capital Shopping Centres 
in 1985. 

Skills and experience: At Touche Ross, David 
worked in the corporate fi nance department 
with experience in acquisitions, fl otations and 
capital raisings. During his 27 year career with 
CSC, David has gained signifi cant executive 
experience in numerous aspects of the 
shopping centre industry including shopping 
centre acquisitions and developments. He has 
also been closely involved with the Group’s 
corporate development including equity and 
debt fi nancings and a wide range of other 
corporate transactions, including the 2010 
demerger of Capital & Counties from CSC.

Other appointments: Non-executive 
director of Equity One, Inc.

Chairman of the Executive Committee

John Whittaker
Deputy Chairman
Age 69     

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as 
Deputy Chairman and a Non-Executive 
Director on 28 January 2011.  

Career: John Whittaker is the Chairman of 
the Peel Group which he founded in 1971, and 
developed into a leading UK infrastructure, 
transport and real estate enterprise.

Skills and experience: John is a highly 
regarded real estate investor, and has 
overseen the growth of the Peel Group 
across many sectors such as land, real estate, 
ports, airports, renewable energy and 
media. John is an experienced property 
developer and business leader illustrated by 
projects such as The Traff ord Centre and 
MediacityUK. His appointment to the 
Board followed the acquisition by CSC 
of The Traff ord Centre from the Peel Group.

Other appointments: Chairman of the 
Peel Group and Non-Executive Director 
of Pinewood Shepperton plc.

Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Executive Directors

Committees: 
 Executive Committee
 Capital Projects Committee
 Audit Committee
 Remuneration Committee 
 Nomination and Review Committee
 Corporate Responsibility Committee
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John Abel
Age 67 

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director in 2010.

Career: John Abel commenced his career 
with CSC in 1972. Until his retirement in 
2005, John was Managing Director of CSC, 
and served as a Non-Executive Director from 
2005 until 2008 before being re-appointed to 
the Board following CSC’s demerger in 2010.

Skills and experience: John is a Chartered 
Surveyor and, through his career with the 
Group, has extensive and specifi c experience 
in the shopping centre industry, including 
in the acquisition and development of 
shopping centres.

Richard Gordon
Age 53 

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director in May 2010.  

Career: Richard Gordon previously served 
as a Non-Executive Director of Capital 
Shopping Centres PLC between 1996 and 
2006 and was appointed as an alternate 
Director in respect of Graeme Gordon’s 
directorship of the Group in 2001. He also 
served on the boards of a number of 
companies within the Liberty Life group and 
various companies within the commercial 
and residential real estate sector.

Skills and experience: In addition to 
representing the Gordon Family Interests 
on the Board, Richard also has signifi cant real 
estate experience having been involved with 
several commercial and residential real estate 
companies, mainly in South Africa.

Rob Rowley
Senior Independent Director
Age 62      

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director in 2004.  

Career: Rob Rowley joined Reuters Group 
plc in 1978, and served as Finance Director 
from 1990 to 2000. He has previously been 
Executive Deputy Chairman of Cable & 
Wireless plc, and a Non-Executive Director 
and Senior Independent Director of 
Prudential plc and Taylor Nelson Sofres.

Skills and experience: Rob Rowley is a qualifi ed 
accountant, has an MBA from Cranfi eld 
Business School, and has gained extensive 
fi nancial experience throughout his career. Rob 
also has wide Audit Committee experience 
having chaired the Audit Committee of 
Prudential plc, and currently chairing the 
Audit Committees of Taylor Wimpey plc 
and Moneysupermarket.com Group PLC. 

Other appointments: Non-Executive 
Director of Taylor Wimpey plc, and 
Moneysupermarket.com Group PLC.

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Neil Sachdev
Age 53      

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director in November 2006.  

Career: Neil Sachdev joined Tesco PLC 
in 1978, rising to the position of Property 
Director before joining J Sainsbury PLC as 
Commercial Director in March 2007. He was 
subsequently appointed Property Director 
of J Sainsbury PLC in June 2010.

Skills and experience: Neil Sachdev has an 
MBA from Stirling University and has gained 
signifi cant experience in both retail and 
property matters throughout his career.  

Other appointments: Chairman of the 
Institute of Grocery Distribution.

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Andrew Strang
Age 59    

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director on 8 July 2009.  

Career: Andrew Strang started his career 
with Richard Ellis 30 years ago. He served 
as Managing Director of Threadneedle 
Property Investments Limited for 17 years 
until January 2008. He was Chairman of 
Hermes Real Estate Investment Management 
from 2009 to 2011. He is a current member 
of the Norges Bank Investment Real Estate 
Advisory Board and a member of the 
Investment and Governance Committees 
at AEW UK.

Skills and experience: Andrew is a Chartered 
Surveyor and has substantially focused on 
property investment throughout his career. 

Other appointments: Director of 
the British Property Federation and a 
Non-Executive Director of Capital & 
Counties Properties PLC. 

Andrew Huntley
Age 73 

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director on 8 July 2009.  

Career: Andrew Huntley’s career 
commenced some 40 years ago with Richard 
Ellis where he served as Chairman from 1993 
until 2002. He was a Non-Executive Director 
of Pillar Property plc from 2000 to 2005.

Skills and experience: Andrew Huntley is a 
Chartered Surveyor and is one of the UK’s 
most experienced property advisers.

Other appointments: Non-Executive 
Chairman of Metric Property Investments 
PLC and a Non-Executive Director of 
Capital & Counties Properties PLC and 
Miller Group Limited.

Louise Patten
Age 58    

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director on 22 September 
2011.  

Career: Louise Patten began her career at 
Citibank, working mainly in retail fi nancial 
services until she joined global strategy 
advisers Bain & Company Inc in 1993 where 
since 1997 she has been a Senior Adviser.

Skills and experience: Louise Patten has 
extensive board level experience at a number 
of retail and property companies including as 
Chairman of Brixton plc and Interim 
Chairman of Somerfi eld plc, and Non-
Executive roles at Marks and Spencer plc, 
where she chaired the Remuneration 
Committee, GUS plc, Hilton Group plc 
and Harveys Furnishings plc.

Other appointments: Non-Executive 
director of UK Asset Resolution and of 
Control Risks Group.

Non-Executive-Directors

Ian Henderson CBE
Age 68     

Appointed to the Board: Appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director in 2005.

Career: Ian Henderson was appointed 
to the main board of Land Securities PLC 
in 1987 and served as its Chief Executive 
from 1997 to 2004.

Skills and experience: Ian is a Chartered 
Surveyor and has extensive executive level 
experience in property industry matters 
through his career at Land Securities and 
Board appointments at a variety of other 
property focused companies. In addition, 
Ian is a past President of the British 
Property Federation. 

Other appointments: Member of the 
President’s Committee of London First, a 
trustee of The Natural History Museum, a 
Council member of The Royal Albert Hall and 
Chairman of the Governors of the Dolphin 
Square Foundation. He is also Chairman of 
Ishaan Real Estate PLC, and a Non-Executive 
Director of Capital & Counties Properties 
PLC and Evans Management Limited.
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Mike Butterworth
Chief Operating Offi  cer 

Appointed as Chief Operating Offi  cer on 
3 October 2011. A Fellow of the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors, Mike joined 
the Manchester Ship Canal Company, now part 
of the Peel Group, in 1981, and became 
Property Director of Peel Holdings in 2002. He 
has extensive experience in the shopping 
centre industry having served as Managing 
Director of The Traff ord Centre Limited from 
1996, responsible for the opening of the centre 
in 1998, until 2011 when The Traff ord Centre 
was acquired by CSC.

Martin Ellis
Construction Director

Appointed as a Director of Capital Shopping 
Centres PLC on 1 October 2005. Initially joined 
the Group in 1990 and was appointed in 2008 
as Managing Director, Liberty International 
Construction and Development Limited. 
Following the demerger of the Capital & 
Counties business in May 2010, he reverted to 
being CSC’s Construction Director responsible 
for development and construction projects.

Hugh Ford
General Corporate Counsel

Appointed General Corporate Counsel to the 
Group in 2003. Previously he was General 
Manager Legal at Virgin Atlantic Airways, and 
before that a commercial lawyer with British 
Airways Plc. He qualifi ed as a solicitor in 1992 
with Freshfi elds.

Susan Marsden
Group Company Secretary

Joined the Group as Company Secretary 
in 2000. Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. 
Commenced her career at the London Stock 
Exchange, and has been Company Secretary of 
two FTSE real-estate sector companies prior to 
joining the Group.

Trevor Pereira
Commercial Director

Joined the Group in 2007 as Commercial 
Director, Capital Shopping Centres PLC. 
He was appointed Group Commerical 
Director in October 2011, responsible 
for Operations, Commercialisation and 
Marketing. Previously worked for airport group 
BAA plc for 21 years, latterly as Retail and 
Commercial Director for Heathrow Airport.

Peter Weir
Group Financial Controller

Joined the Group in October 2008 as Group 
Financial Controller. Previously worked in a 
number of fi nance roles in 
both listed and privately owned companies, 
lastly before joining the Group as Finance 
Director-Europe at Fidelity International. 
A member of ICAS.

*  Additional members of the Executive 
Committee are the Chief Executive 
(Chairman of the Committee) and the 
Finance Director, whose biographies are set 
out on page 54.

Executive management

Jonathan Ainsley 
Asset Management Director

Joined the Group in 2006 having previously 
worked for Hammerson, LaSalle Investment 
Management and Jones Lang LaSalle. 
Appointed Asset Management Director 
in 2009 with responsibility for Cardiff , 
Watford, Uxbridge, Bromley and Lakeside. 
He is a Member of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors.

Kate Bowyer 
Investor Relations Manager

Joined the Group in 2000 as Group Financial 
Controller and was appointed Investor 
Relations Manager in 2008. She qualifi ed as 
a Chartered Accountant with Coopers & 
Lybrand (now PricewaterhouseCoopers) 
in 1995, working in their Canadian and 
corporate fi nance practices.

Martin Breeden 
Asset Management Director

Joined the Group in 2002 and has worked 
on almost all of CSC’s assets at various times 
and in particular, was responsible for the 
delivery of the major development and 
investment programme at Eldon Square, 
Newcastle-upon-Tyne. Martin has over 
20 years’ experience in the retail property 
industry and has previously worked for 
MEPC and Jones Lang LaSalle, the latter 
including four years in Spain. He is a Fellow 
of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors and a member of the advisory 
panel of the British Council of Shopping 
Centres.

Amanda Campbell 
Head of PR and Communications

Joined the Group as Head of PR and 
Communications in February 2011. 
Previously held Head of Marketing and 
Communications positions with international 
and UK based large private companies.

Claire Combes 
Head of Risk and Internal Audit

Joined the Group as Head of Risk and 
Internal Audit in 2009. Qualifi ed as an ACA 
with Coopers & Lybrand in 1993 and now 
focuses on Risk and Audit. Previously held 
Head of Risk and Audit positions in three 
FTSE 100 and large private companies.

Gerard Conway 
Group Treasurer

Joined the Group in September 2011 as 
Group Treasurer. He has spent the majority 
of his career in private equity, initially for 
Morgan Grenfell Private Equity and more 
recently Candover Partners. Before 
joining CSC, Gerard was a member of the 
Shareholder Executive, managing a number 
of HM Government assets.

Charles Forrester 
Director of Project Management

Joined the Group in 2006 as a project 
manager, becoming a director of Liberty 
International Construction and 
Development in 2008. Following the 
demerger of the Capital & Counties 
business in May 2010, Charles was appointed 
Director of Project Management. He is a 
qualifi ed Chartered Surveyor and previously 
was a Partner in a cost consultancy and 
project management practice.

Gian Fulgoni 
Chief Information Systems Offi  cer

Joined the Group in October 2011 as 
Chief Information Systems Offi  cer. Before 
joining CSC, Gian was Chief Information 
Offi  cer for Lend Lease’s European and 
Middle Eastern businesses. Previously 
he has held senior roles at De Agostini, 
Teletext and Hays.

Gary Hoskins 
Head of Tax

Joined the Group in 2003. Qualifi ed as a 
Chartered Accountant with KPMG in 1997, 
working in their property taxation team. 
A member of the British Property 
Federation’s Taxation and VAT Committees.

Bernie Kingsley 
Head of Human Resources

Joined the Group as Head of Human 
Resources in March 2009. Previously he 
was Head of Employee Relations at BAA 
Airports Limited and has over 30 years’ 
experience in HR, leading the function in 
a range of companies in the manufacturing 
and service sectors.

Gordon McKinnon 
Director of Operations

Appointed as Director of Operations for 
the Group in October 2011. He joined 
the Group as Operations Director, CSC 
Traff ord in January 2011. Spent 20 years in 
various roles with Marks & Spencer before 
taking up an assignment with Manchester 
Millennium Limited, the task force rebuilding 
Manchester City Centre following the 
1996 IRA bomb. Subsequently appointed 
Chief Executive of Manchester City Centre 
Management Company Limited. He was 
appointed Director of Operations at 
The Traff ord Centre in 2004.

Alexander Nicoll 
Director of Corporate Responsibility

Joined the Group as Director of Corporate 
Responsibility in 2007. Previously Head 
of Internal Communications for the 
Church of England. Served in London 
local government for 16 years and was 
Lord Mayor of the City of Westminster 
during 2006–2007.

Julie Pears 
Director of Development

Joined the Group’s Development team 
in 2005, having qualifi ed as a Chartered 
Surveyor and spent 15 years specialising in 
retail agency and development consultancy. 
Former clients include Church 
Commissioners, Crown Estate, UBS, 
and Mercury Asset Management.

Joanne Skilton 
Director of Retail and Leasing

Joined the Group in November 2008. 
Previous roles include Retail and Leasing 
Director at McArthur Glen for the UK and 
European portfolio and Head of Retail at 
Heathrow Airport. Prior to joining CSC, 
Joanne managed her own consultancy 
business with several large clients including 
Luton Airport.

Julian Wilkinson 
Asset Management Director

Appointed as Asset Management Director 
in October 2011, with responsibility for 
The Traff ord Centre, Braehead, Arndale, 
Manchester and Cribbs Causeway, Bristol. 
He joined the Group as Property Director, 
CSC Traff ord in January 2011, responsible 
for investment and property management. 
He has held similar positions at Director 
level over the last 15 years as a retailer and 
landlord. He was appointed Director of 
Property at The Traff ord Centre in 2006.

Executive Committee*
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Annual Report 
and the audited fi nancial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2011.

Principal activities
During the period the principal activity of Capital Shopping Centres 
Group PLC (“CSC”) was that of an investment holding company 
incorporated in the United Kingdom whose business is the 
management of a portfolio of investments in the property sector 
predominantly, but not exclusively, in the United Kingdom. CSC has 
been a Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) since 1 January 2007.

CSC is a specialist developer, owner and manager of pre-eminent 
UK regional shopping centres.

Business review
The Chairman’s statement on pages 14 to 17, the Business review 
on pages 28 to 40, the Financial review on pages 41 to 47, the 
Key performance indicators on pages 22 and 23, and Key risks and 
uncertainties on pages 24 to 25 provide detailed information relating 
to the Group, the operation, development and future prospects 
of the business, the results and fi nancial position for the year ended 
31 December 2011 and the principal risks and uncertainties facing 
the Group. The Corporate responsibility review on pages 48 to 53 
contains information about environmental matters, the Group’s 
employees and social and community matters. The Financial review, 
accounting policies on pages 93 to 96 and note 34 on pages 111 to 
116 contain information on the use of fi nancial instruments.

Dividends
The Directors declared an interim ordinary dividend of 5.0 pence 
(2010 – 5.0 pence) per share on 2 August 2011, which was paid on 
22 November 2011, and have recommended a fi nal ordinary dividend 
of 10.0 pence per share (2010 – 10.0 pence). 

Share capital and control of the Company
Details of the Company’s share capital including changes during the 
year in the issued share capital and details of the rights attaching to 
the Company’s ordinary shares are set out in note 37 on page 117. 
Details of shares repurchased by the Company, held as treasury 
shares and subsequently transferred to the Company’s Employee 
Share Ownership Plan during 2011, are set out in note 39 on page 118. 
No shareholder holds securities carrying special rights with regards 
to control of the Company. Shares held by the Company’s Employee 
Share Ownership Plan rank pari passu with the shares in issue and 
have no special rights, but voting rights and rights of acceptance of 
any off er relating to the shares rest with the Plan’s Trustee and are 
not exercisable by the employees.

There are no restrictions on voting rights or any arrangements by 
which, with the Company’s co-operation, fi nancial rights are held by 
a person other than the shareholder, or any agreements between 
shareholders known to the Company which may result in restrictions 
on the transfer of shares or on voting rights. 

Under a £375 million Revolving Facility agreement dated 25 February 
2009 (as amended by amendment agreements dated 2 October 2009 
and 19 February 2010, and further amended and restated on 
18 November 2011) between, amongst others, the Company 
and HSBC Bank PLC (as Agent), on a change of control, if directed 
by a lender, the Agent may by notice to the Company cancel the 
commitment of that lender and declare the participation of that lender 
in all outstanding loans, together with accrued interest and all other 
amounts accrued and owing to that lender under the fi nance 
documents, immediately due and payable.

The Company is not party to any other signifi cant agreements that 
would take eff ect, alter or terminate following a change of control 
of the Company.

The Company does not have any agreements with any Executive 
Director or employee that would provide compensation for loss of 
offi  ce or employment resulting from a takeover except that provisions 
of the Company share schemes may cause options and awards 
outstanding under such schemes to vest on a takeover. The terms of 
appointment of the Non-Executive Directors provide for a payment 
equal to their basic annual fee in the event of change of control in 
recognition of the additional work involved in such an event.

Going concern
After making enquiries, the Directors have reasonable expectation 
that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason 
they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
fi nancial statements.

Shareholders’ attention is drawn to the Going concern disclosure 
contained in the Notes to the accounts on page 93.

Internal control
The statement on corporate governance on pages 60 to 71 includes 
the Board’s assessment following a review of internal controls and 
consideration of the 2005 Financial Reporting Council’s internal control 
guidance for Directors.

Directors’ report
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Directors
The Directors of CSC who held offi  ce during the year were as follows:

Chairman: 
D.P.H. Burgess

Deputy Chairman:
J. Whittaker (appointed 28 January 2011)

Executive: 
D.A. Fischel 
E.M.G. Roberts

Non-Executive: 
J.G. Abel 
R.M. Gordon 
I.J. Henderson 
A.J.M. Huntley 
Lady Patten (appointed 22 September 2011)
R.O. Rowley 
N. Sachdev 
A.D. Strang

Retired during the year: 
K.E. Chaldecott (resigned 30 September 2011)

Mr R.M. Gordon appointed Mr G.R. Fine as his alternate on 
7 May 2010.

Mr J. Whittaker appointed Mr S. Underwood as his alternate on 
22 February 2011.

In line with provision B.7.1 of the UK Corporate Governance Code, the 
Board has decided that all Directors shall be subject to re-election at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company 
has indemnifi ed the Directors to the full extent allowed by law. 
The Company maintains Directors’ and Offi  cers’ insurance which is 
reviewed annually. 

Additional information relating to the Directors can be found in note 
51 on pages 128 and 129 on Directors’ interests, in the Corporate 
governance report on pages 60 to 71, and in the Directors’ 
remuneration report on pages 72 to 83.

The powers of the Directors are determined by UK legislation and the 
Articles of Association of the Company, together with any specifi c 
authorities that may be given to the Directors by shareholders from 
time to time, such as the power to allot shares and the power to make 
market purchases of the Company’s shares which are described in 
note 37 on page 117. 

Articles of Association
The rules governing the appointment and replacement of Directors 
are contained in the Company’s Articles of Association. 

Changes to the Articles of Association must be approved by 
shareholders in accordance with the legislation in force from time 
to time.

Substantial shareholdings
As at 21 February 2012 CSC had been notifi ed of the following 
substantial holdings of voting rights over ordinary shares of CSC: 

 The Peel Group 172,416,817 (20.04 per cent)

 Coronation Asset Management (Pty) Limited 94,087,716 
(10.94 per cent)

 The family interests of Sir Donald Gordon 92,143,203 (10.71 per cent)

 Public Investment Corporation 35,565,906 (4.13 per cent)

 Simon Property Group, Inc. 35,355,794 (4.11 per cent) 

 BlackRock, Inc. 34,952,303 (4.06 per cent) 

 Sanlam Investment Management (Pty) Limited 34,419,008 
(4.00 per cent)

Employees
CSC actively encourages employee involvement and consultation 
and places emphasis on keeping its employees informed of the 
Company’s activities and fi nancial performance by such means as 
employee briefi ngs and publication to all staff  of relevant information 
and corporate announcements. In 2011, CSC conducted an all 
employee survey covering a range of topics to which 90 per cent 
of staff  responded.

The annual bonus arrangements help develop employees’ interest 
in the Company’s performance; full details of these arrangements 
are given in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 72 to 83. 
Note 48 on pages 125 to 127 contains details of conditional awards 
of shares under the annual bonus scheme and bonus shares currently 
outstanding, as well as outstanding options.

CSC operates a non-discriminatory employment policy and full and fair 
consideration is given to applications for employment from people with 
disabilities or other protected characteristics under the Equality Act 
where they have the appropriate skills and abilities and to the 
continued employment of staff  who become disabled.

CSC encourages the continuous development and training of its 
employees and the provision of equal opportunities for the training 
and career development of disabled employees and those with 
protected characteristics.

Information relating to employees is given in note 10 on page 98. 
The Group provides retirement benefi ts for the majority of its 
employees. Details of the Group pension arrangements are set out 
in note 49 on page 127.

Directors’ report continued
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The environment
The Group has adopted a Corporate Responsibility (“CR”) strategy 
and details of the policy and the Group’s aims and activities are given 
on the Company’s website. An overview of the Group’s CR activity is 
printed on pages 48 to 53, and a summary booklet is also available for 
download from the website or on request from the Company 
Secretary’s offi  ce. 

The Company recognises the importance of minimising the adverse 
impact on the environment of its operations – particularly through 
its shopping centre business and the management of energy, water 
consumption and waste recycling.

The Company strives continuously to improve its environmental 
performance. The environmental management system and associated 
Environmental Policy and Guide are regularly reviewed to ensure that 
the Company maintains its commitment to environmental matters.

Charitable donations
During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting 
to £332,000 (2010 – £223,000). In addition, the directly managed 
shopping centres provided the equivalent of £1,394,000 in support, 
including staff  time working in the community and the provision of free 
mall space and services. They facilitated a further £406,000 through 
collections by charities on the malls. The total cash equivalent 
community support for the year was £2,132,000 (2010 – £1,881,000). 
No political donations were made in the year. 

Creditor payment policy
The Group’s policy and practice is to pay creditors in accordance with 
agreed terms of business.

The Company does not ordinarily pay its creditors directly as this 
is carried out by other companies in the Group. As a result, the 
Company has a nil trade creditor balance and it is not practical to 
calculate creditor days for the Company as at 31 December 2011 
(2010 – nil trade creditor balance).

Directors’ disclosure of information 
to the auditors
So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the auditors are unaware and each Director has 
taken all reasonable steps to make himself or herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware 
of that information. 

Auditors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their 
willingness to continue in offi  ce and a resolution seeking to reappoint 
them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The notice convening the 2012 Annual General Meeting of the 
Company will be published separately and will be available on the 
Company’s website and distributed to those shareholders who have 
elected to receive hard copies of shareholder information.

By order of the Board

Susan Marsden 
Secretary

23 February 2012
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On behalf of the Board, I am setting out in this 
section of your company’s Annual Report our 
corporate governance report for 2011.

The introduction of a second large shareholder 
(Peel Group) with a seat on the Board occupied 
by its chairman, John Whittaker, has of course led 
us to review our procedures for addressing any 
confl ict of interest which might arise. A new 
formal protocol has been adopted for dealing 
with such occasions.

We have welcomed John Whittaker as our Deputy 
Chairman. His contributions to our Board proceedings 
have given us the benefi t of his valuable experience 
and creativity, across our entire business.

The principles set out in our protocol refl ect those 
applied in relation to the two recent transactions with 
the Peel Group; apart from speaking to the original 
proposal, John Whittaker recused himself from 
Board meetings when the transactions were discussed 
and took no part in the Board’s deliberations and 
assessment of the transactions.

The Nomination and Review Committee is aiming 
to reduce the overall size of the Board over the 
next two years. Ian Henderson is stepping down at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, and 
Rob Rowley and John Abel will step down at the 2013 
Annual General Meeting, all having completed their 

relevant terms of offi  ce. We will be using an executive 
search fi rm to help fi nd a prospective replacement 
Audit Committee Chairman in due course. In addition, 
Andrew Huntley’s term of offi  ce has been renewed 
for a two year period to expire at the 2014 Annual 
General Meeting and Andrew Strang’s term of offi  ce 
has been renewed for a three year period to expire at 
the 2015 Annual General Meeting. Both will be subject 
to annual re-election by shareholders.

The following report sets out our approach to 
corporate governance which is taken extremely 
seriously by the Board and is necessarily given a high 
priority in all Board matters. We have robust internal 
controls, procedures and measures which are 
frequently reviewed, updated and monitored.

We have enhanced the content of the report this 
year by including more information and explanation 
regarding the operation of the Board and its 
Committees, which I hope shareholders will fi nd 
interesting and informative.

Patrick Burgess
Chairman of the Board

Introduction by the Chairman of the Board

The disclosures required under DTR 7.2 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules are contained in this report, except for those required under DTR 7.2.6 which are contained in the 
Directors’ report.

Corporate governance
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Compliance Statement
The Company has, throughout the year ended 31 December 2011, 
complied with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code (the “Code”) except in the following respect:

For the period from 28 January 2011 to 22 September 2011 the 
Company did not comply with Code provision B.1.2 which states that 
at least half the Board, excluding the Chairman, should comprise 
Non-Executive Directors determined by the Board to be independent. 
Since the appointment of Lady Patten on 22 September 2011, this 
Code provision has been met.

For the period from 1 June 2011 to 22 September 2011 the Company 
did not comply with Code provision D.2.1 which states that the 
Remuneration Committee should comprise at least three independent 
Non-Executive Directors. Since the appointment of Lady Patten on 
22 September 2011, this Code provision has been met.

Further information on the above is given under the heading 
Board Changes in 2011 below.

The Board
Role and responsibilities
The Board’s overarching objective is to ensure that the Group delivers 
long-term sustainable returns for its shareholders.

The Board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders and other 
stakeholders for the good conduct of the Company’s aff airs and the 
information and statements set out below describe how the main 
principles contained in the Code are applied by the Company. 
The Company’s internal procedures are regularly reviewed and 
updated by the Board and the various relevant Board Committees.

The terms of reference which are the foundation of those procedures 
specify responsibilities and levels of responsibility. They cover all aspects 
of the Company’s activities including those relating to fi nancial, 
operational and compliance controls and risk management. The terms 
of reference for each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination and 
Review Committees described on pages 68 to 71 below are available 
on the Company’s website.

The Board believes that the internal processes adopted meet the 
highest standards of accountability and probity.

The Company has also demonstrated a strong commitment to high 
standards of corporate responsibility, details of which are set out 
in the CR review on pages 48 to 53, which we strongly recommend 
shareholders to read, and on the Company’s website. The Company 
has been included in the FTSE4Good listing, the JSE SRI index, the 
Dow Jones Sustainability Index and other important CR indices.

The Board discusses and makes decisions relating to, but not limited to:

 strategy

 executive management performance, retention, remuneration and 
succession

 fi nancial measures and performance

 acquisitions and disposals, other capital expenditure and controls

 risk management

 corporate reputation, including shareholder communication

 the Board’s own eff ectiveness

It also receives reports on the proceedings of its Committees and 
considers their recommendations. Each Board Committee’s established 
authority limits are reviewed on an annual basis by the Audit 
Committee and, subsequently, by the full Board.

Matters relating to corporate governance are kept under regular 
review by the Audit Committee as well as by the full Board. Matters 
relating to corporate responsibility are also kept under regular review 
by the CR Committee as well as by the Board.

Matters reserved for the Board
Certain matters have been reserved for decision by the whole Board 
and a schedule setting out a list of these is regularly reviewed. In other 
cases the Board has delegated its authority under clearly defi ned 
conditions to technical Committees of the Board. It has been the 
Board’s custom over many years to ensure that major decisions are 
taken after a reiterative process which involves examination and review 
at several levels. In part, this examination and review process is dealt 
with by the Board and other Committees mentioned below.

Structure of the Board
At the year end, the Board consisted of the Chairman, Mr Burgess, two 
Executive and nine Non-Executive Directors. 

The Executive Directors, supported by the Chief Operating Offi  cer 
and senior management, are responsible for the day-to-day operation 
and management of the Company. The Non-Executive Directors bring 
an external and independent view to the Board’s discussions, providing 
constructive challenge to executive management when appropriate.

Biographical details of each Director are set out on pages 54 and 55.

Board changes in 2011
As part of the arrangements relating to the acquisition of The Traff ord 
Centre from the Peel Group, which included the Peel Group becoming 
a major shareholder in the Company, Mr Whittaker (the Chairman of 
the Peel Group and therefore not independent under the provisions of 
the Code) was appointed as Deputy Chairman and a Non-Executive 
Director on 28 January 2011. 

Following Ian Henderson’s decision to step down as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee on 1 June 2011, the criteria applied to the 
search for an additional independent Non-Executive Director, to 
restore the balance of independent versus non-independent Directors 
required under provision B.1.2 of the Code, were extended to include 
the need for previous remuneration committee experience. Louise 
Patten, who has previously chaired the Remuneration Committee 
of Marks and Spencer plc, was appointed as an independent Non-
Executive Director and member of the Remuneration Committee on 
22 September 2011. CSC therefore complied with Code provisions 
B.1.2. and D.2.1 from the date of Louise Patten’s appointment.

Mrs Chaldecott resigned as a Director on 30 September 2011, 
following which the Board comprised a majority of independent 
Non-Executive Directors.
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Induction for new Directors
There is an induction programme for new Directors which typically involves meetings with the Chairman, Chief Executive and other Non-
Executive Directors. Additionally, new Directors are given the opportunity to meet key members of the senior management team and to attend 
site visits at certain of the Company’s shopping centres.

Where required, the Company Secretary provides guidance, or facilitates the provision of training, on Directors’ individual duties under the 
Companies Act 2006 and on legal, regulatory and governance matters with which the Company, Board and individual Directors 
must comply.

The Chairman
The Chairman’s role is to provide a centre point of leadership, to ensure that the Board’s discussions go into any matter put before it in adequate 
depth and in an appropriately focused way, that the opinions of all the Directors are taken into account and accorded proper weight, and that all 
the Board’s decisions are supported by adequate and timely information.

Mr Burgess was appointed as Chairman on a three year term in 2008. In May 2011 Mr Burgess’ appointment was extended for a further three year 
term to expire at the Company’s Annual General Meeting in 2014.

The principal business commitment of Mr Burgess is his Chairmanship of Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC.

The separate roles of the Chairman, Mr Burgess, and of the Chief Executive, Mr Fischel, are recognised and have been defi ned by the Board and 
their key responsibilities are set out in the following table:

The role of the Chairman The role of the Chief Executive

The Chairman’s chief responsibilities include:

 Chairing meetings of the Board, the Capital Projects Committee, 
the Corporate Responsibility Committee and the Nomination and 
Review Committee

 Leadership of the Board and ensuring its eff ectiveness on all aspects 
of its role and setting its agenda

 Working with the Chief Executive in carrying forward the strategy 
and objectives of the Group

 Ensuring the success of the Executive Directors through helping set 
goals and celebrating and reinforcing success

 Procuring the provision of accurate, timely and clear information to 
the Directors

 Ensuring eff ective communication with shareholders

 Evaluating regularly the performance of the Board and the 
Committees, and the Directors

 Facilitating the eff ective contribution of Non-Executive Directors 
and ensuring constructive relations between the Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors

 Securing the highest ethical dealings by the Group’s Directors 
and staff 

The Chief Executive’s key responsibilities include:

 To develop the Group’s strategic direction and promulgate 
proposals for consideration by the Board

 To implement the policies and strategies decided by the Board

 To manage the business in the most eff ective way possible

 To refer matters which exceed the authority of executives (under 
Group authority limits) for consideration and decision-taking by 
the Board

 To develop to the maximum potential the abilities and skills of 
the Group’s personnel, and liaise with the Board’s Remuneration 
Committee on appropriate Group remuneration levels and policy

 To develop and implement the Group’s public and investor relations 
programmes

 To demonstrate sound leadership qualities
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The Senior Independent Director
Mr Rowley was appointed as Senior Independent Director in September 2008. In this role, Mr Rowley provides advice and additional support 
and experience to the Chairman as required, and is available to act as an intermediary for the other Directors if necessary. Mr Rowley also leads 
the appraisal of the Chairman’s performance annually in discussion with the other Non-Executive Directors, and is available as an additional point 
of contact for shareholders should such shareholders feel that communication through the normal channels of the Chairman, Chief Executive, 
Secretariat or Investor Relations team has failed or is otherwise inappropriate.

Board meetings
There were six scheduled Board meetings in the year under review to consider all aspects of the Company’s aff airs and to review information 
requested from management. There was also a Directors’ Away Day to discuss plans and strategy for 2012.

There were four additional Board meetings in the year, necessarily convened at short notice to deal with matters arising between scheduled 
Board meetings. 

A summary of key matters discussed by the Board during 2011 is set out below:

Month Key points of discussion

January Simon Property Group approach and review of defence circular

Completion of the Traff ord Centre acquisition

Board and management structure post-Traff ord Centre completion

February Year end valuations, results and audit

Approval of Preliminary statement, Annual Report and Accounts and Notice of AGM

Performance evaluation results

Recommendation of fi nal dividend

Approval of Remuneration Committee recommendations on compensation

2011 strategic priorities

May Approval of Q1 Interim Management Statement

Update on strategy and opportunities

Scrip Dividend Alternative

Approval of the adoption of IFRS for all subsidiary company fi nancial statements

July Approval of Interim Results and dividend

Approval of Bribery Act anti-bribery procedures and policies

Debt fi nancing strategy

Strategy discussion

September Approval of appointment of Louise Patten

Management changes following the resignation of Kay Chaldecott

Discussion of potential transactions with the Peel Group (KGV (West) and Spain)

October Update on Revolving Credit Facility refi nancing

Approval of Interim Management statement

Scrip Dividend Alternative update

Audit Committee update on internal audit and risk management process

Remuneration Committee update

November Approval of the acquisition of Broadmarsh, Nottingham

Update on Revolving Credit Facility refi nancing

Annual Directors’ Away Day

December Update on proposed transactions with the Peel Group including review of draft circular to shareholders

Away Day debriefi ng

2012 Budget
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The attendance of Directors at all Board and Committee meetings held in 2011 is set out in the table below:

Board scheduled
(6 meetings)

Board 
non-scheduled 

(convened at 
short notice)
(4 meetings)

Audit Committee
(4 meetings)

Remuneration 
Committee
(4 meetings)

Nomination and 
Review Committee

(2 meetings)

Capital Projects 
Committee

(5 meetings)

Corporate 
Responsibility 

Board Committee
(3 meetings)

D.P.H. Burgess 6 4 2 5 3

D.A. Fischel 6 4 5 3

E.M.G. Roberts 6 4 5

K.E. Chaldecott1 5 2 3 2

J. Whittaker 6 3 5

J.G. Abel 6 4

R.M. Gordon 5 3

I.J. Henderson 5 4 2 2 3

A.J.M. Huntley 6 3

Lady Patten2 2 2 1

R.O. Rowley 6 4 4 4 2

N. Sachdev 6 3 4 4 1

A.D. Strang 6 3 4

1 Resigned as a Director on 30 September 2011
2 Appointed as a Non-Executive Director and member of the Remuneration Committee on 22 September 2011

Mr Whittaker appointed Mr S. Underwood as his alternate on 22 February 2011 and Mr R.M. Gordon appointed Mr G.R. Fine as his alternate on 
7 May 2010. The Board has generally invited the alternate Directors to attend Board meetings as observers.

Communication between Board meetings
Directors are kept fully informed of progress on matters between formal meetings by way of monthly scheduled updates by conference call, 
ad hoc meetings and other communications on a regular basis. There are a number of important Committee meetings between Board meetings 
and these are normally fully attended.

The Chairman and Executive Directors regularly contact the Non-Executive Directors to discuss specifi c matters, typically of a strategic nature. 
There are regular informal meetings with the Non-Executive Directors. The Chairman met the Non-Executive Directors during 2011 without the 
Executive Directors being present.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr Rowley, holds regular meetings with the Head of Risk and Internal Audit, to monitor and progress 
matters between scheduled Audit Committee meetings. Mr Rowley also meets the Chairman, Chief Executive and Finance Director between 
Board meetings.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Mr Sachdev, contacts the Chief Executive and the Company Secretary to progress remuneration 
matters between scheduled Remuneration Committee meetings.
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Non-Executive Directors
Independence 
The table below shows the balance on the Board between independent and non-independent Directors:

Independent in 
opinion of Board

Non-Independent 
in opinion of Board

D.A. Fischel (Executive Director) 

E.M.G. Roberts (Executive Director) 

J. Whittaker (major shareholder) 

J.G. Abel (former Executive Director) 

R.M. Gordon (major shareholder) 

I.J. Henderson 

A.J.M. Huntley 

Lady Patten 

R.O. Rowley 

N. Sachdev 

A.D. Strang 
Total  6 5

Time commitment 
Non-Executive Directors are generally appointed for a three-year period and their continuing service thereafter is subject to review by the Board. 
Their annual time commitment will vary according to their membership of Board Committees and the activities of the business in any given year. 
The terms of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors set out the minimum expectation of preparation for and attendance at all Board 
meetings, Board Committee meetings where appropriate, ad-hoc meetings and the annual Board ‘Away Day’. Non-Executive Directors are 
required to confi rm on accepting their appointment, and annually following each accounting year end, that they are able to allocate suffi  cient time 
to meet the expectations of the role. 

The terms of appointment for each of the Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at the Company’s registered offi  ce, or on written 
request from the Company Secretary.

Directors’ confl icts of interest
The Board has adopted a formal procedure for the identifi cation of confl icts under which Directors must notify the Chairman of any potential 
confl icts. The Chairman then decides whether a confl ict exists and recommends its authorisation by the Board where appropriate.

Upon his appointment, the Board noted that Mr Whittaker’s chairmanship of the Peel Group could lead to a potential confl ict of interest. 
Apart from speaking to the original proposal, Mr Whittaker recused himself from Board discussions relating to the potential transactions with the 
Peel Group. Other Directors have also declared their interests and potential areas of confl ict throughout the year and have where appropriate 
recused themselves from the Board’s discussions.

Alternate Directors are also required to declare potential confl icts of interest and would recuse themselves from the Board’s discussions in the 
event that such an interest was declared. They would also recuse themselves in the event that their appointing Director had declared a confl ict 
of interest.
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Board eff ectiveness
Balance, Composition and Culture 
As reported more fully below, the Nomination and Review 
Committee regularly reviews the balance (including skills and 
experience) and composition of the Board to ensure that it operates 
eff ectively. In line with the activities of the Group as a FTSE 100 
specialist developer, owner and manager of pre-eminent UK regional 
shopping centres, the Board has determined that candidates for the 
role of Non-Executive Director should have relevant qualifi cations and 
experience, notably in property, retail, fi nance and legal. These are well 
represented by the current Non-Executive Directors (see biographies 
on page 55).

The Chairman’s role is essential to the effi  cient operation of the 
Board which is achieved by creating an environment where the 
Non-Executive Directors are able to draw on their own experience 
and to constructively challenge the views of the executive 
management. The Chairman works closely with the Company 
Secretary to ensure that all Directors are provided with accurate and 
timely information to facilitate informed discussion at Board meetings. 
The Chairman is mindful that the views of all Directors should be taken 
into consideration during the Board’s discussions, and the range of 
experience of our Non-Executive Directors provides insight from 
many diff erent perspectives which contribute to the Board’s decisions 
on key strategic matters.

Education and development 
The Chairman, and the Nomination and Review Committee, consider 
the need for existing Directors to update and refresh their skills and 
knowledge as part of the annual performance evaluation exercise.

Training is provided for Non-Executive Directors in the form of 
presentations at Board meetings. In addition seminars and courses are 
specifi cally arranged on particular topics of relevance, for example on 
the proposed new planning policy guidelines. A programme of high 
level business-specifi c residential courses is being established for Senior 
Executives below Board level.

The Board also recognises the need for Directors to keep up to date 
with relevant legislative and regulatory developments as well as changes 
to corporate governance best practice and investor expectations. 
The Company Secretary reports to each scheduled Board meeting 
on these matters, drawing to the attention of the Board any issues 
of particular relevance. In addition, the Company Secretary maintains 
a full matrix of legislative and regulatory developments relevant to 
the Company which is made available to members of the Board 
on request.

Performance evaluation 
Every year, the Board conducts an evaluation of its own performance 
and of the performance of the Chairman and each of the Board 
Committees. In 2010, the performance evaluation was carried out 
by an external consultant, Independent Audit Limited, and the Board 
intends to use an external facilitator at least every three years in 

accordance with provision B.6.2 of the Code. The 2011 performance 
evaluation was carried out internally by way of detailed questionnaires 
and analysis of responses and comments. Further details relating to the 
2011 performance evaluation are set out under “Nomination and 
Review Committee” below.

Shareholder engagement
The Company seeks to engage with shareholders through investor 
meetings and announcements as well as at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting. The Company has a comprehensive website on 
which up-to-date information is available to the public. 

The Company has a strong investor relations programme. The Chief 
Executive and Finance Director, and on occasions the Chairman, meet 
major shareholders and analysts each year (a) to discuss the results 
of the Group, (b) to learn of any concerns that may have arisen and 
(c) (within the appropriate constraints) to respond to any queries they 
may have. Visits are arranged for investors to tour the Company’s 
property portfolio.

The Senior Independent Director and all Non-Executive Directors are 
invited to attend investor presentations following the release of the 
annual results. A number of the Non-Executive Directors attended the 
annual results presentation in February 2011.

The Annual General Meeting provides the Board with an opportunity 
to communicate with, and answer questions from, private and 
institutional shareholders and the entire Board is available before 
and after the meeting. The Chairman of each of the Audit and 
Remuneration Committees is also available at the Annual General 
Meeting to answer questions.

The Chief Executive, Finance Director and Investor Relations Manager 
maintain fi le notes of all meetings with investors and provide a full 
briefi ng to the Board. Investor relations, and reports from the 
Company’s brokers on meetings with investors, are a regular agenda 
item at Board meetings.

Risk management and internal control
It is the Board’s responsibility to oversee the Group’s system of internal 
control and to keep its eff ectiveness under review, as well as to 
determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in 
achieving its strategic objectives. The system is designed to manage, 
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives 
and can provide only a reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. 

The Board has established an ongoing process for identifying, 
evaluating and managing the signifi cant risks of the Group, fi nancial and 
non-fi nancial, and this has been in place throughout the year ended 
31 December 2011 and up to the date of approval of the Annual 
Report and Accounts. The process is regularly reviewed by the Board 
and it complies with the 2005 Financial Reporting Council’s internal 
control guidance for Directors.
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Procedures are in place to ensure that if any weaknesses or failings are 
identifi ed in the risk review process, appropriate remedial action is 
taken. No signifi cant weaknesses were identifi ed in 2011.

The Group has a risk and internal audit function. The Head of Risk and 
Internal Audit reports to the Audit Committee and, in addition, has 
regular meetings with the Chairman of that Committee.

The Board regularly receives detailed reports setting out key 
performance and business risks from the executive management 
together with fi nancial reports. Monitoring of key indicators allows the 
Board to consider control issues. The Board receives regular reports 
through the Audit Committee from the risk and internal audit function, 
which may include recommendations for improvement.

The risk and internal audit function carries out an annual review of 
internal controls, which includes a Group-wide certifi cation that 
eff ective internal controls are in place and are being operated 
eff ectively. The Head of Risk and Internal Audit carries out a 
programme of verifi cation of the certifi cation and reports the 
results to the Audit Committee.

The Bribery Act 2010
The Bribery Act 2010 came into force on 1 July 2011, and the Board 
took the opportunity to update and reissue the Group’s Business Code 
of Practice, Code of Professional Conduct and Whistleblowing policy 
to all employees and to reiterate the Company’s zero tolerance 
approach to acts of bribery or corruption. In addition, procedures 
were implemented to ensure that the approach to anti-bribery and 
anti-corruption of all agents, associates, contractors, and other 
organisations that the Company may have a business relationship with, 
is consistent with the approach adopted by the Company.

Senior management and other staff  received training on the new 
policies and measures introduced as a result of the Bribery Act, and 
a monitoring and review procedure has been set up to ensure that 
the Company’s anti-bribery procedures are kept under review and 
updated if necessary.

Internal fi nancial reporting
Key internal fi nancial reporting procedures, which exist within the 
wider system of control, are described under the following headings:

Financial information 
The Group has a comprehensive system for reporting fi nancial results 
to the Board; detailed regular fi nancial reports with comparisons 
against budget are provided to the Board. The Board reviews these for 
the Group as a whole and takes action when appropriate.

Financial reporting process 
The Group undertakes a detailed fi nancial reporting process on a 
quarterly basis. This process is carried out using the policies and 
practices that apply to the control environment on an ongoing basis, 
and is largely undertaken by the Group’s fi nancial reporting team, 
which comprises appropriately qualifi ed fi nance professionals. Detailed 

planning is undertaken prior to the period end. As part of this process, 
signifi cant business risks and their potential impact on the fi nancial 
reporting process and results are considered, including the eff ect of any 
changes in the business activities or accounting standards and matters 
arising from the underlying information systems. The preparation of 
the consolidated fi nancial results involves a number of review stages. 
One of these stages includes a technical accounting review by an 
internal technical specialist, who has primary responsibility for ensuring 
that fi nancial accounting developments are appropriately dealt with in 
the Group’s fi nancial reporting process. After various internal review 
stages, draft fi nancial reports, with narrative commentary on new 
technical requirements or issues requiring a signifi cant level of 
judgement, are prepared for review and approval by the Audit 
Committee. This review stage involves the Audit Committee discussing 
the consolidated fi nancial results and signifi cant judgements with senior 
management and where appropriate the external auditor.

Major investments 
All major investments of the Group, whether in the ordinary course of 
business or of an exceptional nature, are reviewed by at least one 
Committee and by the Board itself before being authorised and 
implemented.

Group treasury 
The Group has a centralised treasury function which reports to the 
Board on a regular basis. The reports provide details of counterparties, 
interest rate and foreign exchange risks and derivatives. Additional 
information on this subject is given in note 34 on pages 111 to 116.

Financial controls 
Key controls over major fi nancial risks include reviews against 
performance indicators and exception reporting. Members of the 
executive management make regular assessments of their own 
department’s exposure to major fi nancial risks and the extent to which 
these risks are controlled. These assessments are considered and 
reviewed by the Board and by regular internal audit visits.

The Board has conducted a review of the eff ectiveness, on the basis of 
criteria set out in the 2005 Financial Reporting Council’s internal 
control guidance for Directors, of systems of internal fi nancial control 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 and has confi rmed that there 
have been no material developments aff ecting their review which have 
taken place since the year end.

Board authority limits 
The Board has adopted formal authority limits throughout the Group. 
Projects or expenditure with a value in excess of £5 million are 
submitted for approval to the Board. There are also authority limits in 
place which relate to treasury management.

Going concern
The Company’s statement on going concern is set out in the notes to 
the accounts on page 93.
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The Audit Committee
Composition
The members of the Audit Committee at 31 December 2011 were Mr Rowley (Chairman of the Committee), Mr Sachdev and Mr Strang.

The Board considers that Mr Rowley, as a qualifi ed accountant with considerable experience as a previous audit committee chairman, has 
signifi cant recent and relevant fi nancial experience in line with the Code. All the current members are independent in the Board’s opinion.

The Group’s Chairman, Chief Executive, Finance Director, Head of Risk and Internal Audit and representatives of the external auditors are 
normally invited to attend meetings.

Responsibilities
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing:

 the integrity of the fi nancial statements, including a review of the signifi cant fi nancial reporting judgements and accounting policies

 the eff ectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management

 the eff ectiveness of the internal audit function, including the work programme undertaken by the function

 the Group’s policy on whistleblowing

 the Group’s overall approach to monitoring areas of risk

 the Company’s relationship with the external auditor, including its independence

The Audit Committee makes recommendations on the appointment, reappointment or removal of the Company’s external auditors.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are reviewed annually.

The Audit Committee met four times in the year. The key activities of the Audit Committee in 2011 are set out in the table below:

Month Key points of discussion

February  Review of Risk and Internal Audit Report
 Adoption of Audit Charter
 Confi rmation of eff ectiveness and independence of Risk and Internal Audit team
 Review of year end results and preliminary statement
 Review of independence of external auditors and recommendation for reappointment
 Corporate Governance review and approval of changes to terms of reference
 Approval of Group CR report
 Meeting with the external auditor

May  Update on progress against Audit Plan
 Update on the Traff ord Centre integration risk review
 Approval of Q1 Interim Management Statement
 Meeting with the external auditor

July  Review of Risk and Internal Audit Report including revised internal audit plan
 Bribery Act procedures update
 Business continuity procedures update
 Review of Interim Results
 Review of external Audit Report and Audit fees
 Meeting with the external auditor

October  Review of key control issues
 Review of accounting standard updates
 Approval of accounting policies for 2011 Annual Report
 Review of progress against 2011 Risk and Internal Audit Plan
 Review of Internal Audit Plan 2012–2015
 Risk management update
 Approval of Q3 Interim Management Statement
 Approval of 2012 Audit Plan
 Review of best practice procedure for related party transactions
 Meeting with Head of Risk and Internal Audit
 Meeting with the external auditor
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External auditor
The Audit Committee assessed the eff ectiveness of the external 
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, and audit process on 
the basis of meetings with fi nance, internal audit staff  and other 
Senior Executives.

In reviewing the independence of the external auditor, the Audit 
Committee considered a number of factors, including the experience 
and tenure of the external auditor; the nature and level of services 
provided by the external auditor; and confi rmation from the external 
auditor that it has remained in compliance with relevant UK 
independence standards.

Following this review process the Audit Committee recommended to 
the Board that the external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, be 
reappointed. Acting on this recommendation the Board recommended 
to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting in 2011 that the 
external auditor be reappointed for a period of one year. 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP introduced a new audit partner 
to the Company in 2011.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has been the Company’s audit fi rm 
since 1998. The Audit Committee has assessed and is satisfi ed with 
the auditor’s overall eff ectiveness. Accordingly, it has not considered 
it necessary to require the fi rm to tender for the audit work. 
Any decision to open the external audit to tender is taken on 
recommendation of the Audit Committee. The position will be 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. The external auditors are required to 
rotate the audit partner responsible for the Group and subsidiary 
audits. As noted in the 2010 Corporate Governance report, the 
previous audit partner, Parwinder Purewal, served an additional year as 
audit partner given the signifi cant changes to the Group following the 
demerger of Capital & Counties Properties PLC and resulting Board 
changes. Mr Purewal rotated off  the Group’s audit following the 
conclusion of the 31 December 2010 audits, and a new audit partner, 
Alison Morris, is responsible for the Group and subsidiary audits for the 
year ended 31 December 2011. 

Non-audit services 
The Company has a policy to ensure that the provision of non-audit 
services does not impair the external auditor’s independence or 
objectivity. The term “non-audit services” does not include reference 
to any advice on tax. The Audit Committee has delegated to the 
Executive Directors the authority to contract for non-audit services 
with the external auditor subject to observing the following guidelines:

(a)  Executive Directors have the authority to commission the external 
auditors to undertake non-audit work where this is in relation to a 
specifi c project with a cost not exceeding the lower of £50,000 or 
15 per cent of the estimated annual level of the auditor’s fees for 
the time being. If the cost is likely to exceed the limits mentioned 
above, the agreement of the Chairman of the Audit Committee is 
required before the work is commissioned

(b)  when the external auditor is considered for the provision of 
non-audit work, the Executive Directors must consider whether 
the proposed arrangements will maintain audit independence 

(c)  the external auditor must certify to the Company that it is acting 
independently and the Audit Committee or the commissioning 
Director (as applicable) must be satisfi ed that such is the case 

(d)  in providing a non-audit service, the external auditor should not:

(i) audit their own work

(ii) make management decisions

(iii) create a mutuality of interest

(iv)  fi nd they have placed themselves in the role of advocate for 
the Company

Details of the amounts paid to the external auditor for audit and 
non-audit services are included in note 11 on page 98 to the fi nancial 
statements. The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
to carry out detailed fi nancial due-diligence and work required for 
the shareholder circular in respect of the acquisition of The Traff ord 
Centre, which resulted in the proportion of “non-audit” work carried 
out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in 2011 being 71.4 per cent 
of the total fees paid. The above safeguards were adhered to for the 
non-audit services provided in relation to The Traff ord Centre, and the 
Audit Committee concluded that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s 
independence would not be impinged by undertaking the work.

Whistleblowing policy
The Audit Committee reviews the arrangements by which staff  
of the Company may, in confi dence, raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting or other matters, and 
ensures that arrangements are in place for the proportionate and 
independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate 
follow-up action. Any whistleblowing incidents would be reported to 
each Audit Committee meeting. There were no incidents in 2011.

Rob Rowley
Chairman of the Audit Committee

23 February 2012
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The Nomination and Review Committee
Composition
The members of the Nomination and Review Committee during the 
year under review were Mr Burgess (Chairman of the Committee), 
Mr Henderson, Mr Rowley and Mr Sachdev. The latter was appointed 
to the Committee on 1 June 2011.

There were two formal meetings of the Nomination and Review 
Committee in 2011.

The terms of reference of the Nomination and Review Committee are 
reviewed annually. No changes to the terms were made in 2011.

Responsibilities
The principal role of the Nomination and Review Committee is to 
evaluate the skills available on the Board and to determine when 
appointments and retirements are appropriate. 

The Committee is responsible for carrying out the annual performance 
evaluation of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors, as 
well as making recommendations to the Board on appointments to the 
Board and on succession planning.

Diversity
The Nomination and Review Committee, and the Board, recognises 
the importance of boardroom diversity, not just gender specifi c, and 
the Committee seeks to ensure that all available suitable candidates 
are taken into account when considering possible appointments to 
the Board. However, the priority of the Committee and the Board is 
to ensure that the Group continues to have the strongest and most 
eff ective Board possible, therefore all appointments will continue to be 
made on merit in accordance with the provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.

The Board has noted the recommendations of the Davies Report 
“Women on Boards” and intends to achieve a minimum of 25 per cent 
female representation by 2015.

Appointment of Louise Patten as a Non-Executive Director
The appointment of Louise Patten as a Non-Executive Director 
was recommended to the Board by the Nomination and Review 
Committee. A fi rm of head-hunters, Korn/Ferry Whitehead Mann, 
was engaged to identify suitable candidates to be considered for 
appointment as an independent Non-Executive Director based on 
specifi c criteria identifi ed by the Committee including previous board 
level experience in the property and retail sectors, and previous 
experience of serving on a remuneration committee. A shortlist of 
candidates was drawn up all of whom were interviewed by the 
Nomination and Review Committee and by members of the Board. 
Following such interviews, the Committee was unanimous in its 
recommendation to appoint Louise Patten whose skills and experience, 
notably her previous chairmanship of Brixton plc and non-executive 
directorship of Marks and Spencer plc where she chaired the 
remuneration committee, were considered to fi t comfortably with the 
requirements identifi ed at the outset of the recruitment process.

Succession planning
The Committee also regularly reviews the skills and experience of the 
Non-Executive members of the Board and their unexpired terms of 
offi  ce. The dates of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are 
set out in the table below:

Director Date of appointment

John Whittaker 28/01/2011

John Abel 02/06/2010

Richard Gordon 07/05/2010

Ian Henderson 07/02/2005

Andrew Huntley 08/07/2009

Louise Patten 22/09/2011

Rob Rowley 17/05/2004

Neil Sachdev 01/11/2006

Andrew Strang 08/07/2009

Following a review in 2011, the Committee recommended a reduction 
in the overall size of the Board over the next two to three years in 
order to improve its eff ectiveness whilst maintaining an appropriate 
balance of skills, experience and independence. Ian Henderson will 
be stepping down as a Non-Executive Director at the 2012 Annual 
General Meeting and will not therefore be seeking re-election. Ian will 
not be replaced. Both John Abel and Rob Rowley have indicated their 
intention to step down at the 2013 Annual General Meeting, and 
a search using a specialist fi rm of head-hunters for a prospective 
replacement Chairman of the Audit Committee will be undertaken 
later in the year.

The Nomination and Review Committee has determined that the 
balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board and on the 
Board Committees is satisfactory and is expected to continue to be so 
following the changes referred to above.

Renewal of Non-Executive appointments
At the 2012 Annual General Meeting, Lady Patten will stand to be 
elected for the fi rst time; Mr Henderson will not be seeking re-
election; and all remaining Directors will submit themselves for annual 
re-election.

Performance evaluation
As noted above, the Nomination and Review Committee carried out a 
comprehensive performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees 
and individual Directors during 2011 by way of detailed questionnaires 
followed by discussion, the results of which were considered early in 
2012 by the members of the Nomination and Review Committee, the 
Board, and the relevant Board Committees. In addition, the Senior 
Independent Director in conjunction with the other Directors carried 
out the annual evaluation of the Chairman’s performance.
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The responses to all questions relating to the performance of the 
Board and its Committees, and of the Chairman, were generally highly 
positive. There were no signifi cant issues arising from the review, 
however the Committees conclusions were as follows:

Summary of 2011 evaluation outcome
Areas identifi ed as performing well
 Responses to problems/crises

 Sound system of internal control

 Response of management to requests for information

Areas identifi ed for focus in 2012
 Use of the AGM and Annual Report to communicate more 

eff ectively with shareholders

 Reduction in overall board size over 2–3 years

 Increased focus on strategy and forward planning

The Board has taken note of these points and will monitor progress 
throughout 2012.

Patrick Burgess
Chairman

23 February 2012

The Remuneration Committee
Composition
The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year under 
review were Mr Henderson (Chairman of the Committee until 1 June 
2011), Mr Sachdev (Chairman of the Committee from 1 June 2011), 
Mr Rowley and Lady Patten. The latter was appointed to the 
Committee on 22 September 2011. 

There were four meetings of the Remuneration Committee in 2011.

Responsibilities
The Committee’s primary responsibilities are to determine the 
remuneration policy and terms and conditions of service applying 
to Executive Directors and Senior Executives of the Group and the 
provision of incentivisation and performance related benefi ts.

The Directors’ remuneration report which sets out full details of the 
Committee’s responsibilities, the Group’s remuneration policy and 
details of remuneration in 2011 is set out on pages 72 to 83.

In addition to the above Committees of the Board, the following 
also meet: 

Capital Projects Committee
The Capital Projects Committee was re-established in 2011 in 
order to review new projects and project expenditure in detail 
and, as appropriate, comment on certain projects for the Board. 
The Committee has no power to approve proposals or to authorise 
expenditure. The members of the Capital Projects Committee 
(which met fi ve times during the year under review) are Mr Burgess 
(Chairman), Mr Whittaker, Mr Fischel, Mr Roberts, Mr Butterworth 
and Mr Ellis, with other Directors and executives invited to attend from 
time to time.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee meets every fortnight to consider 
investment proposals, to review progress on projects and project 
expenditure in detail and to receive updates on other business matters. 
The Committee has powers, within limits, to authorise initiatives and 
to authorise expenditure. The members of the Executive Committee 
are Mr Fischel (Chairman), Mr Roberts, Mr Butterworth, Mr Pereira, 
Mr Ellis, Mr Ford, Mr Weir and Mrs Marsden.

Corporate Responsibility Committee
The Group’s strong commitment to high standards of Corporate 
Responsibility is the responsibility of the Chairman and the Board 
and is managed through a CR Committee. The members of the 
CR Committee are Mr Burgess (Chairman of the Committee), 
Mr Fischel, Mr Henderson, Mr Nicoll (Director of CR) and 
Mr Dalton (CR Executive).

There were three CR Committee meetings during 2011.

The CR review is set out on pages 48 to 53.
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Dear Shareholder, 

As the new Remuneration Committee Chairman, 
I am pleased to present CSC’s 2011 Directors’ 
remuneration report to you.

This report sets out the remuneration policy for 
the Executive and Non-Executive Directors of 
CSC, describes the individual remuneration of the 
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2011 
and in particular, how remuneration is linked to 
performance. In response to feedback from 
shareholders and the UK Government’s recent 
announcement on increasing the transparency of 
Executive Director remuneration, you will see we 
have made a number of enhancements to the 
content and format of this report.

The Remuneration Committee is keen to ensure 
CSC’s remuneration policy and arrangements 
appropriately align its experienced management 
team with shareholders’ long-term interests. Last 
year, shareholders expressed two concerns: fi rstly, 
that exceptional option awards had been made 
two years in a row and secondly, that the option 
performance target is an ‘all-or-nothing’ hurdle 
rather than a sliding scale.

Both concerns have been addressed this year with an 
explanation given for the previous exceptional awards 
on page 78, and normal option awards of 2 x salary 
being granted this year. In addition, we have 

introduced a sliding scale for the performance target 
for 2012 onwards, with a 3 year EPS growth range 
of between 4 and 6 per cent per annum, rather than 
the previous hurdle of growth of 5 per cent per 
annum – for full details see page 78.

Further the Committee will carry out a root-and-
branch review of remuneration policy in 2012, 
with the aim of implementing any changes in 2013. 
The objectives of this review are to ensure CSC 
remuneration appropriately:

 aligns executive and shareholder interests

 supports attraction, motivation, and retention 
of high calibre executives

 provides value for shareholders by rewarding 
executives primarily for results

 aligns with best practice

 is simple and eff ective

This report will be put to the shareholder vote at our 
AGM in April 2012 and we look forward to receiving 
your views and support.

Neil Sachdev
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

23 February 2012

Directors’ remuneration report

This report is produced in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008. The Company has also followed the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2010 (the ‘Code’). This report contains both auditable and non-auditable 
information. The information subject to audit is set out in the Directors’ emoluments and Executive Directors’ share awards sections on pages 79 and 83 respectively.
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How CSC strategy is refl ected in CSC remuneration 
Our incentive arrangements are designed to reward performance on our Key Performance Indicators of:

 Total shareholder return

 Total fi nancial return, i.e. growth in NAV per share plus dividends

 Income performance, i.e. growth in adjusted EPS

 Prime property assets, i.e. total property return relative to the IPD

 Like-for-like growth in net rental income

 Occupancy 

Our aim is to focus management on delivering sustainable long-term performance and support the retention of critical talent. In addition, we take 
account of the remuneration and conditions of all employees when considering decisions on executive remuneration. We noted recent press 
reports which indicated that CSC has the lowest ratio of CEO remuneration to lowest paid employee in the FTSE 100. 

The following table summarises total pay earned by the CEO and the FD during 2011:

Annual bonus outcome

Salary

Pension
and car

allowance Cash bonus Deferred shares
Total
2011 

Total
2010 

D.A. Fischel CEO  £490,000 £165,000 £99,000 £519,750 £1,273,750 £1,348,000

E.M.G. Roberts FD  £361,250 £104,700 £73,000 £383,250 £922,200 £560,479

How total pay outcomes compare to performance 
In determining Executive Director pay, the Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) reviews remuneration received and the Company’s 
performance relative to the other FTSE 200 property REITs. In addition, the Committee reviews potential remuneration for performance, as 
illustrated in chart 1 below:

Chart 1: CSC CEO potential pay

Pay for Target performance is calculated as salary plus target 
bonus plus threshold vesting on long-term incentives

Pay for Stretch performance is calculated as salary plus 
maximum bonus plus maximum vesting on long-term incentives

Compiled by Kepler Associates
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Change in base salary in 2012
Each year, the Committee reviews base salary levels in the context of total remuneration levels and factors including performance in the role, 
experience and market positioning of pay. Following its review, the Committee determined to increase base salary levels in 2012 by around 
5 per cent for the CEO and around 9.6 per cent for the FD. This increases Executive Director salary levels to between lower quartile and median 
for FTSE 200 Property REITs. The average individual increase across the Group was 4.3 per cent.

Change to executive incentives in 2012
Following a review of CSC incentive arrangements and feedback from shareholders, the Committee has determined to make awards in 2012 in 
line with the normal Scheme limit of 200 per cent of salary and move to a sliding scale with targets calibrated to be appropriately stretching but 
achievable at the start of each cycle.
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The principal responsibilities of the Committee, which take full account of the recommendations contained within the Code, include:

 Determining the remuneration policy for the Company’s Executive Directors and Senior Executives

 Determining individual remuneration packages for the Chairman, Executive Directors and Senior Executives

 Setting appropriately stretching and achievable targets for the Company’s incentive schemes in order to motivate executives to deliver high 
levels of performance in the interests of our shareholders, customers and employees

 Overseeing any signifi cant changes to remuneration policy for the wider employee population

The full duties and responsibilities are set out in the terms of reference of the Committee which can be found at: 
www.capital-shopping-centres.co.uk/about/corporate_governance/.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent Non-Executive Directors. During the year, Ian Henderson stepped 
down as Remuneration Committee Chairman, and was succeeded by Neil Sachdev. The other members of the Committee are Rob Rowley and 
Lady Patten. Rob Rowley and Neil Sachdev served on the Remuneration Committee throughout the year, whilst Lady Patten was appointed on 
22 September 2011. 

The Chairman, Chief Executive, and Company Secretary are invited to attend Committee meetings to help the Committee in its deliberations. 
However, no individual is present when his or her remuneration is being discussed.

The Committee received advice from Kepler Associates, a fi rm of independent remuneration consultants. During the year, Kepler Associates 
provided advice on market trends, incentive design and other remuneration matters. Kepler Associates does not provide any other services to the 
Company. The Committee also makes use of various published surveys to help determine appropriate remuneration levels.

The Committee has also appointed and been advised by Norton Rose LLP during the year on various remuneration matters. Norton Rose does 
not advise the Company on any other matters.

The key activities undertaken by the Committee during 2011

The Remuneration Committee met four times in 2011. The Committee followed its scheduled timetable with meetings in February, May, 
September and October, covering:

 Executive Director salaries

 Performance outcomes for the annual bonus

 Option grants to senior executives

 The Chairman’s terms of appointment

 The Directors’ remuneration report

 Preparation for the AGM

 Remuneration policy for 2012

In addition, the Committee considered the implications of management changes across the Group.

Remuneration policy 
The Company’s Remuneration policy aims to attract, motivate and retain high calibre executives by rewarding them appropriately with competitive 
compensation and benefi t packages. 

The policy aligns directly the interests of Executive Directors and senior staff  with the performance of the Company and the interests of its 
shareholders. In summary, the key objectives of the policy are to:

 Align executive and shareholder interests

 Attract, motivate and retain high calibre executives, i.e. link a signifi cant proportion of Executive Director and Senior Executive total 
remuneration to the performance of CSC, whilst ensuring levels of fi xed remuneration are appropriately competitive

 Provide value for money for shareholders by rewarding executives primarily for results

 Comply with best practice or otherwise explain any divergence

 Be simple yet eff ective

The Remuneration Committee reviews the policy on an ongoing basis to ensure it remains appropriate for the Company.

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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Element Policy Structure
Changes 
in 2012

Base salary To provide an appropriately 
competitive level of base pay with 
due regard to the size and nature 
of the responsibilities of each role, 
as well as to the executive’s 
experience.

Reviewed annually with eff ect from 1 April. 

Short-term 
incentive

To align annual reward with annual 
performance to support retention 
and alignment with shareholders’ 
interests through signifi cant 
deferral of bonus shares.

CSC operates a short-term incentive arrangement with a maximum 
individual opportunity set by the Remuneration Committee each year 
for Executive Directors (150 per cent of salary in 2011).

Performance measures and respective weightings for 2011 awards are 
set out on page 77.

The vast majority of any signifi cant short-term incentive is deferred in 
CSC shares, vesting subject to continued employment.

Note that as part of the remuneration review to be carried out in 
2012, the Committee will consider whether the bonus arrangements 
remain appropriate.

Long-term 
incentive

To reward good long-term 
decisions which help improve 
the share price over a three to 
10-year horizon and support the 
retention of critical executives.

Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS)
Market value share option grants of up to 200 per cent of salary (up to 
400 per cent of salary in exceptional circumstances). The options vest subject 
to three-year EPS growth and option holders then have seven years in which 
to exercise their options.

Awards may be off ered through a Joint Ownership Structure which 
requires executives to make an upfront contribution to acquire an interest 
in CSC shares.



Pension To help provide for an appropriate 
retirement benefi t.

Company contributions to an approved arrangement of 24 per cent of salary. 
Individuals can elect to take some/all as a cash supplement. The CEO receives 
an additional 6 per cent of salary in recognition of the additional value of the 
benefi t foregone on the closure of the defi ned benefi t scheme. This amount 
was actuarially determined to be cost-neutral to the Company.
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2011 Executive Director total remuneration mix 
Chart 2 below shows the mix between fi xed and variable pay for Executive Directors in 2011 as a proportion of the overall package. 

Chart 2: CSC CEO pay mix for... 

Fixed pay Variable pay

…Target performance …Stretch performance

Base salary
Salaries of Executive Directors and other staff  are reviewed annually in the light of competitive market practice, including reference to comparable 
data of other companies of a similar size and companies in the Real Estate sector. When determining executive remuneration, the Committee 
takes careful account of pay and employment conditions in the Company as a whole.

The current salaries for Executive Directors are set out below, and will be increased with eff ect from 1 April 2012 as indicated in the table below:

Executive Director
2011 salary 

£
2012 salary 

£ % increase

David Fischel £495,000 £520,000 5.1%

Matthew Roberts £365,000 £400,000 9.6%

Directors’ remuneration report continued
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Short-term incentive
Performance measures
In 2011, the performance measures for the short-term incentive were weighted as illustrated by the following diagram:

 

Growth in adjusted EPS (22%)
Relative Property Capital Return 
(vs. IPD Retail Index) (22%)
Growth in NAV per share plus dividends (22%)
Strategic and Operational Objectives (34%)

Performance against each of the measures for the 2011 short-term incentive arrangements is summarised below:

Performance element
2011 

performance

Remuneration 
Committee 
assessment

Growth in NAV per share + dividends reinvested +3.9% Below target

Relative Property Capital Return +1.0% Above target

Growth in EPS +7.1% Above target

Strategic and Operational Objectives*

*  The Committee considered that performance during the year against Strategic and Operational Objectives exceeded expectations and noted 
the following achievements in particular:

 Strong operational performance against key metrics 

 Like-for-like growth in net rental income of 3.6 per cent 

 Footfall growth of 2 per cent 

 High occupancy at 97 per cent (2010 – 98 per cent)

 Successful integration and management re-organisation of The Traff ord Centre

 Successful acquisition of Broadmarsh Shopping Centre, Nottingham

 Progress with active management projects/extensions

 Securing a new £375 million revolving credit facility
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Individual short-term incentive outcomes
A participant’s bonus is also based on the CEO’s/Remuneration Committee’s assessment of their individual contribution to the Group’s 
performance during the year and the achievement of specifi c individual objectives, which are determined and communicated at the start of each 
year, and include key strategic, fi nancial and operational goals.

For 2011, David Fischel and Matthew Roberts each received a total short-term incentive award of 125 per cent of salary.

Deferral into shares
84 per cent of the 2011 short-term incentive for both David Fischel and Matthew Roberts was deferred into CSC shares. 

Employees must remain in employment with the Company for a period of two years after the date of award before such shares are released.

Previously the approach was two-thirds deferred for two years and one-third deferred for four years. However, the Committee feels that this is 
too long when considered in conjunction with the high proportion of short-term incentive which is deferred.

Short-term incentives in 2012
For 2012, the Remuneration Committee intends to continue operating the short-term incentive arrangement as outlined above. The Committee 
reviews the short-term incentive arrangements prior to the start of each year, including performance measure selection, calibration of targets and 
respective weighting, to ensure they remain aligned with shareholders’ interests.

Long-term incentive – ESOS
In March 2011, David Fischel and Matthew Roberts received market value share option grants with a face value of c.270 per cent and c.260 per 
cent of salary, respectively. These long-term incentive grant sizes are lower quartile1 relative to FTSE 200 property REITs. The Committee was 
concerned that the normal option grant size of 200 per cent of salary is bottom quartile relative to FTSE 200 property REITs. When considered 
against the experience and contribution of the Executive Directors, the Committee determined it appropriate to grant awards above the normal 
limit, particularly as it is concerned that the objectives of the Remuneration Policy are not being met.

Also, the Committee was particularly mindful of feedback received from some shareholders in May 2011 regarding the use of exceptional ESOS 
grants in both 2009 and 2010. A summary of the circumstances is provided below:

2009 circumstances

 There had been no option grants since 2004 

 There were no other long-term incentives in place 

2010 circumstances

 The demerger of Capital & Counties took place and the Remuneration Committee was anxious to ensure that CSC and Capco employees 
were treated equitably with regard to variable pay

Given the above, the Committee believes it important to review the current long-term incentive arrangements together with all aspects 
of executive remuneration policy and other reward schemes in 2012, with the aim of implementing any changes in 2013. However, the 
Committee considered that in the meantime, grant levels for the Executive Directors in 2012 should be set at the normal Scheme limit of 
200 per cent of salary. The sliding scale will be for three-year EPS growth ranging from 4 per cent p.a. to 6 per cent p.a. 100 per cent vests for 
growth of 6 per cent p.a. or higher; 33 per cent vests for growth of 4 per cent p.a.; awards vest on a straight-line basis for performance between 
these levels. Awards will lapse for growth of less than 4 per cent p.a.

Full details of historical ESOS grants are provided in the table on page 83. Note, on a change-of-control or in the case of a good leaver, the 
Remuneration Committee has discretion to permit early vesting of ESOS awards and pro-rate for time and performance, as appropriate. 

Directors’ remuneration report continued

1  Comparison carried out on an expected value basis; assumed one performance share (a long-term incentive structure typically used by the comparators) is equivalent to two share 
options, i.e. 200 per cent of salary in options is equivalent to 100 per cent of salary in performance shares.
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Pension and other benefi ts
The main benefi ts are pension contributions, private healthcare and the provision of a company car or cash alternative. 

Directors’ emoluments

Name

Salary and 
service contract 

remuneration
£

Benefi ts*
in kind

£

Annual 
cash bonus

£

Other – including 
car allowance

(see notes 
below)

£

Directors 
fees

£

Other 
fees

£

Aggregate 
emoluments**

2011
£

Aggregate 
emoluments 

excluding 
pensions

2010
£

Chairman

D.P.H. Burgess 387,500 4,793  392,293 354,242 

Executive

D.A.Fischel1 490,000 1,449 99,000 165,000 755,449 732,365 

E.M.G. Roberts2 361,250 1,449 73,000 18,000 453,699 256,867 

Non-Executive

J.G. Abel 51,875 9,000 60,875 76,679 

R.M. Gordon 51,875 51,875 39,423 

I.J. Henderson 51,875 9,167  61,042 65,000 

A.J.M. Huntley 51,875  51,875  52,103 

R.O. Rowley 51,875 30,000 81,875 80,000 

Lady Patten 

(appointed 22.09.11) 14,673 1,250  15,923 – 

N. Sachdev 51,875 15,833 67,708 60,000 

A.D. Strang 51,875 5,000 56,875 57,103 

J. Whittaker 

(appointed 28.01.11)3 – –

Retired during year

K.E. Chaldecott 

(resigned 30.09.11)4 277,500  1,279 – 684,288 963,067  532,798 

Totals 1,516,250  8,970 172,000 867,288 377,798 70,250 3,012,556 2,306,580 

* Benefi ts provided to Executive Directors relate primarily to the provision of medical insurance. The benefi ts provided for the Chairman comprise medical insurance.
** Aggregate emoluments exclude deferred share bonuses and pension contributions which are detailed below.
1 Mr Fischel received a payment of £147,000 in lieu of accruing further benefi ts under the Company’s pension arrangements (included in “other”).
2  In addition to the emoluments shown in the table above, Mr Roberts received contributions from the Company to his Self Invested Pension Plan of £86,700 having opted out from 

membership of the Group’s defi ned contribution pension plan.
3  Mr Whittaker does not receive any remuneration in connection with his position as Deputy Chairman and a Non-Executive Director of the Company.
4  Mrs Chaldecott received a payment of £69,375 in lieu of accruing further benefi ts under the Company’s pension arrangements (included in “other”). Mrs Chaldecott resigned as a 

Director of the Company on 30 September 2011. In accordance with her termination agreement, she received a payment of £395,913 comprising 12 months salary in lieu of notice 
together with compensation for unused holiday entitlement. In addition, Mrs Chaldecott received a payment of £111,750 in respect of contractual benefi ts that would have accrued 
during the notice period, an ex-gratia payment of £30,000 and a further payment of £63,750 representing a bonus for objectives achieved in 2011. These amounts are included in the 
“Other – including car allowance” column in the table above. Mrs Chaldecott was covered under the Company’s private medical insurance scheme during the whole of 2011 and will 
continue to be covered until 31 March 2012.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Bonuses for Executive Directors were determined on 20 February 2012 under the short-term incentive arrangements for the year ended 
31 December 2011. Part of the bonus entitlement will be taken in cash (shown in the emoluments table above), and part will be awarded in the 
form of deferred shares.

The approximate deferred share awards to the Executive Directors, based on a share price of £3.25 per share, are as follows:

Name SIP
Deferred 

shares

D.A. Fischel 923 159,000

E.M.G. Roberts 923 117,000

All-employee share schemes
The Company operates an Employee Share Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) which has in the past used funds provided to purchase shares required 
under the annual bonus scheme.

The Company operates a Share Incentive Plan (“SIP”) for all eligible employees, including Executive Directors, who may receive up to £3,000 
worth of shares as part of their annual bonus arrangements. The SIP arrangements off er worthwhile tax advantages to employees and to the 
Company. Also, as part of the SIP arrangements, the Company off ers eligible employees the opportunity to participate in a “Partnership” share 
scheme, the terms of which are governed by HM Revenue & Customs regulations. 

Dilution

1%0% 2% 3% 4% 5%

Approved limitCurrent dilution

Executive Director service contracts 
Executive Directors have rolling service contracts which are terminable on 12 months’ notice on either side. None of the existing service contracts 
for Executive Directors makes any provision for termination payments, other than for payment of salary and benefi ts in lieu of notice.

In the event of the Company terminating an Executive Director’s contract, the level of compensation would be subject to mitigation if considered 
appropriate and legally sustainable.

The following service contracts in respect of Executive Directors who were in offi  ce during the year are rolling service contracts and therefore 
have no end date:

Date of commencement of contract Notice period

Current Executive Directors

D.A. Fischel 24 June 1999 12 months

E.M.G. Roberts 17 May 2010 12 months

Former Executive Directors

K.E. Chaldecott 6 April 2000 12 months
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The Chairman
The Chairman’s fee increased from £350,000 per annum to £400,000 per annum with eff ect from 1 April 2011. This was in recognition of 
new requirements and responsibilities of the role. The Chairman receives no benefi ts from his offi  ce other than fees and entitlement to private 
medical insurance.

The terms of the Chairman’s appointment broadly refl ect the terms of the three-year appointments of the Non-Executive Directors. In the event 
of a change in control of the Company, the Chairman is entitled to receive an additional payment of an amount equal to his basic annual fee.

Non-Executive Directors
All Non-Executive Directors have been appointed on fi xed terms of two or three years, subject to renewal thereafter. Mr R.M. Gordon, who 
served as an alternate to Mr G.J. Gordon from 1 January 2001 until his appointment as a Non-Executive Director on 7 May 2010, is deemed to 
have served for more than nine years and therefore has a term of one year. All are subject to annual re-election by shareholders.

The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment which include provisions for early termination in specifi ed circumstances. 
Non-Executive Directors receive no benefi ts from their offi  ce other than fees. They are not eligible to participate in Group pension arrangements.

The following table sets out the dates of appointment and annual rates of fees payable to Non-Executive Directors:

Committee

Date of appointment Basic fee* Member Chair Other fees

J.G. Abel 2 June 2010 £52,500

R.M. Gordon 7 May 2010 £52,500

I.J. Henderson 7 February 2005 £52,500 £5,000

A.J.M. Huntley 8 July 2009 £52,500

Lady Patten 22 September 2011 £52,500 £5,000

R.O. Rowley 17 May 2004 £52,500 £15,000 £5,000 £10,000**

N. Sachdev 1 November 2006 £52,500 £15,000 £5,000

A.D. Strang 8 July 2009 £52,500 £5,000

J. Whittaker*** 28 January 2011 £nil

* In 2011, the basic fee for Non-Executive Directors was increased by 5 per cent. This positioned the basic fee between lower quartile and median for FTSE 200 property REITs.
** Mr Rowley receives a fee of £10,000 p.a. as Senior Independent Director.
*** Mr Whittaker does not receive any fees in respect of his position as Deputy Chairman and a Non-Executive Director of the Company.

External directorships for Executive Directors
During 2011, Mr Fischel received a fee of $55,000 in respect of his directorship of US company Equity One, Inc. Mr Fischel retained the fees paid in 
respect of his appointment. In addition to his fee, restricted stock in Equity One, Inc. awarded to Mr Fischel vested during the year with a value on 
vesting of $28,264.50. Mr Fischel also receives and retains a fee of £4,000 in respect of his non-executive directorship of Marlowe Investments 
(Kent) Limited, a UK private company.

Quasi-loan to Director
All employees of the Group are entitled to an interest-free travel season ticket loan which is repaid over the year via deductions from salary. 
Mr Roberts received a loan of £5,000 in June 2010. The loan was repaid in June 2011 and Mr Roberts elected not to apply for a further loan.

Payments to former Directors
Sir Donald Gordon, Life President, received a total of £250,000 (2010 – £350,000) during 2011 in connection with his Life Presidency and 
consultancy arrangements. Sir Donald Gordon’s consultancy arrangements terminated on 30 June 2011.

Mr David Bramson retired from the Board on 31 March 2006. During 2011, Mr Bramson received £2,500 as Chairman of the Trustees of the 
Liberty International Group Retirement Benefi t Scheme, and a further payment of £10,000 for additional work required in connection with the 
winding up of the scheme.

Mrs Kay Chaldecott resigned from the Board on 30 September 2011 but continues to provide consultancy services to the Board. During 2011, 
Mrs Chaldecott received a total of £13,333 in respect of such consultancy arrangements.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Total shareholder return
The following graph shows the Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) for Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC over the fi ve-year period ended 
31 December 2011, compared with our closest comparator group for this purpose, the FTSE 350 Real Estate Index. TSR is defi ned as share price 
growth plus reinvested dividends. 

Total Shareholder Return (TSR) for Period 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2011
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Shareholding policy
In 2009 the Committee introduced a requirement for Executive Directors to build up, over a three to fi ve-year period, and maintain a 
shareholding in the Company with a value equivalent to at least one year’s annual salary. The chart below illustrates the value of Executive 
Directors’ shareholdings against the guideline of 100 per cent of salary.

Shareholdings at 31 December 2011 against guidelines

Shareholding guideline

D.A. Fischel E.M.G. Roberts

Actual holding as a percentage of base salary

Unvested deferred bonus share awards
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Executive Directors’ share awards 
Executive Directors are entitled to participate in the Company’s Approved and Unapproved share option schemes. Full details relating to the 
holding, grant and exercise of share options by Executive Directors are set out below:

The Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC Approved Share Option Scheme

Director Year granted

Option 
price 

(pence)

Held at 
31 December 

2010
Granted in 

year
Adjustment in 

year
Exercised in 

year

Held at 
31 December 

2011* Exercisable between

Current Directors

D.A. Fischel 2009 271.69** 11,041 – – – 11,041 28/02/13–28/05/19

E.M.G. Roberts 2010 313 9,584 – – – 9,584 26/05/13–26/05/20

Former Directors

K.E. Chaldecott 2009 271.69** 11,041 – – – 11,041 28/02/13–28/05/19***

(resigned 30 September 2011)

The Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC Unapproved Share Option Scheme

Director Year granted

Option 
price 

(pence)

Held at 
31 December 

2010
Granted in 

year
Adjustment in 

year
Exercised in 

year

Held at 
31 December 

2011* Exercisable between

Current Directors

D.A. Fischel 2009 271.69** 649,648 – – – 649,648 28/02/13–28/05/19

2010 313 607,000 – – – 607,000 26/05/13–26/05/20

2011 387 – 350,000 – – 350,000 03/03/14–03/03/21

E.M.G. Roberts 2010 313 437,416 – – – 437,416 26/05/13–26/05/20

2011 387 – 250,000 – – 250,000 03/03/14–03/03/21
Former Directors

K.E. Chaldecott 2004 528.24** 33,034 – – – 33,034 19/02/07–19/02/14***

(resigned 30 September 2011) 2009 271.69** 451,441 – – – 451,441 28/02/13–28/05/19***

2010 313 460,000 – – – 460,000 26/05/13–26/05/20***

2011 387 – 250,000 – – 250,000 03/03/14–03/03/21***

* Or date of cessation if earlier.
** Exercise price following adjustment in respect of demerger in 2010. Pre-adjustment exercise prices were: 2004 – 698 pence; 2009 – 359 pence.
***  Exercisable prior to 30 September 2012. The Remuneration Committee exercised its discretion to waive the performance conditions in respect of Mrs Chaldecott’s options granted 

in 2009, 2010 and 2011.

The standard performance condition for options granted between 2004 and 2011 is as follows:

“The Company’s ‘smoothed’ earnings are to grow over a three-year period at a rate in excess of 5 per cent per annum compound. ‘Smoothed’ 
earnings means the percentage increase in underlying earnings per share, adjusted by (a) excluding exceptional and valuation items and (b) limiting 
trading or non-recurring items to 10 per cent of profi t before tax.”

The base fi gure for comparison purposes in respect of both the 2009 and 2010 option grants is the ‘smoothed’ earnings achieved, after adjustment 
for the demerger, as at 31 December 2009 (adjusted earnings per share – 15.1 pence). Therefore the performance condition cannot be satisfi ed 
until the outcome of 2012 year end. The base fi gure for comparison purposes in respect of the 2011 option grant is the ‘smoothed’ earnings as at 
31 December 2010 (adjusted earnings per share – 15.4 pence). 

As noted above, the performance condition for grants of options in 2012 and thereafter will be based on a sliding scale of EPS performance.

The market price of Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC ordinary shares as at 31 December 2011 was 312 pence and during the year the price 
varied between 289 pence and 425 pence.

The interests of Directors in conditional awards of ordinary shares under the annual bonus scheme are detailed in note 51 on pages 128 and 129.

On behalf of the Board

Neil Sachdev
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

23 February 2012
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ 
remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the Group and 
Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under 
company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless 
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company 
for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are 
required to: 

(a) select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently 

(b) make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent 

(c) state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have 
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements 

(d) prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that 
are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 
and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the 
Directors’ remuneration report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as 
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the 
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.  

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the Governance 
section on pages 54 and 55 confirm that, to the best of their knowledge: 

(a) the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group 

(b) the Directors’ report contained in the governance section of the Annual 
Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces 

Signed on behalf of the Board on 23 February 2012 

  
David Fischel Matthew Roberts 
Chief Executive Finance Director 



Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC
Annual Report 2011

Overview Business model
and strategy

Business 
review

Financial 
review

Corporate 
responsibility

Governance Accounts Other 
information

 

Independent auditors’ report to the members of 
Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC

 

85

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Capital Shopping 
Centres Group PLC (company registration number 03685527)  
We have audited the financial statements of Capital Shopping Centres Group 
PLC for the year ended 31 December 2011, which comprise the consolidated 
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
Group and Company balance sheets, the Group and Company statements of 
changes in equity, the Group and Company statements of cash flows, and the 
related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Company 
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors  
As explained more fully in the statement of Directors’ responsibilities set out 
on page 84, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.  

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the 
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these 
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements  
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Group’s and the Company’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we read all financial and non-financial 
information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the 
audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.  

Opinion on financial statements  
In our opinion:  

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s 
and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of the Group’s 
profit and Group’s and Company’s cash flows for the year then ended; 

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; 

the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as applied 
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and 

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006  
In our opinion:  

the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; 

the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and 

the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out 
on pages 60 to 71 with respect to internal control and risk management 
systems and in the Directors’ report on pages 57 to 59 about share capital 
structures is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:  

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in 
our opinion:  

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or 
returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or  

the Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or  

certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not 
made; or  

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for 
our audit; or 

a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the Company. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:  

the Directors’ statement, set out on page 93, in relation to going concern; 

the parts of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the 
Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code specified for our review; and 

certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ 
remuneration. 

 
 

 
Alison Morris 
(Senior Statutory Auditor) for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

London 

23 February 2012
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 Notes 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Continuing operations  

Revenue 4 516.1 420.3

Net rental income 5 364.0 276.9

Net other income 6 7.8 0.7

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property 7 63.0 497.2

Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries 40 52.9 –

Gain on sale of subsidiaries 41 40.4 –

Impairment and sale of other investments  (8.7) (2.6)

Administration expenses – ongoing  (24.1) (23.0)

Administration expenses – exceptional 8 (20.9) (15.6)

Operating profit  474.4 733.6

Finance costs 12 (198.9) (165.4)

Finance income  0.8 3.1

Other finance costs 13 (55.7) (75.1)

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments  (193.4) (50.0)

Net finance costs  (447.2) (287.4)

Profit before tax and associates  27.2 446.2

Current tax 14 (0.3) (0.1)

Deferred tax 14 (2.3) 2.8

REIT entry charge 14 – (3.3)

Taxation 14 (2.6) (0.6)

Share of profit of associates 23 9.0 –

Profit for the year from continuing operations  33.6 445.6

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 41 – 83.0

Profit for the year  33.6 528.6

  

Attributable to:  

Equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC  

– Continuing operations  30.0 428.8

– Discontinued operations  – 83.0

  30.0 511.8

Non-controlling interest  3.6 16.8

  33.6 528.6

  

Basic earnings per share  

From continuing operations 17 2.9p 68.3p

From discontinued operations 17 – 13.2p

 17 2.9p 81.5p

Diluted earnings per share  

From continuing operations 17 2.9p 67.5p

From discontinued operations 17 – 13.0p

 17 2.9p 80.5p

Details of underlying earnings are presented in the underlying profit statement on page 133. Underlying earnings per share are shown in note 17(c). 
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 Notes 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Profit for the year   33.6 528.6

 
Other comprehensive income  

Revaluation of other investments  (17.3) 17.2

Recognised in impairment and sale of other investments  8.7 2.6

Recognised in gain on sale of subsidiaries 41 (10.9) –

Exchange differences  (5.5) (1.1)

Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income 14 2.3 (2.8)

Other comprehensive income for the year  (22.7) 15.9

Total comprehensive income for the year  10.9 544.5

  

Attributable to:  

Equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC  7.3 527.7

Non-controlling interest  3.6 16.8

  10.9 544.5

  

  

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders of  
CSC Group PLC arises from:  

Continuing operations  7.3 432.6

Discontinued operations  – 95.1

  7.3 527.7
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 Notes 

Group 
2011 

£m 

Group  
2010  

£m 

Company 
2011 

£m 

Company 
2010 

£m 

Non-current assets  

Investment and development property  19 6,896.2 5,051.0 – –

Plant and equipment  20 5.1 4.1 4.9 4.1

Investment in group companies 21 – – 2,167.9 1,701.6

Investment in associate companies 23 32.5 28.8 – –

Other investments 24 171.2 16.4 – –

Goodwill 40 9.3 – – –

Derivative financial instruments 28 22.7 24.2 – –

Trade and other receivables 26 91.1 76.7 1.2 1.5

 7,228.1 5,201.2 2,174.0 1,707.2

Current assets  

Trading property 25 7.5 25.5 – –

Current tax assets 4.0 4.1 – –

Trade and other receivables 26 69.6 50.2 564.8 617.2

Cash and cash equivalents 27 90.7 222.3 0.5 –

C&C US – assets 41 – 423.9 – –

 171.8 726.0 565.3 617.2

Total assets 7,399.9 5,927.2 2,739.3 2,324.4

 
Current liabilities  

Trade and other payables 29 (278.3) (194.4) (43.3) (270.6)

Borrowings 30 (65.4) (46.0) – (0.1)

Derivative financial instruments 28 (27.5) (9.3) – –

C&C US – liabilities 41 – (276.6) – –

 (371.2) (526.3) (43.3) (270.7)

Non-current liabilities  

Borrowings 30 (3,546.1) (2,751.5) (45.0) –

Derivative financial instruments 28 (535.7) (354.6) – –

Other provisions 36 (1.2) (1.2) – –

Other payables (0.1) (0.3) – –

 (4,083.1) (3,107.6) (45.0) –

Total liabilities (4,454.3) (3,633.9) (88.3) (270.7)

Net assets 2,945.6 2,293.3 2,651.0 2,053.7

 
Equity  

Share capital 37 430.2 346.3 430.2 346.3

Share premium 564.1 20.4 564.1 20.4

Treasury shares 39 (29.5) (29.9) (29.5) (29.9)

Convertible bonds 32 143.7 – 143.7 –

Other reserves 38 318.7 526.5 61.4 246.5

Retained earnings 1,494.9 1,410.1 1,481.1 1,470.4

Attributable to equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC 2,922.1 2,273.4 2,651.0 2,053.7

Non-controlling interest 23.5 19.9 – –

Total equity 2,945.6 2,293.3 2,651.0 2,053.7

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 February 2012. 

  
David Fischel Matthew Roberts 
Chief Executive Finance Director 

Notes on pages 93 to 129 form part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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  Attributable to equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC   

Group 

Share  
capital  

£m 

Share 
premium 

£m 

Treasury 
shares 

£m 

Convertible 
bonds

£m 

Other 
reserves 

£m 

Retained  
earnings  

£m 
Total 

£m 

Non-
controlling 

interest
£m 

Total 
equity

£m 

At 1 January 2011 346.3 20.4 (29.9) – 526.5 1,410.1 2,273.4 19.9 2,293.3

Profit for the year – – – – – 30.0 30.0 3.6 33.6

Other comprehensive income:    

 Revaluation of other investments – – – – (17.3) – (17.3) – (17.3)

 Recognised in impairment  
 of other investments – – – – 8.7 – 8.7 – 8.7

 Recognised in gain on disposal  
 of subsidiaries – – – – (10.9) – (10.9) – (10.9)

 Exchange differences – – – – (5.5) – (5.5) – (5.5)

 Tax on items taken directly to  
 other comprehensive income – – – – 2.3 – 2.3 – 2.3

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – (22.7) 30.0 7.3 3.6 10.9

Ordinary shares issued 83.9 543.7 – – – – 627.6 – 627.6

Dividends paid (note 16) – – – – – (127.8) (127.8) – (127.8)

Convertible bonds issued (note 32) – – – 143.7 – – 143.7 – 143.7

Interest on convertible bonds  
(note 32) – – – – – (5.3) (5.3) – (5.3)

Share-based payments – – – – – 3.6 3.6 – 3.6

Acquisition of treasury shares – – (0.2) – – – (0.2) – (0.2)

Disposal of treasury shares – – 0.6 – – (0.8) (0.2) – (0.2)

Realisation of merger reserve – – – – (185.1) 185.1 – – –

 83.9 543.7 0.4 143.7 (185.1) 54.8 641.4 – 641.4

At 31 December 2011 430.2 564.1 (29.5) 143.7 318.7 1,494.9 2,922.1 23.5 2,945.6
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 Attributable to equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC   

Group 

Share  
capital  

£m 

Share 
premium 

£m 

Treasury 
shares 

£m 

Convertible 
bonds

£m 

Other
reserves 

£m 

Retained  
earnings  

£m 
Total  

£m 

Non-controlling 
interest 

£m 

Total
equity

£m 

At 1 January 2010 311.3 1,005.7 (9.7) 6.7 286.9 820.2 2,421.1 – 2,421.1

Profit for the year – – – – – 511.8 511.8 16.8 528.6

Other comprehensive income:    

 Revaluation of other investments – – – – 17.2 – 17.2 – 17.2

 Recognised in sale  
 of other investments – – – – 2.6 – 2.6 – 2.6

 Exchange differences – – – – (1.1) – (1.1) – (1.1)

 Tax on items taken directly to 
 other comprehensive income – – – – (2.8) – (2.8) – (2.8)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – – – – 15.9 511.8 527.7 16.8 544.5

Ordinary shares issued 35.0 20.4 – – 185.1 – 240.5 – 240.5

Dividends paid (note 16) – – – – – (102.8) (102.8) – (102.8)

Redemption and conversion of 
convertible bonds – – – (6.7) – 6.7 – – –

Non-controlling interest additions – – – – – – – 3.1 3.1

Share-based payments – – – – – 1.0 1.0 – 1.0

Acquisition of treasury shares – – (20.9) – – – (20.9) – (20.9)

Disposal of treasury shares – – 0.7 – – 5.3 6.0 – 6.0

Reduction of capital (note 41) – (1,005.7) – – – 1,005.7 – – –

Demerger effected by way of 
repayment of capital (note 41) – – – – 38.6 (838.4) (799.8) – (799.8)

Other – – – – – 0.6 0.6 – 0.6

 35.0 (985.3) (20.2) (6.7) 223.7 78.1 (675.4) 3.1 (672.3)

At 31 December 2010 346.3 20.4 (29.9) – 526.5 1,410.1 2,273.4 19.9 2,293.3
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 Attributable to equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC 

Company 

Share 
capital 

£m 

Share 
premium 

£m 

Treasury 
shares 

£m 

Convertible 
bonds  

£m 

Other 
reserves  

£m 

Retained 
earnings 

£m 
Total 

£m 

At 1 January 2011 346.3 20.4 (29.9) – 246.5 1,470.4 2,053.7

Loss for the year – – – – – (44.1) (44.1)

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – (44.1) (44.1)

Ordinary shares issued 83.9 543.7 – – – – 627.6

Dividends paid (note 16) – – – – – (127.8) (127.8)

Convertible bonds issued (note 32) – – – 143.7 – – 143.7

Interest on convertible bonds (note 32) – – – – – (5.3) (5.3)

Share-based payments – – – – – 3.6 3.6

Acquisition of treasury shares – – (0.2) – – – (0.2)

Disposal of treasury shares – – 0.6 – – (0.8) (0.2)

Realisation of merger reserve – – – – (185.1) 185.1 –

 83.9 543.7 0.4 143.7 (185.1) 54.8 641.4

At 31 December 2011 430.2 564.1 (29.5) 143.7 61.4 1,481.1 2,651.0

 

 Attributable to equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC 

Company 

Share 
capital 

£m 

Share 
premium 

£m 

Treasury 
shares 

£m 

Convertible 
bonds  

£m 

Other 
reserves  

£m 

Retained 
earnings 

£m 
Total 

£m 

At 1 January 2010 311.3 1,005.7 (9.7) 6.7 61.7 1,930.3 3,306.0

Loss for the year – – – – – (576.9) (576.9)

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – (576.9) (576.9)

Ordinary shares issued 35.0 20.4 – – 185.1 – 240.5

Dividends paid (note 16) – – – – – (102.8) (102.8)

Redemption and conversion of convertible bonds – – – (6.7) – 6.7 –

Share-based payments – – – – – 1.0 1.0

Acquisition of treasury shares – – (20.9) – – – (20.9)

Disposal of treasury shares – – 0.7 – – 5.3 6.0

Reserve transfer – – – – (0.3) 0.3 –

Reduction of capital (note 41) – (1,005.7) – – – 1,005.7 –

Demerger effected by way of repayment of capital (note 41) – – – – – (799.8) (799.8)

Other – – – – – 0.6 0.6

 35.0 (985.3) (20.2) (6.7) 184.8 117.0 (675.4)

At 31 December 2010 346.3 20.4 (29.9) – 246.5 1,470.4 2,053.7
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 Notes 

Group
2011

£m 

Group 
2010 

£m 

Company
2011

£m 

Company
2010

£m 

Cash flows from continuing operations  

Cash generated from operations 44 323.0 226.8 33.1 (37.1)

Interest paid (250.0) (229.1) (13.1) (8.7)

Interest received 0.8 1.5 – 8.9

Taxation (2.2) 2.2 – 0.8

REIT entry charge (38.9) (40.1) – –

Cash flows from operating activities 32.7 (38.7) 20.0 (36.1)

Cash flows from investing activities  

Purchase and development of property, plant and equipment (26.9) (47.4) (2.1) (3.7)

Sale of property 1.7 64.4 – –

Sale of other investments – 10.4 – –

Purchase of other investments – (4.2) – –

Acquisition of businesses (72.8) – – –

Cash sold with businesses (20.3) – – –

Cash acquired with businesses 37.6 – – –

Other derivative financial instruments (8.3) (26.2) – –

Cash flows from investing activities (89.0) (3.0) (2.1) (3.7)

Cash flows from financing activities  

Partnership equity introduced – 3.1 – –

Issue of ordinary shares 44.7 222.4 44.7 222.4

Issue of convertible bonds 23.7 – 23.7 –

Acquisition of treasury shares (0.2) (1.4) (0.2) (1.4)

Sale of treasury shares 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2

Cash transferred from restricted accounts 1.1 19.8 – –

Borrowings drawn 101.4 518.7 45.0 –

Borrowings repaid (138.2) (690.3) – (79.2)

Interest on convertible bonds (5.3) – (5.3) –

Equity dividends paid (125.6) (102.2) (125.6) (102.2)

Cash flows from financing activities (98.1) (29.7) (17.4) 39.8

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents from 
continuing operations (154.4) (71.4) 0.5 –

Cash flows from discontinued operations  

Operating activities – 0.3 – –

Investing activities – (1.2) – –

Financing activities – (69.0) – –

Cash and cash equivalents transferred on demerger – (179.2) – –

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents – 0.4 – –

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations – (248.7) – –

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (154.4) (320.1) 0.5 –

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 242.6 562.7 – –

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 27 88.2 242.6 0.5 –
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1 Accounting convention and basis  
 of preparation  
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union 
(IFRS), IFRIC interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The Directors have taken 
advantage of the exemption offered by Section 408 of the Companies Act 
not to present a separate income statement for the Company. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention as modified by the revaluation of property, available-for-sale 
investments, financial assets and liabilities held for trading. A summary of the 
more important Group accounting policies is set out in note 2. 

The accounting policies used are consistent with those applied in the last annual 
financial statements, as amended to reflect the adoption of new standards, 
amendments, and interpretations which became effective in the year. During 
2011, the following standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed by 
the EU became effective for the first time for the Group’s 31 December 2011 
year end: 

IFRS 24 Related Party Disclosures; 

IFRS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amendment); 

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their Interaction; 

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments; and  

Amendments arising from 2010 annual improvements project. 

These either had no material impact on the financial statements or resulted in 
changes to presentation and disclosure only. 

The following standard has been issued and adopted by the EU but is not 
effective for the year ended 31 December 2011 and has not been 
adopted early: 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (amendment) 

This pronouncement is not expected to have a material impact on the financial 
statements, but may result in changes to presentation or disclosure. 

Additionally a number of standards have been issued but are not yet adopted 
by the EU and so are not available for early adoption. The most significant of 
these are: 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements; 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements; 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement; and 

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. 

The impact of these on the Group is being reviewed. It is anticipated that 
the earliest period that these standards may be applied will be the year ended 
31 December 2013. 

Use of estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires the use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s 
best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may 
differ from those estimates. In particular significant judgement is required in 
the use of estimates and assumptions in the accounting for investment and 
development property and in the valuation of derivative financial instruments. 
Additional detail on these two areas is provided in the relevant accounting 
policy in note 2. 

Going concern 
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its 
future development, performance and position are set out in the Chairman’s 
statement on pages 14 to 17 and the Business review on pages 28 to 40. 
The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and 
borrowing facilities are described in the Financial review on pages 41 to 47. 
In addition note 34 includes the Group’s risk management objectives, details 
of its financial instruments and hedging activities, its exposures to liquidity risk 
and details of its capital structure. 

The Group prepares regular forecasts and projections which include sensitivity 
analysis taking into account reasonably possible changes in trading performance 
and asset values and assesses the potential impact of these on the Group’s 
liquidity position and available resources. 

Following the agreement of a new £375 million 5 year revolving credit facility in 
December, the Group has increased its combined level of available cash and 
undrawn facilities. At 31 December 2011 these totalled over £400 million. The 
Group has no major asset-specific debt refinancing requirements until 2014. 

Based on the most recent projections the Directors have concluded that there 
is a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the Group’s financial 
statements. 

2 Accounting policies – Group and Company  
Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial information includes the Company and its 
subsidiaries and their interests in joint ventures and associates. 

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions 
between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation. 

– subsidiaries 
A subsidiary is an entity for which the Company has the ability, either directly 
or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies, whether through a 
majority of the voting rights or otherwise. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are  
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The Company’s investment in Group companies is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.  

– joint ventures 
A joint venture is an entity or operation for which the Company, either directly 
or indirectly, is in a position to jointly control the financial and operating policies 
of the entity or operation. 

The Group’s interest in a joint venture is accounted for using proportional 
consolidation. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
are combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial statements 
on a line-by-line basis. 

– associates 
An associate is an entity over which the Company, either directly or indirectly, 
is in a position to exercise significant influence by participating in, but without 
control or joint control of the financial and operating policies of the entity. 

The Group’s interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity method.  

– non-controlling interest 
A non-controlling interest is the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly 
or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented within 
equity, separately from the amounts attributable to equity shareholders of the 
Company. Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income 
is attributed to equity shareholders of the Company and to non-controlling 
interests in the appropriate proportions. 

Foreign currencies 
The assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into sterling at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the reporting date and their income statement and cash 
flows are translated at the average rate for the period. Exchange differences 
arising are dealt with in other comprehensive income. 

At entity level, transactions in currencies other than an entity’s functional 
currency are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing at the transaction 
dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settlement of 
these transactions and from retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement 
except for some types of hedging arrangement which are dealt with in other 
comprehensive income. 
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2 Accounting policies – Group and Company 
 (continued) 
Revenue recognition 
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably 
measured and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
Group. 

– property revenue 
Rental income receivable is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of 
the lease. Directly attributable lease incentives are recognised within rental 
income on the same basis.  

Contingent rents, being those lease payments that are not fixed at the 
inception of a lease, for example increases arising on rent reviews or rents 
linked to tenant revenues, are recorded as income in the periods in which they 
are earned. Rent reviews are recognised as income from the date of the rent 
review, based on management’s estimates. Estimates are derived from 
knowledge of market rents for comparable properties determined on an 
individual property basis and updated for progress of negotiations. 

Service charge income is recognised on an accruals basis in line with the service 
being provided. 

– trading property income 
Revenue on the sale of trading property is recognised when the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. This will 
normally take place on exchange of contracts. 

Interest income 
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and the effective interest rate. 

Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment has been 
established. 

Share-based payments 
The cost of granting share options and other share-based remuneration to 
employees and Directors is recognised through the income statement with 
reference to the fair value of the equity instrument, assessed at the date of 
grant. This cost is charged to the income statement over the vesting period of 
the awards. All awards are accounted for an equity settled with the credit entry 
being taken directly to equity.  

For share options granted an option pricing model is used applying assumptions 
around expected yields, forfeiture rates, exercise price and volatility.  

Investments held in the Company’s own shares in connection with employee 
share plans and other share-based payment arrangements are accounted for as 
treasury shares. 

Exceptional items 
Exceptional items are those items that in the Directors’ view are required to be 
separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence to enable a full 
understanding of the Group’s financial performance.  

Taxation 
Current tax is the amount payable on the taxable income for the year and any 
adjustment in respect of prior years. It is calculated using rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method in respect of 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the balance sheet and their tax bases. 

Temporary differences are not provided on the initial recognition of assets or 
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is 
settled.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that management believe 
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset only when they relate to taxes levied by the same authority and the 
Group intends to settle them on a net basis. 

Tax is included in the income statement except when it relates to items 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case 
the related tax is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
or equity. 

Investment and development property 
Investment and development property is owned or leased by the Group and 
held for long-term rental income and capital appreciation. 

The Group has elected to use the fair value model. Properties are initially 
recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at the balance sheet date to fair 
value as determined by professionally qualified external valuers on the basis 
of market value. Valuations conform with the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors (“RICS”), Valuation Standards 7th Edition and IVS1 of International 
Valuation Standards. 

The main estimates and judgements underlying the valuations are in relation 
to market rent, taking into account forecast growth rates and yields based 
on known transactions for similar properties and likely incentives offered 
to tenants. 

Properties held under leases are stated gross of the recognised finance 
lease liability.  

The cost of investment and development property includes capitalised 
interest and other directly attributable outgoings incurred during development. 
Interest is capitalised on the basis of the average rate of interest paid on the 
relevant debt outstanding. Interest ceases to be capitalised on the date of 
practical completion. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment 
and development property are recognised in the income statement. 
Depreciation is not provided in respect of investment and 
development property. 

When the use of a property changes from that of investment to trading, the 
property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting in accordance with IAS 2 
Inventories is its fair value at the date of change in use. 

Gains or losses arising on the sale of investment and development property 
are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer. This will normally take place on exchange of 
contracts. The gain or loss recognised is the proceeds received less the carrying 
value of the property and costs directly associated with the sale. 

Leases 
Leases are classified according to the substance of the transaction. A lease 
that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
lessee is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are normally classified 
as operating leases. 

– Group as lessee 
Finance leases of investment property are accounted for as finance leases and 
recognised as an asset and an obligation to pay future minimum lease payments. 
The investment property asset is included in the balance sheet at fair value, 
gross of the recognised finance lease liability. Contingent rents are recognised 
as they accrue. 

Other finance lease assets are capitalised at the lower of the fair value of 
the leased asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments and 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful life of the asset. 
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2 Accounting policies – Group and Company 
 (continued) 
Lease payments are allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to 
achieve a constant financing rate. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

– Group as lessor 
Investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases, with rental 
income being recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. For more 
detail see the revenue recognition accounting policy. 

Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment consists of vehicles, fixtures, fittings and other equipment. 
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
an asset’s estimated useful life up to a maximum of five years. 

Other investments 
Available-for-sale investments, being investments intended to be held for an 
indefinite period, are initially and subsequently measured at fair value. For listed 
investments, fair value is the current bid market value at the reporting date. 
For unlisted investments where there is no active market, fair value is assessed 
using an appropriate methodology. 

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are included in other 
comprehensive income, except to the extent that losses are considered 
to represent a permanent impairment, in which case they are recognised 
in the income statement.  

Upon disposal, accumulated fair value adjustments are recycled from reserves 
to the income statement. 

Goodwill 
Goodwill arising on business contributions is carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis. 

Impairment of assets 
The Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine 
whether events or changes in circumstances exist that indicate that their 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. If such an indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. An impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows. 

Trading property 
Trading property comprises those properties either intended for sale or in 
the process of construction for sale. Where such properties were previously 
categorised as investment and development property they are transferred at 
their fair value which forms their deemed cost. Trading property is carried at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  

The Directors’ exercise judgement as to the collectability of trade receivables 
and determine if it is appropriate to impair these assets. Factors such as days 
past due, credit status of the counterparty and historical evidence of collection 
are considered. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits with banks, whether 
restricted or unrestricted and other short-term liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less. 

Trade payables 
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a current obligation arising from 
a past event and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that 
obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle that obligation at the balance sheet date. 

Pensions 
The costs of defined contribution schemes and contributions to personal 
plans are charged to the income statement in the year in which they 
are incurred. 

Borrowings 
Borrowings are recognised initially at their net proceeds on issue and 
subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any transaction costs and premiums 
or discounts are recognised over the contractual life using the effective 
interest method. 

In the event of early repayment, all unamortised transaction costs are 
recognised immediately in the income statement. 

Derivative financial instruments 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage exposure to 
interest rate and foreign exchange risk. They are initially recognised on the 
trade date at fair value and subsequently re-measured at fair value. In assessing 
fair value the Group uses its judgement to select suitable valuation techniques 
and make assumptions which are mainly based on market conditions existing at 
the balance sheet date. 

Changes in fair value are recognised directly in the income statement, except 
for the effective portion of gains or losses on derivative financial instruments 
designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign operations, in which case 
they are recognised in other comprehensive income. Where derivative financial 
instruments are designated as a fair value hedge, the relevant fair value 
movements on the hedged item are also taken to the income statement. 

Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable 
to the issue of new ordinary shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. 

Convertible bonds 
Convertible bonds are assessed on issue, based on their terms and in 
accordance with IAS 32, to identify their classification as a financial liability, 
as equity or as a compound financial instrument with both debt and equity 
components. Each bond is assessed separately and the detailed accounting 
treatment of each is given in note 32. 

Where convertible bonds are accounted for wholly as equity they are 
recognised initially at their fair value less issue costs, and are not remeasured 
in subsequent periods. 

Where convertible bonds are assessed as being a compound financial 
instrument with both debt and equity components, the fair value of the liability 
component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for similar 
debt without a conversion option. The difference between the fair value of 
the instrument as a whole, usually considered to be the proceeds of issue, and 
the fair value of the liability component is included in equity. Issue costs are 
apportioned between the liability and equity components. The liability element 
is subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method. The value of 
the equity component is not remeasured in subsequent periods. 
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2 Accounting policies – Group and Company 
 (continued) 
Treasury shares 
Investments held in the Company’s own shares are deducted from equity at 
cost. Where such shares are subsequently sold, any consideration received is 
recognised directly in equity. 

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their 
carrying amount will be recovered through sale rather than through continuing 
use. The asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale and the 
sale must be highly probable and be expected to complete within one year 
of the balance sheet date. Where applicable, non-current assets and disposal 
groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of fair value less 
costs to sell and their carrying amount. 

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in the 
income statement. Gains reversing previous impairment losses or losses on 
subsequent re-measurements are also included in the income statement. 

Assets classified as held for sale are disclosed separately on the face of the 
balance sheet and classified as current assets or liabilities with disposal groups 
being separated between assets held for sale and liabilities held for sale. 
No amortisation or depreciation is charged on non-current assets 
(including those in disposal groups) classified as held for sale. 

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that 
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operation 
that has been disposed of, has been abandoned or meets the criteria for 
classification as held for sale. Discontinued operations are presented in the 
income statement as a separate line entitled “Profit for the year from 
discontinued operations” and in a separate section in the statement of cash 
flows entitled “Cash flows from discontinued operations”. 

Current/non-current classification 
Current assets include assets held primarily for trading purposes, cash and 
cash equivalents, and assets expected to be realised in, or intended for sale or 
consumption in, the course of the Group’s operating cycle. All other assets are 
classified as non-current assets. 

Current liabilities include liabilities held primarily for trading purposes, liabilities 
expected to be settled in the course of the Group’s operating cycle and those 
liabilities due within one year from the reporting date. All other liabilities are 
classified as non-current liabilities. 

Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for under IFRS 3 using the acquisition 
method of accounting. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of 
a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Costs associated with the acquisition are expensed 
as incurred. Identifiable assets and liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

Goodwill arising on an acquisition comprises the excess of the consideration 
over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. 
Where the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired exceeds 
the consideration this difference is recognised in the income statement at 
the date of the acquisition. 
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3 Segmental reporting 
Operating segments are determined based on the internal reporting and operational management of the Group. The Group is a UK shopping centre focussed 
business and has one reportable operating segment being UK Shopping Centres.  

The principal profit indicator used to measure performance is net rental income. All net rental income is derived from the UK Shopping Centres segment and an 
analysis of net rental income is given in note 5. 

The Group’s geographical segments are set out below. This represents where the Group’s assets reside and where revenues are generated. In the case of 
investments this reflects where the investee is located. 

 Revenue
1
 Non-current assets

2

 
2011 

£m 
2010  

£m 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

United Kingdom 516.1 420.3 7,001.7 5,137.7

United States – – 168.5 –

India – – 35.2 39.3

 516.1 420.3 7,205.4 5,177.0

1 Revenue is presented for continuing operations only. 

2 Non-current assets excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets.  

 

4 Revenue 

   
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Rent receivable and service charge income  508.6 410.0

Sale of trading property  7.5 10.3

Revenue  516.1 420.3

 

5 Net rental income 

   
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Rent receivable  432.1 350.4

Service charge income  76.5 59.6

  508.6 410.0

Rent payable  (25.5) (23.7)

Service charge costs  (82.1) (67.4)

Other non-recoverable costs  (37.0) (42.0)

Net rental income  364.0 276.9

6 Net other income 

 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Sale of trading property 7.5 10.3

Cost of sales (7.0) (9.3)

Profit on sale of trading property 0.5 1.0

Write down of trading property (1.0) (0.3)

Dividends received from other investments 8.3 –

Net other income 7.8 0.7

 

7 Revaluation and sale of investment and development property 
 2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Revaluation of investment and development property 63.0 500.6

Sale of investment property  – (3.4)

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property 63.0 497.2
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8 Administration expenses – exceptional 
Exceptional administration expenses in the year totalled £20.9 million (2010 – £15.6 million) of which £17.6 million related to the acquisition and integration of 
The Trafford Centre and £3.3 million related to the acquisition of Broadmarsh, Nottingham. 

9 Operating profit 
 2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Operating profit is arrived at after charging: 

 Staff costs (note 10) 29.0 20.7

 Depreciation 1.4 0.4

 Remuneration paid to the Company’s auditors (note 11) 1.4 2.5

 

10 Employees’ information 
Employees’ information is given for continuing operations only. 

 Group
2011

£m 

Group 
2010 

£m 

Company
2011

£m 

Company
2010

£m 

Wages and salaries 22.0 16.5 – 5.6

Social security costs 2.3 2.1 – 0.8

Other pension costs  1.1 1.1 – 0.3

Share based payments (note 48) 3.6 1.0 – 1.0

 29.0 20.7 – 7.7

At 31 December 2011 the number of persons employed by the Group in continuing operations was 624 (2010 – 228) and by the Company was nil (2010 – nil). 
During 2010 all the employees of the Company were transferred to a subsidiary. The monthly average number of persons employed in continuing operations 
during the year was: 

 2011 
Number 

2010 
Number 

Head Office 134 142

Shopping Centres 452 92

 586 234

The Trafford Centre employees are included from 28 January 2011 and Broadmarsh, Nottingham employees from 1 December 2011. 

 

11 Auditors’ remuneration 

 
2011 
£000 

2010 
£000 

Remuneration to the principal auditor in respect of audit fees: 

 Statutory audit of the Company and consolidated accounts 218 184

Remuneration to the principal auditor in respect of other services: 

 Statutory audit of subsidiary accounts 132 101

 Other services pursuant to legislation2 40 40

 Fees in respect of Group and Company audit and review services 390 325

 Statutory audit of the pension funds 5 10

 Taxation advisory services – 14

 Other services 9 36

 Fees in respect of other recurring services 14 60

 Corporate finance advisory services1 958 2,150

 1,362 2,535

Remuneration to other auditors comprises: 

 Tax services to UK subsidiaries – 27

 Statutory audit of US subsidiary – 137

 Tax services to US subsidiary – 122

1 Fees payable to the principal auditor in respect of corporate finance advisory services include fees in respect of work required for the Group’s acquisition of The Trafford Centre 
(2010 – demerger of Capital & Counties and acquisition of The Trafford Centre). PwC were selected to undertake this work after consideration of the impact this may have on their 
independence, which it was concluded would not be impinged by undertaking the work. A further consideration in the decision was, given their prior knowledge of the Group’s 
activities, PwC were best placed to carry out the work, taking into account general efficiency and cost effectiveness. Fees of this type are ad hoc in nature and occur in respect of 
major corporate transactions. 

2 Relates to fees in respect of the review of the Group’s Interim Report. 
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12 Finance costs 

 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

On bank loans and overdrafts 195.0 160.8

On convertible bonds – 2.3

On obligations under finance leases 3.9 4.0

Gross finance costs  198.9 167.1

Interest capitalised on developments – (1.7)

Finance costs 198.9 165.4

 

13 Other finance costs 

 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Amortisation of Metrocentre compound financial instrument 7.9 8.8

Cost of termination of derivative financial instruments and other fees1 47.8 66.3

Other finance costs 55.7 75.1

1 Amounts are treated as exceptional and therefore excluded from the calculation of underlying earnings.  

 

14 Taxation 
Tax expense for the year: 

 2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Overseas taxation 0.3 –

Prior year items – UK corporation tax – 0.1

Current tax 0.3 0.1

Deferred tax: 

 On other investments 7.6 –

 On derivative financial instruments (4.1) (2.6)

 On other temporary differences (1.2) (0.2)

Deferred tax 2.3 (2.8)

REIT entry expense – 3.3

Total tax expense 2.6 0.6

The tax expense for the year is lower (2010 – lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are explained below: 

 2011
£m 

2010 
£m 

Profit before tax 27.2 446.2

Profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate in the UK of 26.5% (2010 – 28%) 7.2 124.9

Capital allowances not reversing on sale – (4.2)

Disposals of properties and investments (8.9) (17.1)

Prior year corporation tax items – 0.1

Prior year deferred tax items (7.2) 1.0

REIT exemption – corporation tax (27.8) 6.8

REIT exemption – deferred tax (0.2) (130.8)

REIT exemption – entry charge – 3.3

Non-deductable and other items 3.1 7.7

Unprovided deferred tax 32.6 8.0

Reduction in tax rate 3.8 0.9

Total tax expense 2.6 0.6

Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income is analysed as: 

 2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Other investments (2.6) 2.9

Derivative financial instruments 0.3 –

Other temporary differences – (0.1)

Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income (2.3) 2.8
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15 Loss for the financial year attributable to shareholders of Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC 
Losses of £44.1 million are dealt with in the accounts of the Company in respect of the year (2010 – losses of £576.9 million). No income statement is presented 
for the Company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The loss recognised in the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010 
was caused by the reorganisation of intercompany balances prior to the demerger of Capco in May 2010. 

16 Dividends 

 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Ordinary shares 

Prior year final dividend paid of 10.0 pence per share (2010 – 11.5 pence per share) 85.2 71.4

Interim dividend paid of 5.0 pence per share (2010 – 5.0 pence per share) 42.6 31.4

Dividends paid 127.8 102.8

Proposed final dividend of 10.0 pence per share  85.4

Details of the shares in issue and dividends waived are given in notes 37 and 39. 

 

17 Earnings per share 
(a) Earnings per share 
Basic and diluted earnings per share as calculated in accordance with IAS 33 Earnings per Share. 

2011 2010 

 
Earnings

£m 
Shares
million 

Pence per 
share 

Earnings 
£m 

Shares
million 

Pence per
share 

Continuing operations:   

Basic earnings per share1 24.7 840.9 2.9p 428.8 627.8 68.3p

Dilutive convertible bonds, share options and share awards – 0.6  1.7 9.7

Diluted earnings per share 24.7 841.5 2.9p 430.5 637.5 67.5p

Discontinued operations:   

Basic earnings per share1 – 840.9 – 83.0 627.8 13.2p

Dilutive convertible bonds, share options and share awards – 0.6  – 9.7

Diluted earnings per share – 841.5 – 83.0 637.5 13.0p

Continuing and discontinued operations:   

Basic earnings per share1 24.7 840.9 2.9p 511.8 627.8 81.5p

Dilutive convertible bonds, share options and share awards – 0.6  1.7 9.7

Diluted earnings per share 24.7 841.5 2.9p 513.5 637.5 80.5p

1 The weighted average number of shares used for the calculation of basic earnings per share has been adjusted for shares held in the ESOP and treasury shares. Basic earnings per 
share are stated after deducting interest on convertible bonds recognised directly in equity of £5.3 million in the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010 – nil) in accordance with 
IAS 33 Earnings per Share. 

(b) Headline earnings per share 
Headline earnings per share has been calculated and presented as required by the Johannesburg Stock Exchange listing requirements and is given for continuing plus 
discontinued operations. 

 

2011  2010 

Gross
£m 

Net
1 

£m  
Gross

£m 
Net

1

£m  

Basic earnings 24.7 511.8 

Remove:  

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property (including associates) (72.1) (66.3) (580.5) (547.5) 

Impairment and sale of other investments 8.7 8.7 2.6 2.6 

Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries (52.9) (52.9) – – 

Gain on sale of subsidiaries (40.4) (25.9) – – 

Headline loss (111.7) (33.1) 

Dilution2 – 1.7 

Diluted headline loss (111.7) (31.4) 

Weighted average number of shares 840.9 627.8 

Dilution2 0.6 9.7 

Diluted weighted average number of shares 841.5 637.5 

Headline loss per share (pence) (13.3)p (5.3)p 

Diluted headline loss per share (pence) (13.3)p (4.9)p 

1 Net of tax and non-controlling interest. 

2 The dilution impact is required to be included as for earnings per share as calculated in note 17(a) even where this is not dilutive for headline earnings per share. 
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17 Earnings per share (continued) 
(c) Underlying earnings per share 
Underlying earnings per share is a non-GAAP measure but has been included as it is considered to be a key measure of the Group’s performance and an indication 
of the extent to which dividend payments are supported by current earnings. 

 

2011 2010 

Earnings
£m 

Shares
million 

Pence per 
share 

Earnings 
£m 

Shares
million 

Pence per
share 

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations1 24.7 840.9 2.9p 428.8 627.8 68.3p

Remove:   

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property (63.0) (7.5)p (497.2) (79.2)p

Share of associates revaluation of investment and development property (9.1) (1.1)p – –

Impairment and sale of other investments 8.7 1.1p 2.6 0.4p

Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries (52.9) (6.3)p – –

Gain on sale of subsidiaries (40.4) (4.8)p – –

Exceptional administration expenses 20.9 2.5p 15.6 2.5p

Exceptional finance costs 47.8 5.7p 66.3 10.6p

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments 193.4 23.0p 50.0 8.0p

Tax on the above 1.6 0.2p (2.8) (0.4)p

REIT entry expense – – 3.3 0.5p

Non-controlling interest in respect of the above 6.9 0.8p 19.1 3.0p

Add:   

C&C US underlying earnings included within discontinued operations – – 10.9 1.7p

Underlying earnings per share 138.6 840.9 16.5p 96.6 627.8 15.4p

Dilutive convertible bonds, share options and share awards – 0.6  1.7 9.7

Underlying, diluted earnings per share 138.6 841.5 16.5p 98.3 637.5 15.4p

1 The weighted average number of shares used for the calculation of basic earnings per share has been adjusted for shares held in the ESOP and treasury shares. Basic earnings per 
share are stated after deducting interest on convertible bonds recognised directly in equity of £5.3 million in the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010 – nil) in accordance with 
IAS 33 Earnings per Share. 

 

18 Net assets per share 
NAV per share (diluted, adjusted) is a non-GAAP measure but has been included as it is considered to be a key measure of the Group’s performance. 

 

2011 2010 

Net
assets

£m 
Shares
million 

NAV per 
share 

(pence) 

Net 
assets 

£m 
Shares
million 

NAV per
share

(pence) 

NAV per share attributable to equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC1 2,922.1 853.5 342p 2,273.4 685.8 331p

Dilutive convertible bonds, share options and share awards 3.8 40.3  – –

Diluted NAV per share 2,925.9 893.8 327p 2,273.4 685.8 331p

Add:   

Unrecognised surplus on trading properties (net of tax) – – 1.4 –

Remove:   

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (net of tax) 520.9 58p 314.9 46p

Deferred tax on investment and development property and other investments 5.0 1p 47.7 7p

Non-controlling interest in respect of the above (30.4) (3)p (31.7) (5)p

Add:   

Non-controlling interest recoverable balance not recognised 71.3 8p 71.3 11p

NAV per share (diluted, adjusted) 3,492.7 893.8 391p 2,677.0 685.8 390p

1 The number of shares used has been adjusted for shares held in the ESOP and treasury shares. 
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19 Investment and development property 

 
Freehold 

£m 
Leasehold

£m 
Total

£m 

At 1 January 2010 3,363.6 2,819.0 6,182.6

C&C US balances transferred to assets held for sale (338.0) – (338.0)

Additions 12.1 17.5 29.6

Disposals (36.1) (31.1) (67.2)

Transferred to trading property – (16.1) (16.1)

Surplus on revaluation 331.4 230.1 561.5

Transferred on demerger (note 41) (653.1) (648.3) (1,301.4)

At 31 December 2010 2,679.9 2,371.1 5,051.0

Trafford Centre acquisition 1,650.0 – 1,650.0

Broadmarsh acquisition – 65.0 65.0

Additions  12.3 45.0 57.3

Disposals – (1.6) (1.6)

Transferred from trading property 11.5 – 11.5

Surplus on revaluation 41.5 21.5 63.0

At 31 December 2011 4,395.2 2,501.0 6,896.2

 

 2011 
£m 

2010 
£m 

Balance sheet carrying value of investment and development property 6,896.2 5,051.0

Adjustment in respect of tenant incentives 101.9 86.8

Adjustment in respect of head leases (37.9) (38.7)

Market value of investment and development property 6,960.2 5,099.1

Included within investment and development property additions during the year is £nil million (2010 – £1.7 million) of interest capitalised on developments in 
progress. 

The fair value of the Group’s investment and development property as at 31 December 2011 was determined by independent external valuers at that date. The 
valuations conform with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) Valuation Standards 7th Edition and with IVS 1 of International Valuation Standards, 
and were arrived at by reference to market transactions for similar properties. 

The main assumptions underlying the valuations are in relation to market rent, taking into account forecast growth rates and yields based on known transactions for 
similar properties and likely incentives offered to tenants. 

A summary of the market value of investment and development property by valuer is given below: 

 2011 
£m 

2010
£m 

DTZ 4,012.6 3,978.9

Cushman & Wakefield 1,700.0 –

CBRE 931.4 845.2

Knight Frank 286.3 242.8

Others 29.9 32.2

 6,960.2 5,099.1

Valuation fees are based on a fixed amount agreed between the Group and the valuers and are independent of the portfolio value. 

There are certain restrictions on the realisability of investment property where a credit facility secured on that property is in place. In most circumstances the 
Group can realise up to 50 per cent without restriction providing the Group continues to manage the asset. Realising an amount in excess of this would trigger a 
change of control and mandatory repayment of the facility. 
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20 Plant and equipment 
 2011 2010 

Group 
Cost

£m 

Accumulated
depreciation

£m 
Net
£m 

 
Cost 

£m 

Accumulated
depreciation

£m 
Net
£m 

At 1 January 7.4 (3.3) 4.1 5.1 (3.2) 1.9

C&C US balances transferred to assets held for sale – – – (0.3) 0.1 (0.2)

Trafford Centre acquisition 0.4 – 0.4 – – –

Additions 2.0 – 2.0 3.7 – 3.7

Disposals – – – (0.1) 0.1 –

Charge for the year – (1.4) (1.4) – (0.5) (0.5)

Transferred on demerger (note 41) – – – (1.0) 0.2 (0.8)

At 31 December 9.8 (4.7) 5.1 7.4 (3.3) 4.1

 

   2011   2010 

Company 
Cost

£m 

Accumulated 
depreciation

£m 
Net
£m 

Cost 
£m 

Accumulated 
depreciation

£m 
Net
£m 

At 1 January 4.8 (0.7) 4.1 1.1 (0.3) 0.8

Additions 2.0 – 2.0 3.7 – 3.7

Charge for the year – (1.2) (1.2) – (0.4) (0.4)

At 31 December 6.8 (1.9) 4.9 4.8 (0.7) 4.1

Plant and equipment consists of vehicles, fixtures, fittings and other office equipment. 

 

21 Investment in group companies 
   2011   2010 

Company 
Cost

£m 

Accumulated 
impairment

£m 
Net
£m 

Cost 
£m 

Accumulated 
impairment

£m 
Net
£m 

At 1 January 2,655.3 (953.7) 1,701.6 1,943.7 (1,031.2) 912.5

Additions 702.7 – 702.7 1,163.2 – 1,163.2

Transferred on demerger – – – (451.6) 5.0 (446.6)

Disposals (6.6) 4.8 (1.8) – – –

Redemption of preference shares (220.5) – (220.5) – – –

(Impairment)/Impairment reversed in the year – (14.1) (14.1) – 72.5 72.5

At 31 December 3,130.9 (963.0) 2,167.9 2,655.3 (953.7) 1,701.6

Additions in the year ended 31 December 2011 reflect the Trafford Centre acquisition. The additions during the year ended 31 December 2010 related mainly 
to internal reorganisations including those required prior to the demerger of Capco in May 2010. IAS 36 Impairment of Assets allows for reversal of impairment 
charges providing the reversal is calculated on a consistent basis to the original impairment. At 31 December 2010, this resulted in a reversal of £72.5 million.  

 

22 Joint ventures 
    2011 

 St David’s 
Limited 

Partnership
£m 

Xscape 
Braehead 

Partnership 
£m 

Other
£m 

Total
£m 

Summarised income statement  

Revenue 13.5 2.0 – 15.5

Net rental income 9.4 1.6 0.2 11.2

Net other income 0.6 – – 0.6

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property 5.3 1.4 – 6.7

Net finance costs (7.5) (1.3) – (8.8)

Profit for the year 7.8 1.7 0.2 9.7

Summarised balance sheet  

Investment and development property 272.6 24.1 – 296.7

Other non-current assets 1.0 2.6 – 3.6

Current assets 31.5 1.4 0.3 33.2

Partners’ loans (38.6) (8.4) – (47.0)

Current liabilities (65.1) (3.4) – (68.5)

Non-current liabilities (96.3) (22.7) – (119.0)

Net assets/(liabilities)  105.1 (6.4) 0.3 99.0
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22 Joint ventures (continued) 
 2010 

St David’s 
Limited 

Partnership
£m 

Xscape
Braehead

Partnership
£m 

The Great
Capital

Partnership
£m 

Empress  
State Limited 

Partnership 
£m 

Other 
£m 

Total
£m

Summarised income statement  

Revenue 13.4 0.9 – – 0.9 15.2

Net rental income 6.6 0.5 – – 0.2 7.3

Net other income 1.0 – – – – 1.0

Revaluation and sale of investment and development 
property 39.3 0.6 –

 
– – 39.9

Administration expenses (0.1) – – – – (0.1)

Net finance costs (3.1) (1.5) – – – (4.6)

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations 
43.7 (0.4) –

 
– 0.2 43.5

Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations – – 20.6
 

6.3 10.9 37.8

Profit/(loss) for the year 43.7 (0.4) 20.6 6.3 11.1 81.3

Summarised balance sheet  

Investment and development property 231.0 22.6 – – – 253.6

Other non-current assets 0.2 2.4 – – – 2.6

Current assets 35.9 1.9 – – 0.2 38.0

C&C US – assets – – – – 59.6 59.6

Partners’ loans (102.3) (8.4) – – – (110.7)

Current liabilities (28.5) (2.9) – – – (31.4)

C&C US – liabilities – – – – (33.8) (33.8)

Non-current liabilities (37.8) (24.0) – – – (61.8)

Net assets/(liabilities) 98.5 (8.4) – – 26.0 116.1

Joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using proportional consolidation. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and 
expenditure of joint ventures is included on a line-by-line basis.  

The joint ventures include the St David’s Limited Partnership and the Xscape Braehead Partnership. The St David’s Limited Partnership was established in 2004 
for investment in the existing St David’s shopping centre, Cardiff, and development of a 967,500 sq. ft. retail-led mixed-use extension. The Xscape Braehead 
Partnership was established in 2004, for investment in the Xscape Leisure Scheme at Braehead, Renfrew, Glasgow. 

All joint ventures are held with other joint venture investors on a 50:50 basis. 

 

23 Investment in associate companies 
 Group 

2011 
£m 

Group 
2010 

£m 

At 1 January 28.8 26.8

Share of profit of associates 9.0 –

Foreign exchange movement (5.3) 2.0

At 31 December 32.5 28.8

Investment in associates comprises a 25 per cent holding in Prozone Enterprises Private Limited and a 20 per cent holding in Lewis’s Liverpool LLP Private Limited. 

The results of Prozone Enterprises Private Limited are consolidated based on the year to 30 September as 31 December information is not available in time for 
these financial statements. Those results include property valuations as at 31 March 2011 as valuations are only produced once a year in accordance with local 
reporting requirements. 
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24 Other investments 
 Group

2011 
£m 

Group
2010 

£m 

At 1 January 16.4 58.3

Additions 179.3 4.2

Disposals – (10.0)

Reclassification to intercompany (6.3) –

Revaluation (17.3) 17.2

Foreign exchange movements (0.9) –

Transferred on demerger (note 41) – (53.3)

At 31 December 171.2 16.4

Additions represent the consideration received for C&C US consisting of 11.35 million units, convertible into Equity One shares, and 4.05 million shares in Equity 
One (note 41). The reclassification to intercompany results from the Trafford Centre acquisition and the elimination of the Group’s investment in Trafford CMBS. 

All these investments are available-for-sale investments and are analysed by type of investment as follows: 

 Group
2011 

£m 

Group
2010 

£m 

CMBS – 5.9

Listed securities – equity 47.1 10.5

Unlisted securities – equity 124.1 –

 171.2 16.4

Listed investments are accounted for at fair value using the bid market value at the reporting date. The Group’s unlisted securities all relate to a US venture 
controlled by Equity One. This is accounted for as an available-for-sale investment as the Group does not have control nor significant influence over the venture. 
The fair value of the investment in measured by reference to the Equity One share price as the Group can convert its investment into shares in Equity One. 

 

25 Trading property 
 Group 

2011 
£m 

Group 
2010 

£m 

Undeveloped sites – 11.5

Property in development 3.2 11.1

Completed properties 4.3 2.9

 7.5 25.5

The estimated replacement cost of trading properties, based on their market value at 31 December 2011, is £7.5 million (2010 – £27.4 million). £11.5 million in 
respect of undeveloped sites was transferred to investment and development property during the year. 

 

26 Trade and other receivables 
 Group 

2011 
£m 

 Group  
2010 

£m 

Company 
2011 

£m 

Company 
2010 

£m 

Current  

Trade receivables 19.2 15.5 – –

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings – – 562.8 616.2

Other receivables 23.4 12.7 0.9 0.1

Prepayments and accrued income 27.0 22.0 1.1 0.9

 69.6 50.2 564.8 617.2

Non-current  

Other receivables 0.2 0.2 1.2 1.5

Prepayments and accrued income 90.9 76.5 – –

 91.1 76.7 1.2 1.5

Included within prepayments and accrued income for the Group are tenant lease incentives of £101.9 million (2010 – £86.8 million). 

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and for amounts falling within formalised loan agreements, interest bearing.  
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27 Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Group 
2011 

£m 

Group  
2010  

£m 

Company 
2011 

£m 

Company 
2010 

£m 

Unrestricted cash 88.2 222.3 0.5 –

Restricted cash 2.5 – – –

 90.7 222.3 0.5 –

Cash and cash equivalents per the statements of cash flows: 

 

Group 
2011 

£m 

Group  
2010  

£m 

Company 
2011 

£m 

Company 
2010 

£m 

Unrestricted cash 88.2 222.3 0.5 –

C&C US – classified as held for sale – 20.3 – –

 88.2 242.6 0.5 –

 

28 Derivative financial instruments 
Derivative financial instruments – assets 
   2011   2010 

 

Held for 
trading

£m 

Hedging 
instruments

£m 
Total

£m 

Held for  
trading 

£m 

Hedging 
instruments

£m 
Total

£m 

Interest rate swaps 22.7 – 22.7 24.2 – 24.2

 22.7 – 22.7 24.2 – 24.2

 

Derivative financial instruments – liabilities 
   2011   2010 

 

Held for 
trading

£m 

Hedging 
instruments

£m 
Total

£m 

Held for  
trading 

£m 

Hedging 
instruments

£m 
Total

£m 

Current  

Forward foreign exchange contracts – (11.6) (11.6) – (9.3) (9.3)

Interest rate swaps (15.9) – (15.9) – – –

 (15.9) (11.6) (27.5) – (9.3) (9.3)

Non-current  

Forward foreign exchange contracts – – – – (11.3) (11.3)

Interest rate swaps (535.7) – (535.7) (343.3) – (343.3)

 (535.7) – (535.7) (343.3) (11.3) (354.6)

 (551.6) (11.6) (563.2) (343.3) (20.6) (363.9)

 

29 Trade and other payables 
 Group 

2011 
£m 

Group  
2010  

£m 

Company 
2011 

£m 

Company 
2010 

£m 

Current  

Rents received in advance 98.4 74.7 – –

Trade payables 5.4 2.7 – –

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings – – 27.9 251.8

Accruals and deferred income 112.0 64.0 6.8 18.4

Other payables 17.3 16.0 – –

Other taxes and social security 45.2 37.0 8.6 0.4

 278.3 194.4 43.3 270.6

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, repayable on demand and for amounts falling within formalised loan agreements, interest bearing. 
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30 Borrowings 
 2011 

Group 

Carrying 
value 

£m 
 Secured 

£m 
 Unsecured 

£m 

Fixed  
rate  
£m 

Floating 
rate 
£m 

Fair 
value 

£m 

Current   

Bank loans and overdrafts 18.5 18.5 – – 18.5 18.5

Commercial mortgage backed securities (“CMBS”) 
notes 41.1 41.1 – 4.1 37.0 38.1

Loan notes 2014 2.5 – 2.5 2.5 – 2.5

Current borrowings, excluding finance leases 62.1 59.6 2.5 6.6 55.5 59.1

Finance lease obligations 3.3 3.3 – 3.3 – 3.3

 65.4 62.9 2.5 9.9 55.5 62.4

Non-current  

CMBS notes 2015 994.4 994.4 – – 994.4 843.7

CMBS notes 2022 52.1 52.1 – 52.1 – 56.7

CMBS notes 2029 103.1 103.1 – 103.1 – 110.6

CMBS notes 2033 380.4 380.4 – 380.4 – 404.6

CMBS notes 2035 179.5 179.5 – – 179.5 167.4

Bank loan 2014 114.8 114.8 – – 114.8 114.8

Bank loans 2016 779.9 779.9 – – 779.9 779.9

Bank loan 2017 506.8 506.8 – – 506.8 506.8

Debentures 2027  227.1 227.1 – 227.1 – 215.5

CSC bonds 2013 26.8 – 26.8 26.8 – 26.9

Non-current borrowings excluding finance leases and 
Metrocentre compound financial instrument 3,364.9 3,338.1 26.8 789.5 2,575.4 3,226.9

Metrocentre compound financial instrument 146.6 – 146.6 146.6 – 146.6

Finance lease obligations 34.6 34.6 – 34.6 – 34.6

 3,546.1 3,372.7 173.4 970.7 2,575.4 3,408.1

Total borrowings 3,611.5 3,435.6 175.9 980.6 2,630.9 3,470.5

Cash and cash equivalents (90.7)  

Net debt 3,520.8  

Net external debt (adjusted for Metrocentre compound financial instrument) at 31 December 2011 was £3,374.2 million. 

The Group substantially eliminates its interest rate exposure to floating rate debt through the line of interest rate swaps as illustrated in note 34. 

The market value of assets secured as collateral against borrowings at 31 December 2011 is £6,781.4 million.  

The fair values have been established using the market value, where available. For those instruments without a market value, a discounted cash flow approach has 
been used. 

 2011 

Company 

Carrying 
value 

£m 
 Secured 

£m 
 Unsecured 

£m 

Fixed  
rate  
£m 

Floating 
rate 
£m 

Fair 
value 

£m 

Non-current   

Bank loan 2016 45.0 45.0 – – 45.0 45.0

 45.0 45.0 – – 45.0 45.0

Total borrowings  45.0 45.0 – – 45.0 45.0

Cash and cash equivalents (0.5)  

Net debt  44.5  
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30 Borrowings (continued) 
 2010 

Group 

Carrying
value

£m 
Secured

£m 
Unsecured

£m 

Fixed 
rate 
£m 

Floating
rate
£m 

Fair
value

£m 

Current  

Bank loans and overdrafts 16.5 16.5 – – 16.5 16.5

Commercial mortgage backed securities (“CMBS”) 
notes 25.4 25.4 – – 25.4 20.0

Current borrowings, excluding finance leases 41.9 41.9 – – 41.9 36.5

Finance lease obligations 4.1 4.1 – 4.1 – 4.1

 46.0 46.0 – 4.1 41.9 40.6

Non-current  

CMBS notes 2015 1,005.9 1,005.9 – – 1,005.9 794.6

Bank loan 2014 58.4 58.4 – – 58.4 58.4

Bank loans 2016 749.1 749.1 – – 749.1 749.1

Bank loan 2017 511.1 511.1 – – 511.1 511.1

Debentures 2027  226.9 226.9 – 226.9 – 196.5

CSC bonds 2013 26.7 – 26.7 26.7 – 27.3

Non-current borrowings excluding finance leases and 
Metrocentre compound financial instrument 2,578.1 2,551.4 26.7 253.6 2,324.5 2,337.0

Metrocentre compound financial instrument 138.7 – 138.7 138.7 – 138.7

Finance lease obligations 34.7 34.7 – 34.7 – 34.7

 2,751.5 2,586.1 165.4 427.0 2,324.5 2,510.4

Total borrowings 2,797.5 2,632.1 165.4 431.1 2,366.4 2,551.0

Cash and cash equivalents (222.3)  

Net debt 2,575.2  

Net external debt (adjusted for Metrocentre compound financial instrument) at 31 December 2010 was £2,436.5 million. 

 2010 

Company 

Carrying
value

£m 
Secured

£m 
Unsecured

£m 

Fixed 
rate 
£m 

Floating
rate
£m 

Fair
value

£m 

Current  

Finance lease obligations 0.1 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1

 0.1 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1

Total borrowings and net debt 0.1 0.1 – 0.1 – 0.1

The maturity profile of gross debt (excluding finance leases) is as follows: 

 

Group
2011

£m 

Group 
2010 

£m 

Company
2011

£m 

Company
2010

£m 

Wholly repayable within one year 62.1 41.9 – –

Wholly repayable in more than one year but not more than two years 87.2 44.3 – –

Wholly repayable in more than two years but not more than five years 1,893.3 1,124.7 45.0 –

Wholly repayable in more than five years 1,531.0 1,547.8 – –

 3,573.6 2,758.7 45.0 –

Certain borrowing agreements contain financial and other conditions that, if contravened, could alter the repayment profile.  

The Group has undrawn committed borrowing facilities. As at 31 December 2011 the Group had available facilities of £375.0 million of which £330.0 million was 
undrawn (2010 – £248.0 million) expiring in 2016. In addition there is a balance undrawn on the St David’s, Cardiff, joint venture loan facility relating to the 
development at the centre. The Group’s share of the undrawn amount is £27 million. 
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30 Borrowings (continued) 
Finance lease disclosures: 

 Group 
2011

£m 

Group
2010

£m 

Minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due: 

Not later than one year 4.7 4.1

Later than one year and not later than five years 17.9 19.1

Later than five years 71.3 74.2

 93.9 97.4

Future finance charges on finance leases (56.0) (58.6)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 37.9 38.8

 

Present value of finance lease liabilities: 

Not later than one year 3.3 4.1

Later than one year and not later than five years 13.3 15.3

Later than five years 21.3 19.4

 37.9 38.8

Finance lease liabilities are in respect of leasehold investment property. A number of the Group’s head leases provide for payment of contingent rent, usually 
a proportion of net rental income, in addition to the rents above. 

 

31 Movement in net debt 
 2011 

 

Cash and
cash

equivalents
£m 

Current 
borrowings 

£m 

Non-
current

borrowings
£m 

Net
debt
£m 

Balance at 1 January 2011 222.3 (46.0) (2,751.5) (2,575.2)

Acquired with businesses  41.2 (98.1) (751.8) (808.7)

Borrowings repaid (138.2) 138.2 – –

Borrowings drawndown 101.4 – (101.4) –

Issue of ordinary shares 44.7 – – 44.7

Issue of convertible bonds 23.7 – – 23.7

Other net cash movements (204.4) – – (204.4)

Other non-cash movements – (59.5) 58.6 (0.9)

Balance at 31 December 2011 90.7 (65.4) (3,546.1) (3,520.8)

 

 2010 

 

Cash and
cash

equivalents
£m 

Current 
borrowings 

£m 

Non-
current

borrowings
£m 

Net
debt
£m 

Balance at 1 January 2010 582.5 (148.5) (3,740.1) (3,306.1)

Discontinued operations (248.7) (29.8) 744.2 465.7

C&C US categorised as held for sale  (20.3) 56.4 159.9 196.0

Borrowings repaid (690.3) 79.2 611.1 –

Borrowings drawndown 518.7 – (518.7) –

Issue of ordinary shares 222.4 – – 222.4

Other net cash movements (142.0) – – (142.0)

Other non-cash movements – (3.3) (7.9) (11.2)

Balance at 31 December 2010 222.3 (46.0) (2,751.5) (2,575.2)
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32 Convertible bonds 
3.75 per cent convertible bonds (“the 3.75 per cent bonds”) 
On 28 January 2011 the Company issued £127.6 million, 3.75 per cent perpetual subordinated convertible bonds as part of the consideration for the acquisition of 
The Trafford Centre (note 40). As a condition of the acquisition the Company also issued to the Peel Group £26.7 million of convertible bonds for a subscription 
amount of £23.7 million and an implied issue price of the underlying shares of £3.55 per share. 

A total of £154.3 million convertible bonds were issued and remain outstanding at 31 December 2011. These are accounted for as equity at their fair value on 
issue which totalled £143.7 million. 

The convertible bonds can be converted at the option of the bondholder at any time from 28 January 2013 at £4.00 per ordinary share, a conversion rate of 
250 ordinary shares for every £1,000 nominal. Full conversion would result in 38,579,250 ordinary shares being issued. 

The convertible bonds may be redeemed at their principal amount at the Company’s option on 28 January 2014 or any subsequent interest payment date 
thereafter, or at any time once 85 per cent or more of the principal amount of the bonds originally issued have been converted or cancelled. 

During the year interest of £5.3 million has been recognised on these bonds directly in equity. 

3.95 per cent convertible bonds due 2010 (“the 3.95 per cent bonds”) 
On 16 October 2003, the Company issued £240 million nominal 3.95 per cent bonds raising £233.5 million after costs. At the time of issue, the holders of the 
3.95 per cent bonds had the option to convert their bonds into ordinary shares at any time on or up to 23 September 2010 at £8.00 per ordinary share, a 
conversion rate of 125 ordinary shares for every £1,000 nominal of 3.95 per cent bonds. On 28 May 2009, following the Firm Placing and Placing and Open Offer, 
the conversion price was adjusted to £7.16 per share, a conversion rate of approximately 139.66 ordinary shares for every £1,000 nominal of 3.95 per cent bonds. 
On 5 October 2009, following a placing of shares, the conversion price was adjusted to £7.08 per share, a conversion rate of approximately 141.24 ordinary shares 
for every £1,000 nominal of 3.95 per cent bonds. On demerger in May 2010, the conversion price was adjusted to £5.31 per share, a conversion rate of 
approximately 188.32 ordinary shares per £1,000 nominal of 3.95 per cent bonds. 

The 3.95 per cent bonds were redeemable at par at the Company’s option subject to the Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC ordinary share price having traded 
at 120 per cent of the conversion price for a specified period, or at anytime once 85 per cent by nominal value of the bonds originally issued had been converted 
or cancelled. Unless otherwise converted, cancelled or redeemed the 3.95 per cent bonds were to be redeemed by Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC at par 
on 30 September 2010. On demerger the terms were adjusted to allow bondholders to redeem the bonds at par plus accrued interest at any time until shortly 
before maturity. 

On 2 January 2009, notices were accepted by the Company in respect of £13.0 million of bonds representing 14.1 per cent of the 3.95 per cent bonds outstanding 
on 31 December 2008. The bonds converted into 1.7 million new ordinary shares.  

During 2010 and prior to 30 September, £6.5 million of bonds were redeemed under the bondholders put option available as a result of the revised terms 
following the demerger. 

On 30 September 2010 Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC redeemed on maturity all the outstanding 3.95 per cent bonds at par. 

The net proceeds received from the initial issue of the convertible bonds was split between the liability element and an equity component, representing the fair 
value of the embedded option to convert the liability into equity as follows: 

 Group and Company 

 2010
£m 

Net proceeds of convertible bonds issued 233.5

Equity component (19.6)

Liability at date of issue 213.9

Cumulative amortisation 19.2

Cumulative conversions (153.9)

Cumulative redemptions (79.2)

Liability at 31 December –

33 Operating leases 
The Group earns rental income by leasing its investment properties to tenants under operating leases. 

In the UK the standard shopping centre lease is for a term of 10 to 15 years. Standard lease provisions include service charge payments, recovery of other direct 
costs and review every five years to market rent. Standard turnover based leases have a turnover percentage agreed with each lessee which is applied to a retail 
unit’s annual sales and any excess between the resulting turnover rent and the minimum rent is receivable by the Group.  

The future minimum lease amounts receivable under non-cancellable operating leases for continuing operations are as follows: 

 2011
£m 

2010
£m 

Not later than one year 421.6 345.2

Later than one year and not later than five years 1,342.6 1,139.3

Later than five years 1,344.5 1,493.3

 3,108.7 2,977.8

The income statement includes £1.0 million (2010 – £0.6 million) recognised in respect of expected increased rent resulting from outstanding reviews where the 
actual rent will only be determined on settlement of the rent review. 
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34 Financial risk management 
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks arising from the Group’s operations being principally market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign exchange 
and market price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. 

The majority of the Group’s financial risk management is carried out by the Group treasury department and the policies for managing each of these risks and the 
principal effects of these policies on the results for the year are summarised below. 

Market risk 
a) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk comprises of both cash flow and fair value risks. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes 
in market interest rates. 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings issued at variable rates that expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk, whereas borrowings issued at 
fixed interest rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. 

Bank debt is typically issued at floating rates linked to LIBOR. Bond debt and other capital market debt are generally issued at fixed rates.  

It is Group policy, and often a requirement of the Group’s lenders, to eliminate substantially all short and medium-term exposure to interest rate fluctuations in 
order to establish certainty over medium-term cash flows by using floating to fixed interest rate swaps. Such swaps have the economic effect of converting 
borrowings from floating to fixed rates.  

As a consequence, the Group is exposed to market price risk in respect of the fair value of its fixed rate interest rate swaps, as discussed in the Financial review on 
pages 41 to 47. 

The table below shows the effects of interest rate swaps on the borrowings profile of the Group: 

 Fixed
2011

£m 

Floating 
2011 

£m 

Fixed
2010

£m 

Floating
2010

£m 

Borrowings 980.6 2,630.9 431.1 2,366.4

Derivative impact (nominal value of interest rate swaps) 2,476.7 (2,476.7) 2,117.6 (2,117.6)

Net borrowings profile 3,457.3 154.2 2,548.7 248.8

Interest rate protection on floating debt 94.1% 89.5%

Group policy is to target interest rate protection within the range of 75 per cent to 100 per cent. 

The weighted average rate for interest rate swaps currently effective is 4.38 per cent (2010 – 4.98 per cent). 

The approximate impact of a 50 basis point shift upwards in the level of interest rates would be a positive movement of £93.6 million (2010 – £93.8 million) in the 
fair value of derivatives. The approximate impact of a 50 basis point shift downwards in the level of interest rates would be a negative movement of £102.7 million 
(2010 – £97.7 million) in the fair value of derivatives. Movements in the fair value of derivatives are dealt with in the income statement. In practice, a parallel shift in 
the yield curve is highly unlikely. However, the above sensitivity analysis is a reasonable illustration of the possible effect from the changes in slope and shifts in the 
yield curve that may actually occur. Because the fixed rate derivative financial instruments are matched by floating rate debt, the overall effect on Group cash flow 
of such a movement would be very small. 

Details of interest rate swap contracts in place as at 31 December 2011 are included in the Financial review on page 46, which shows the interest costs to the 
Group will be subject to in the future regardless of changes in market interest rates for the nominal amount of debt in the contract. 

b) Foreign exchange 
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a functional currency other than sterling. 
It has been Group policy to partially eliminate the foreign exchange risk through hedging instruments and foreign currency denominated borrowings. This policy 
will continue to be reviewed as existing swaps mature. 

The table summarises the Group exposure to foreign currency risk arising from the Group’s investments at 31 December 2011: 

 

Group 
2011

US$m 

Group
2010

US$m 

Net assets (total US dollar exposure) 261.8 199.7

Derivative impact (nominal forward foreign exchange swaps) (140.0) (140.0)

Net exposure 121.8 59.7

Prior to its disposal on 4 January 2011 the Group’s hedge was against its net investment in C&C US. Following this the Group has a fair value hedge against its US 
available-for-sale investments. 

There was no ineffectiveness arising as a result of these hedges in either year. 

Certain other Group investments are denominated in Indian Rupees other than sterling, however, they do not currently constitute material risks under the Group 
risk framework. This remains under constant review.  

 Group
2011

£m 

Group
2010

£m 

INR 35.2 39.3

Total unhedged exposure 35.2 39.3
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34 Financial risk management (continued) 
Sensitivity analysis – impact on Group reserves: 

 Group
2011

£m 

Group
2010

£m 

10 per cent appreciation in foreign exchange rates 8.2 8.5

10 per cent depreciation in foreign exchange rates (10.1) (10.4)

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is managed to ensure that the Group is able to meet future payment obligations when financial liabilities fall due. Liquidity analysis is conducted to 
ensure that sufficient headroom is available to meet the Group’s operational requirements and committed investments. The Group treasury policy aims to meet 
this objective through maintaining adequate cash, marketable securities and committed facilities to meet these requirements. Undrawn borrowing facilities are 
detailed in note 30. The Group’s policy is to seek to optimise its exposure to liquidity risk by balancing its exposure to interest rate risk and to refinancing risk. 
In effect the Group seeks to borrow for as long as possible at the lowest acceptable cost. 

Group policy is to maintain a weighted average debt maturity of over five years: as at 31 December 2011, the maturity profile of Group debt showed an average 
maturity of seven years (2010 – six years). The Group regularly reviews the maturity profile of its borrowings and seeks to avoid bunching of maturities through 
the regular replacement of facilities and by using a selection of maturity dates. Refinancing risk may be reduced by re-borrowing prior to the contracted maturity 
date, effectively switching liquidity risk for market risk.  

The Group may choose to pre-fund significant capital expenditure by arranging facilities or raising debt in the capital markets and then placing surplus funds 
on deposit until required for the project. Efficient treasury management and strict credit control minimise the costs and risk associated with this policy which 
ensures that funds are available to meet commitments as they fall due. 

The tables below set out the maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities based on the undiscounted contractual obligations to make payments of interest and 
to repay principal (including notional principal in the case of gross settled foreign exchange contracts). Where interest payment obligations are based on a floating 
rate the rates used are those implied by the par yield curve for the relevant currency. Where payment obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate 
ruling at the balance sheet date is used. 

 2011 

Group 
Within 1 year

£m 
1–2 years

£m 
2–5 years  

£m 
Over 5 years

£m 
Total

£m 

Borrowings (including interest) (158.7) (195.4) (2,189.5) (2,075.5) (4,619.1)

Finance lease obligations  (4.7) (4.7) (13.2) (71.3) (93.9)

Tax, trade payables and other payables  (67.9) (0.1) – – (68.0)

Derivative payments (225.7) (143.2) (319.9) (604.1) (1,292.9)

Derivative receipts 120.0 40.9 115.9 421.1 697.9

 (337.0) (302.5) (2,406.7) (2,329.8) (5,376.0)

 

 2010 

Group 
Within 1 year

£m 
1–2 years

£m 
2–5 years  

£m 
Over 5 years

£m 
Total

£m 

Borrowings (including interest) (110.9) (122.2) (1,502.3) (1,654.0) (3,389.4)

Finance lease obligations  (4.1) (4.7) (14.4) (74.2) (97.4)

Tax, trade payables and other payables  (55.7) (0.3) – – (56.0)

Derivative payments (154.6) (186.5) (389.4) (480.2) (1,210.7)

Derivative receipts 60.3 84.4 266.8 430.5 842.0

 (265.0) (229.3) (1,639.3) (1,777.9) (3,911.5)

 

 2011 

Company 
Within 1 year

£m 
1–2 years

£m 
2–5 years 

£m 
Over 5 years

£m 
Total

£m 

Borrowings (including interest) (1.3) (1.3) (48.8) – (51.4)

Tax and other payables (8.6) – – – (8.6)

 (9.9) (1.3) (48.8) – (60.0)

 

 2010 

Company 
Within 1 year

£m 
1–2 years

£m 
2–5 years 

£m 
Over 5 years

£m 
Total

£m 

Borrowings (including interest) (0.1) – – – (0.1)

Tax and other payables (0.4) – – – (0.4)

 (0.5) – – – (0.5)
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34 Financial risk management (continued) 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a tenant or counterparty fails to meet an obligation under a contract. Credit risk arises primarily from trade receivables 
relating to tenants but also from the Group’s holdings of assets with counterparties such as cash deposits, loans and derivative instruments. 

Credit risk associated with trade receivables is actively managed; tenants are managed individually by asset managers, who continuously monitor and work with 
tenants, anticipating and, wherever possible, identifying and addressing risks prior to default. 

Prospective tenants are assessed via a review process, including obtaining credit ratings and reviewing financial information, which is conducted internally. As a result 
deposits or guarantees may be obtained. The amount of deposits held as collateral at 31 December 2011 is £3.1 million (2010 – £2.5 million). 

Due to the nature of tenants being managed individually by asset managers, it is Group policy to calculate any impairment of receivables specifically on each 
contract. 

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 

 

Group
2011

£m 

Group
2010

£m 

Up to three months 17.8 12.3

Three to six months 1.4 3.2

Trade receivables 19.2 15.5

At 31 December 2011 trade receivables are shown net of provisions totalling £4.3 million (2010 – £2.6 million). 

The credit risk relating to cash, deposits and derivative financial instruments is actively managed by the Group’s treasury department. Relationships are maintained 
with a number of tier one institutional counterparties, ensuring compliance with Group policy relating to limits on the credit ratings of counterparties (between 
BBB+ and AAA). 

Excessive credit risk concentration is avoided through adhering to authorised limits for all counterparties. 

Counterparty Credit rating 
Authorised

limit 

Group
Exposure

31 December 2011
£m 

Counterparty #1 A 100.0 45.9

Counterparty #2 AA– 100.0 32.6

Counterparty #3 A– 15.0 11.4

Counterparty #4 A 100.0 7.9

Counterparty #5 AAA 150.0 6.5

Sum of five largest exposures  104.3

Sum of cash deposits and derivative financial instrument assets  113.4

Five largest exposures as a percentage of total amount at risk  92%
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34 Financial risk management (continued) 
Classification of financial assets and liabilities  
The tables below set out the Group’s accounting classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, and their fair values at 31 December 2011 and 
31 December 2010. 

The fair values of quoted borrowings are based on the ask price. The fair values of derivative financial instruments are determined from observable market prices 
or estimated using appropriate yield curves at 31 December each year by discounting the future contractual cash flows to the net present values. 

 2011 

 

Carrying
value

£m 

Fair 
value 

£m 

Loss to
 income 

statement
£m 

Loss to
other comprehensive 

income
£m 

Derivative financial instrument assets 22.7 22.7 – –

Total held for trading assets 22.7 22.7 – –

Trade and other receivables 160.7 160.7 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 90.7 90.7 – –

Total cash and receivables 251.4 251.4 – –

Other investments 171.2 171.2 (8.7) (8.6)

Total available-for-sale investments 171.2 171.2 (8.7) (8.6)

Derivative financial instrument liabilities (563.2) (563.2) (193.4) –

Total held for trading liabilities (563.2) (563.2) (193.4) –

Trade and other payables (278.4) (278.4) – –

Borrowings (3,611.5) (3,470.5) – –

Total loans and payables (3,889.9) (3,748.9) – –

 

 2010 

 

Carrying
value

£m 

Fair 
value 

£m 

Loss to
income 

statement
£m 

Gain/(loss) to
other comprehensive 

income
£m 

Derivative financial instrument assets 24.2 24.2 – –

Total held for trading assets 24.2 24.2 – –

Trade and other receivables 126.9 126.9 – –

Cash and cash equivalents 222.3 222.3 – –

Total cash and receivables 349.2 349.2 – –

Other investments 16.4 16.4 (2.6) 17.2

Total available-for-sale investments 16.4 16.4 (2.6) 17.2

Derivative financial instrument liabilities (363.9) (363.9) (50.0) (7.1)

Total held for trading liabilities (363.9) (363.9) (50.0) (7.1)

Trade and other payables (194.7) (194.7) – –

Borrowings (2,797.5) (2,551.0) – –

Total loans and payables (2,992.2) (2,745.7) – –
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34 Financial risk management (continued) 
The table below presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value. 

    2011 

 Level 1
£m 

Level 2 
£m 

Level 3
£m 

Total 
£m 

Assets  

Derivative financial instruments:  

– Fair value through profit or loss – 22.7 – 22.7

– Derivatives used for hedging – – – –

Available for sale investments 44.4 126.8 – 171.2

Total assets 44.4 149.5 – 193.9

  

Liabilities  

Derivative financial instruments:  

– Fair value through profit or loss – (551.6) – (551.6)

– Derivatives used for hedging – (11.6) – (11.6)

Total liabilities – (563.2) – (563.2)

 

    2010 

 Level 1
£m 

Level 2 
£m 

Level 3
£m 

Total 
£m 

Assets  

Derivative financial instruments:  

– Fair value through profit or loss – 24.2 – 24.2

– Derivatives used for hedging – – – –

Available for sale investments – 10.5 5.9 16.4

Total assets – 34.7 5.9 40.6

  

Liabilities  

Derivative financial instruments:  

– Fair value through profit or loss – (343.3) – (343.3)

– Derivatives used for hedging – (20.6) – (20.6)

Total liabilities – (363.9) – (363.9)

Fair value hierarchy 
Level 1: Valuation based on quoted market prices traded in active markets. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques are used, maximising the use of observable market data, either directly from market prices or derived from market prices. 

Level 3: Where one or more inputs to valuation are not based on observable market data. Valuations at this level are more subjective and therefore more 
closely managed, including sensitivity analysis of inputs to valuation models. Such testing has not indicated that any material difference would arise due to a change 
in input variables. 
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34 Financial risk management (continued) 
The table below presents a reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurements for the year: 

 

Debt 
securities 

£m 

Unlisted
equity

investments
£m 

Total 
£m 

At 1 January 2010 7.7 45.9 53.6

Disposals (9.5) (0.5) (10.0)

Unrealised gains 7.7 7.9 15.6

Transferred on demerger – (53.3) (53.3)

At 31 December 2010 5.9 – 5.9

Unrealised gains 0.4 – 0.4

Reclassification to intercompany (6.3) – (6.3)

At 31 December 2011 – – –

 

Capital structure 
The Group seeks to enhance shareholder value both by investing in the business so as to improve the return on investment and by managing the capital structure. 
The Group uses a mix of equity, debt and hybrid financial instruments and aims to access both debt and equity capital markets with maximum efficiency and 
flexibility.  

The key ratios used to monitor the capital structure of the Group are the debt to assets ratio and interest cover. The Group’s stated medium to long-term 
preference is for the debt to assets ratio to be within the 40–50 per cent range and interest cover to be greater than 1.60x. At 31 December 2011 the debt to 
asset ratio continues to fall within the preferred range and the interest cover ratio has moved above the preferred level. 

Debt to assets ratio 

Group
2011

£m 

Group
2010

£m 

Market value of investment and development property 6,960.2 5,099.1

Net external debt (3,374.2) (2,436.5)

 48% 48%

 

Interest cover 

Group 
2011

£m 

Group
2010

£m 

Interest payable (198.9) (165.4)

Interest receivable 0.8 3.1

Interest on convertible bonds recognised directly in equity (5.3) –

 (203.4) (162.3)

Underlying operating profit 347.7 254.6

Remove trading property related items 0.5 (0.7)

 348.2 253.9

 1.71x 1.56x
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35 Deferred tax provision 
Under IAS 12 Income Taxes, provision is made for the deferred tax assets and liabilities associated with the revaluation of assets and liabilities at the corporate tax 
rate expected to apply to the Group at the time the temporary differences are expected to reverse. For those UK assets and liabilities benefitting from REIT 
exemption, the relevant tax rate will be 0 per cent (2010 – 0 per cent), and for other assets and liabilities the relevant tax rate will be the prevailing corporate tax 
rate in the relevant country.  

Movements in the provision for deferred tax 

Other
investments

£m 

Derivative 
financial  

instruments 
£m 

Other
temporary
differences

£m 
Total

£m 

Provided deferred tax provision:  

At 1 January 2010 (2.9) (4.5) 44.5 37.1

C&C US transferred to held for sale – – (37.1) (37.1)

Recognised in the income statement – (2.3) (0.5) (2.8)

Recognised directly in other comprehensive income  2.9 – (0.1) 2.8

Transferred on demerger – 2.6 (2.6) –

At 31 December 2010 – (4.2) 4.2 –

Recognised in the income statement 7.6 (4.1) (1.2) 2.3

Recognised directly in other comprehensive income  (2.6) 0.3 – (2.3)

At 31 December 2011 5.0 (8.0) 3.0 –

Unrecognised deferred tax asset:  

At 1 January 2011 – (15.7) (13.9) (29.6)

Income statement items – (23.4) (9.2) (32.6)

At 31 December 2011 – (39.1) (23.1) (62.2)

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 12 Income Taxes, the deferred tax asset has not been recognised in the Group financial statements due to uncertainty 
over the level of profits that will be available in the non-REIT elements of the Group in future periods. 

 

36 Other provisions 

 

Group
2011

£m 

Group 
2010 

£m 

Company
2011

£m 

Company
2010

£m 

At 1 January  1.2 8.6 – 1.1

Charged during the year – 0.1 – –

Released during the year – – – (1.1)

Transferred on demerger (note 41) – (7.5) – –

At 31 December 1.2 1.2 – –

 

37 Share capital 
 £m 

Issued and fully paid 

At 31 December 2010 – 692,673,009 ordinary shares of 50p each 346.3

Shares issued 83.9

At 31 December 2011 – 860,347,169 ordinary shares of 50p each 430.2

On 28 January 2011 the Company issued 155,000,000 ordinary shares as part of the consideration for the acquisition of The Trafford Centre (note 40). 
As a condition of the acquisition the Company issued to the Peel Group a further 12,316,817 ordinary shares for cash at £3.55 per share. 

During the year the Company issued a total of 357,343 ordinary shares in connection with the exercise of options by former employees under the Capital 
Shopping Centres Group PLC Approved Share Option Scheme and the Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC Unapproved Share Option Scheme. 

Full details of the rights and obligations attaching to the ordinary shares are contained in the Company’s Articles of Association. These rights include an entitlement 
to receive the Company’s report and accounts, to attend and speak at General Meetings of the Company, to appoint proxies and to exercise voting rights. 
Holders of ordinary shares may also receive dividends and may receive a share of the Company’s assets on the Company’s liquidation. There are no restrictions 
on the transfer of the ordinary shares. 

At 23 February 2012, the Company had an unexpired authority to repurchase shares up to a maximum of 85,904,610 shares with a nominal value of £43.0 million, 
and the Directors have an unexpired authority to allot up to a maximum of 286,348,702 shares with a nominal value of £143.2 million. 

Included within the issued share capital as at 31 December 2011 are 6,840,963 ordinary shares held by the Trustee of the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) 
which is operated by the Company (note 39). At 31 December 2010 issued share capital included 5,856,736 ordinary shares held by the Trustee of the ESOP and 
1,050,000 treasury shares. The nominal value of these shares at 31 December 2011 is £3.4 million (2010 – £3.5 million). 

On 25 November 2011, the Company transferred for nil consideration 1,050,000 ordinary shares, which had been previously repurchased by the Company and 
were held as treasury shares, to the Trustee of the Group’s Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) in accordance with Section 727 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Following the transfer, as at 31 December 2011 the Company no longer holds any treasury shares. 
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38 Other reserves 

Group 

Capital
redemption

£m 

Translation 
reserve 

£m 
Other

£m 
Total

£m 

At 1 January 2010 61.4 13.8 211.7 286.9

Revaluation of other investments – – 17.2 17.2

Recognised in sale of other investments – – 2.6 2.6

Exchange differences – (1.1) – (1.1)

Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income – – (2.8) (2.8)

Ordinary shares issued – – 185.1 185.1

Demerger effected by way of repayment of capital – – 38.6 38.6

At 31 December 2010 61.4 12.7 452.4 526.5

Revaluation of other investments – – (17.3) (17.3)

Recognised in impairment of other investments – – 8.7 8.7

Recognised in gain on disposal of subsidiaries – – (10.9) (10.9)

Exchange differences – (5.5) – (5.5)

Tax on items taken directly to other comprehensive income – – 2.3 2.3

Realisation of merger reserve – – (185.1) (185.1)

At 31 December 2011 61.4 7.2 250.1 318.7

 

Company 

Capital 
redemption 

£m 
Other

£m 
Total

£m 

At 1 January 2010 61.4 0.3 61.7

Ordinary shares issued – 185.1 185.1

Reserve transfer – (0.3) (0.3)

At 31 December 2010 61.4 185.1 246.5

Realisation of merger reserve – (185.1) (185.1)

At 31 December 2011 61.4 – 61.4

During 2011 the merger reserve created as part of the November 2010 capital raise associated with the acquisition of The Trafford Centre has been realised 
and transferred to retained earnings. 

 

39 Treasury shares and Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) 
The cost of shares in Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC held either as treasury shares or by the Trustee of the Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) 
operated by the Company is accounted for as a deduction from equity. 

The purpose of the ESOP is to acquire and hold shares which will be transferred to employees in the future under the Group’s employee incentive arrangements 
as described in note 48 and the Director’s remuneration report on pages 72 to 83. Dividends of £0.79 million (2010 – £0.01 million) in respect of these shares 
have been waived by agreement. 

 Group and Company 

 

2011
Shares
million 

2011 
£m 

2010
Shares
million 

2010
£m 

At 1 January 6.9 29.9 1.3 9.7

Acquisition of treasury shares 0.1 0.2 6.1 20.9

Disposal of treasury shares (0.2) (0.6) (0.5) (0.7)

At 31 December  6.8 29.5 6.9 29.9

 

40 Business combinations 
Acquisition of The Trafford Centre 
On 28 January 2011 the Group acquired 100 per cent of the share capital of Tokenhouse Holdings Limited (renamed CSC Trafford Centre Group Limited) for 
consideration consisting of 155.0 million ordinary shares in the Company and £127.6 million, 3.75 per cent perpetual subordinated convertible bonds 
(the ”convertible bonds”). As a condition of the acquisition the Company also issued to the Peel Group 12,316,817 ordinary shares for £3.55 each and 
convertible bonds with a nominal value of £26.7 million convertible into 6,679,250 ordinary shares, for a subscription amount of £23.7 million and an implied 
issue price of the underlying shares of £3.55 each. Total exceptional administration expenses associated with the acquisition and integration are £21.6 million 
of which £4.0 million were recognised in 2010 and the balance of £17.6 million in 2011. 

Through its subsidiaries CSC Trafford Centre Group Limited owns and operates The Trafford Centre in Manchester. Further details of the business are given in 
the Business review. 

The fair value of the consideration paid has been assessed as £702.7 million, consisting of £582.8 million in respect of the ordinary shares and £119.9 million in 
respect of the convertible bonds. The fair value has been assessed using the Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC opening share price on 28 January 2011 of £3.76, 
being the share price at the point the acquisition took place. 

 



Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC
Annual Report 2011

Overview Business model
and strategy

Business 
review

Financial 
review

Corporate 
responsibility

Governance Accounts Other 
information

 

119

40 Business combinations (continued) 
The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired is set out in the table below. 

 
Book value 

£m 
Fair value adjustment

£m 
Fair value

£m 

Assets  

Investment and development property 1,653.6 (3.6) 1,650.0

Plant and equipment 0.4 – 0.4

Cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash of £3.6 million) 41.2 – 41.2

Trade and other receivables 18.8 (12.9) 5.9

Total assets 1,714.0 (16.5) 1,697.5

Liabilities  

Borrowings (833.3) (16.6) (849.9)

Trade and other payables (90.1) 15.6 (74.5)

Derivative financial instruments (17.5) – (17.5)

Total liabilities (940.9) (1.0) (941.9)

Net assets 773.1 (17.5) 755.6

Fair value of consideration paid  702.7

Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries  52.9

The book values disclosed are under IFRS and after allowing for the impact of joining the REIT regime. The trade and other liabilities book value includes the REIT 
entry charge of £33.0 million. 

The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired exceeds the fair value of the consideration and as a result a gain of £52.9 million is recognised in the income 
statement on acquisition. This gain reflects the CSC share price at the date of the acquisition of £3.76 which, in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, is 
required to be used to assess the fair value of the consideration for acquisition accounting purposes. The acquisition was however agreed based on an issue price of 
the CSC ordinary shares of £4.00. The difference between the agreed issue price of £4.00 and the share price at the date the acquisition was completed of £3.76 
is the principal reason for recording an accounting gain on the acquisition.  

Amounts disclosed have been adjusted from those reported in the Group’s interim financial statements to reflect the finalisation of the review of the acquired net 
assets and liabilities. This has resulted in an increase of £1.4 million in the trade and other payables recognised with a resulting reduction in the gain in the income 
statement. 

During the year the acquired companies contributed £80.5 million to the revenue of the Group and £25.4 million to the profit for the year. The acquisition 
of The Trafford Centre has contributed £29.6 million to the underlying earnings of the Group for the year including the deduction of £5.3 million in relation to 
interest on the convertible bonds which is deducted directly in equity. Had the acquisition taken place at 1 January 2011 the revenue of the Group for the year 
would have been £524.1 million and the profit for the year would have been £36.3 million. 

Acquisition of Broadmarsh 
On 1 December 2011 the Group acquired a 100 per cent interest in The Broadmarsh Retail Limited Partnership for an initial cash consideration of £72.8 million. 
The final consideration will be adjusted for the agreed net assets value of the business at 1 December 2011 which is expected to result in a reduction to the 
purchase price of £2.1 million. The fair value of the consideration is therefore assessed as £70.7 million. Exceptional administration costs of £3.3 million associated 
with the acquisition have been recognised in the income statement. 

The Broadmarsh Retail Limited Partnership owns and manages the Broadmarsh shopping centre, Nottingham. 

The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired is set out in the table below. 

 
Book value 

£m 
Fair value adjustment

£m 
Fair value

£m 

Investment and development property 63.9 1.1 65.0

Trade and other receivables 1.6 (1.1) 0.5

Trade and other payables (4.1) – (4.1)

Net assets 61.4 – 61.4

Fair value of consideration paid  70.7

Goodwill recognised on acquisition  9.3

The fair value of the consideration exceeds the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and as a result goodwill of £9.3 million is recognised in the balance 
sheet on acquisition. This goodwill represents future cash flows which the Group expects to receive as a result of the acquisition.  

During the year the acquired business contributed £0.3 million to the revenue of the Group and £0.1 million to the profit for the year. Had the acquisition taken 
place at 1 January 2011 the revenue of the Group for the year would have been £521.2 million and the profit for the year would have been £53.0 million.  
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41 Discontinued operations 
Disposal of C&C US 
In 2010 the Group entered into an agreement with Equity One, pursuant to which Equity One agreed to acquire the Group’s interests in its US subsidiaries 
(C&C US), through a venture with CSC. The transaction was completed on 4 January 2011. Consideration consisted of 11.35 million units in the venture and 
4.05 million shares in Equity One common stock. Based on the Equity One share price on 4 January of $18.15 and an exchange rate on that day of 1.56, the 
consideration had a fair value of £179.3 million at the date of the transaction and the net assets exchanged had a book value of £147.3 million including a deferred 
tax liability on investment property of £47.7 million. After taking into account costs of the transaction of £2.5 million, and the transfer of related hedging and 
foreign currency balances from equity of £10.9 million, a profit of £40.4 million has been recognised in the income statement as summarised in the table below. 

  £m 

Fair value of consideration received 179.3

Book value of net assets (147.3)

Costs of the transaction (2.5)

Cumulative foreign currency and hedging balances transferred from reserves 10.9

Gain on sale of subsidiaries 40.4

The total assets and total liabilities of C&C US were classified as held for sale and separately disclosed on the face of the balance sheet at 31 December 2010. 
These comprised: 

  £m 

Assets 

Investment and development property 375.8

Plant and equipment 0.1

Trading property 6.8

Trade and other receivables 20.9

Cash and cash equivalents 20.3

C&C US – assets 423.9

Liabilities 

Trade and other payables (10.2)

Current tax liabilities (2.4)

Borrowings (216.3)

Deferred tax provision (47.7)

C&C US – liabilities (276.6)

C&C US – net assets 147.3

The following amounts were included for C&C US in the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010 within profit for the year from discontinued 
operations: 

   
2010

£m 

Revenue  47.9

Net rental income  25.7

Net other income  2.3

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property  22.4

Administration expenses  (2.6)

Operating profit  47.8

Net finance costs  (12.6)

Profit before tax  35.2

Taxation  (11.5)

Profit for the year  23.7

Underlying earnings  10.9

Underlying earnings for the year ended 31 December 2010 included a taxation charge of £1.9 million. 
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41 Discontinued operations (continued) 
Demerger 

On 9 March 2010 Liberty International PLC (renamed Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC on 7 May 2010) announced its intention to separate into two 
businesses, CSC and Capco. The separation was effected by way of a demerger of the central London focused property investment and development division 
to a new company called Capital & Counties Properties PLC (Capco). The demerger became unconditional on 7 May 2010. 

The demerger was effected through a reduction of capital. This involved the cancellation of the share premium account followed by the transfer of demerged 
assets to Capco in consideration for which Capco issued to shareholders of CSC one ordinary share for each CSC ordinary share held. 

The share premium account cancelled amounted to £1,005.7 million. The book value of assets and liabilities transferred to Capco, as recorded in the consolidated 
accounts of CSC, was £799.8 million. The assets and liabilities transferred were: 

  £m 

Assets 

Investment and development property 1,301.4

Plant and equipment 0.8

Other investments 53.3

Trading property 0.3

Current tax assets 0.6

Trade and other receivables 40.4

Cash and cash equivalents 179.2

Total assets 1,576.0

Liabilities 

Trade and other payables (49.7)

Borrowings (660.7)

Derivative financial instruments (58.3)

Other provisions (7.5)

Total liabilities (776.2)

Net assets 799.8

As a result of the demerger Capco was classified as a discontinued operation in the financial statements. 

The following amounts were included for Capco in the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010 within profit for the year from discontinued 
operations: 

 
2010

£m 

Revenue 45.4

Net rental income 30.1

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property 60.9

Administration expenses (7.6)

Operating profit 83.4

Net finance costs (23.6)

Profit before tax 59.8

Taxation (0.5)

Profit for the period 59.3
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42 Capital commitments 
At 31 December 2011, the Group was contractually committed to £34.6 million (2010 – £90.1 million) of future expenditure for the purchase, construction, 
development and enhancement of investment property. The majority of this is expected to be spent in 2012. 

The Group’s share of joint venture commitments included above at 31 December 2011 was £13.3 million (2010 – £63.0 million). 

 

43 Contingent liabilities 
As at 31 December 2011, the Group has no material contingent liabilities other than those arising in the normal course of business. 

 

44 Cash generated from operations 

 Notes 

Group
2011

£m 

Group 
2010 

£m 

Company
2011

£m 

Company
2010

£m 

Continuing operations  

Profit/(loss) before tax 27.2 446.2 (43.9) (575.2)

Remove:  

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property 7 (63.0) (497.2) – –

Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries 40 (52.9) – – –

Gain on sale of subsidiaries 41 (40.4) – – –

Impairment and sale of other investments 8.7 2.6 – –

Depreciation 1.4 0.4 1.2 0.4

Share-based payments 3.6 1.0 3.6 1.0

Amortisation of lease incentives and other direct costs (4.0) (5.3) – 0.1

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of investment in Group companies – – 14.1 (72.5)

Intercompany balances forgiven on demerger – –  – 696.7

IFRIC 17 gain on demerger – – – (71.9)

Finance costs 12 198.9 165.4 7.2 7.5

Finance income (0.8) (3.1) – (8.9)

Other finance costs 13 55.7 75.1 5.5 1.2

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments 193.4 50.0 – –

Changes in working capital:  

Change in trading property 6.5 4.5 – –

Change in trade and other receivables (11.6) (21.1) (0.9) 31.1

Change in trade and other payables 0.3 8.3 46.3 (46.6)

Cash generated from operations 323.0 226.8 33.1 (37.1)
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45 Principal subsidiary undertakings 
Company and principal activity Class of share capital % held 

• Barton Square Limited1 (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100

• Capital Shopping Centres PLC1 (property and its principal subsidiary undertakings): Ordinary shares of 50p each 100 

 Belside Limited (property) (Jersey) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 Braehead Glasgow Limited (property) “A” Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 “B” Ordinary shares of 1.3 Euros each 100 

 Braehead Park Investments Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 Braehead Park Estates Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 Broadmarsh Retail General Partner Limited1 acting as General Partner of The Broadmarsh 

 Retail Limited Partnership 

“A” Ordinary shares of £1 each

“B” Ordinary shares of £1 each

100

100

 Chapelfield GP Limited acting as General Partner of The Chapelfield 
 Partnership (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 CSC Harlequin Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 CSC Lakeside Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 CSC Enterprises Limited (commercial promotion) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 CSC Properties Investments Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 CSC Bromley Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 CSC Uxbridge (Jersey) Limited (property) (Jersey) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 Curley Limited (property) (Jersey) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 Metrocentre (GP) Limited acting as General Partner of The Metrocentre  
 Partnership (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 1002

 VCP (GP) Limited acting as General Partner of The Victoria Centre Partnership Ordinary shares of £1 each 100

 WRP Management Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

• Capital Shopping Centres Debenture PLC1 (finance) and its principal subsidiary undertakings: Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 CSC (Eldon) Square Limited (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 Steventon Limited (property) (Jersey) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

 Potteries (GP) Limited acting as General Partner of The Potteries  
 Shopping Centre Limited Partnership (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

• CSC Ventures Limited1 (holding company) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100

• Liberty International Group Treasury Limited1 (treasury management) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100 

• Liberty International Holdings Limited1 (holding company) Ordinary shares of 50p each 100

• Nailsfield Limited (holding company) (Mauritius) Ordinary shares of US$1 each 100 

• The Trafford Centre Finance Limited1 (finance) (Cayman Islands) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100

• The Trafford Centre Limited1 (property) Ordinary shares of £1 each 100

 “A” Preference shares of 17p each 100

 “B” Preference shares of £1 each 100

1 Shareholdings in these companies are held by intermediate subsidiary undertakings except for Capital Shopping Centres PLC where 82.5 per cent is held by Capital Shopping Centres 
Group PLC and 17.5 per cent is held by Liberty International Financial Services Limited, and Liberty International Holdings Limited where 40.2 per cent is held by Capital Shopping 
Centres Group PLC, 31.1 per cent is held by Conduit Insurance Holdings Limited and 28.7 per cent % is held by TAI Investments Limited. 

2 By virtue of their 40 per cent interest in The Metrocentre Partnership, GIC Real Estate is entitled to appoint 40 per cent of the Directors of Metrocentre (GP) Limited.  
The non-controlling interest balance of £23.5 million shown in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2011 relates to GIC Real Estate’s interest and is calculated in accordance with 
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. 

The companies listed above are those subsidiary undertakings whose results or financial position, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the figures in 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements. A full list of related undertakings will be annexed to the Company’s next annual return. 

Companies are incorporated and registered in England and Wales unless otherwise stated. All subsidiary undertakings have been included in the consolidated 
results. 
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46 Related party transactions 
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation for the Group.  

Significant transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries are shown below: 

Subsidiary Nature of transaction 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m  

Capital Shopping Centres PLC Increase in investment – 500.0

 Re-charges – 4.5

CSC Capital (Jersey) Limited Increase in investment – 217.6

 Redemption of preference shares (217.6) –

 Interest paid (12.7) (1.1)

 Dividend received 13.8 –

CSC Trading Limited Redemption of preference shares (3.3) –

Liberty International Group Treasury Limited Interest received 4.8 8.5

Nailsfield Limited Interest received 2.9 –

Greenhaven Industrial Properties Limited Dividend received 0.7 –

Significant balances outstanding between the Company and its subsidiaries are shown below: 

 Amounts owed by subsidiaries Amounts owed to subsidiaries 

Subsidiary 
2011 

£m 
2010  

£m 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Capital Shopping Centres PLC 2.2 5.1 – –

Conduit Insurance Holdings Limited 16.2 16.2 – –

CSC Capital (Jersey) Limited – – – (218.7)

CSC Trading – – – (3.3)

Greenhaven Industrial Properties Limited – – – (1.8)

Liberty International Group Treasury Limited 414.2 467.6 – –

Liberty International Holdings Limited 104.7 104.7 – –

Nailsfield Limited 25.5 22.6 – –

TAI Investments Limited – – (27.9) (27.9)

Prior to the demerger Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC exercised control over and provided a number of group services to Capco. All transactions since 
7 May 2010, including the provision of services under the demerger agreement, have been on an arms-length commercial basis. 

Key management1 compensation is analysed below: 

 
2011 

£m 
2010 

£m 

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 4.6 7.2

Pensions and other post-employment benefits 0.3 0.3

Share-based payments 1.8 0.8

Termination benefits 0.9 0.5

 7.6 8.8

1 Key management comprises the Directors of Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC and those employees who have been designated as persons discharging managerial responsibility. 

As John Whittaker, Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive Director of CSC, is the Chairman of the Peel Group, members of the Peel Group are considered to be 
related parties. Total transactions between the Group and members of the Peel Group are shown below: 

 
 2011 

£m 

Income 2.4

Expenditure (0.6)

Income predominantly relates to leases of office space and a contract to provide advertising services. Expenditure predominantly relates to costs incurred under 
the transitional services agreement and the supply of utilities. All contracts are on an arms length basis at commercial rates. 

Balances outstanding between the Group and members of the Peel Group as at 31 December 2011 are shown below: 

 
 2011 

£m 

Amounts owed by members of the Peel Group 0.1

Amounts owed to members of the Peel Group (0.1)

Under the terms of the Group’s acquisition of The Trafford Centre from the Peel Group, the Peel Group have provided a guarantee in respect of Section 106 
liabilities at Barton Square which as at 31 December 2011 total £10.6 million. 

Additionally income of £3,000 was received during the year from a company connected with John Whittaker which is not part of the Peel Group. 
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47 Directors’ emoluments 
The details of individual Directors’ remuneration and pension benefits as set out in the tables contained in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 72 to 83 
form part of these financial statements. 

 

48 Share-based payment 
The Group operates a number of share-based payment arrangements providing employee benefits and incentives. All schemes are equity settled, and as such the 
expense recognised in the income statement is assessed based on the fair value of the equity instruments awarded as determined at their grant date. The expense 
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on Group estimates of the number of shares that are expected to vest. 

Share Option Schemes 
Options to subscribe for ordinary shares may be awarded under the Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC Approved Share Option Scheme and the Capital 
Shopping Centres Group PLC Unapproved Share Option Scheme. 

Exercise is subject to an earnings per share (“EPS”) performance condition which requires Capital Shopping Centres Group “smoothed” earnings to grow over a 
three year period commencing with the year of grant at a rate in excess of 5 per cent per annum compound. “Smoothed” earnings growth means the percentage 
increase in underlying earnings per share, adjusted by (a) excluding exceptional and valuation items and (b) limiting trading or non-recurring items to 10 per cent of 
profit before tax. For the award made in 2009 exceptionally, the base figure for comparison purposes is the “smoothed” earnings achieved in 2009 for comparison 
with the three year period commencing with 2010. 

Except in the case of a “good” leaver, options may not be exercised within three years of grant and before satisfaction or waiver of any applicable performance 
condition, and are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options become capable of exercise. The options automatically lapse if not exercised 
within 10 years of the date of grant. 

In 2010 individuals who received awards made in 2009 and 2010 were given the option to modify their awards. Where this modification option was taken, the 
future exercise of their existing share options was capped based on the share price at the date of modification and they participate in the Joint Share Ownership 
Plan from that date as described below. As required by IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, the fair value of the award is measured immediately before the modification 
and immediately after and any increase in fair value must be recognised as an expense through the income statement over the performance period. Under this test 
it was found that no additional expense was required. 

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: 

 2011 2010 

 Number of options 
Weighted average exercise 

price (pence) Number of options 
Weighted average exercise 

price (pence) 

Outstanding at 1 January 7,572,945 306 4,227,635 388

Adjustment to options on demerger – – 1,345,985 n/a

Awarded during the year 3,135,000 387 3,907,670 313

Forfeited during the year (282,923) 330 (146,769) 417

Expired during the year (20,588) 387 – –

Exercised during the year (357,343) 275 (1,761,576) 274

Outstanding at 31 December 10,047,091 332 7,572,945 306

Exercisable at 31 December 2,197,749 348 496,683 474

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise during the year was 396p (2010 – 348p). 

Share options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had exercise prices between 272p and 528p (2010 – between 272p and 528p) and a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 8 years (2010 – 9 years). More detail by exercise price ranges is shown below: 

 2011 

Exercise price (pence) Number of options 

Weighted 
average remaining 

contractual life 

272 to 313 6,526,816 8

387 to 528 3,520,275 8

  

 2010 

Exercise price (pence) Number of options 

Weighted 
average remaining 

contractual life 

272 to 313 7,075,262 9

387 to 528 497,683 2
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48 Share-based payment (continued) 
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, was £0.87 per option (2010 – £0.60). 
The significant inputs to the model for the majority of options awarded during the year were as follows: 

 2011 2010 

Share price and exercise price at grant date £3.87 £3.13

Expected option life in years 4 years 4 years

Risk free rate 2.8% 2.2%

Expected volatility 35.5% 34.5%

Expected dividend yield 3.9% 4.8%

Expected dividend yield is based on public pronouncements about future dividend levels. All other measures are based on historical data. 

Joint Share Ownership Plan 
Eligible employees may be invited to participate in the Joint Share Ownership Plan (JSOP) which forms part of the Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC 
Unapproved Share Option Scheme. Under the JSOP shares are held jointly by the employee and the Employee Share Ownership Plan Trustee with any increases in 
the share price and dividends paid on those shares being allocated between the joint owners in accordance with the terms of the scheme. 

Conditions for exercise (including satisfaction of the same performance condition), forfeiture and lapsing are as set out above for options generally. 

No awards were made under the JSOP in 2011. 

Bonus Share Scheme 
Under the Capital Shopping Centres Group Bonus Scheme (the Bonus Scheme), deferred shares may be awarded as part of any bonus. 

Such awards comprise “Restricted” shares and “Additional” shares. Where awarded, Additional shares are equal to 50 per cent of the Restricted shares and SIP 
shares (see below) combined. The release of deferred share awards is not dependent on the achievement of any further performance conditions other than that 
participants remain employed by the Group for a specified time from the date of the award, typically two years in the case of Restricted shares and four years in 
the case of Additional shares. The fair value of Restricted shares granted during the year, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, was £3.58 per 
share (2010 – no awards made). The significant inputs to the model were as follows: 

  2011 

Share price at grant date £3.87

Expected option life in years 2 years

Risk free rate 2.8%

Expected volatility 35.5%

Expected dividend yield 3.9%

 

 

 2011 2010 

Year of grant Restricted Additional Restricted Additional 

Outstanding at 1 January – – 250,980 187,011

Awarded during the year 526,097 – – –

Forfeited during the year (7,602) – – –

Vested during the year (73,642) – (250,980) (187,011)

Outstanding at 31 December 444,853 – – –
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48 Share-based payment (continued) 
Share incentive plan (SIP) 
The Company operates a SIP for all eligible employees, who may receive up to £3,000 worth of shares as part of their annual bonus arrangements. The SIP 
arrangements offer worthwhile tax advantages to employees and to the Company.  

The SIP Bonus shares can be released three years after the date of the award provided the individual employee has remained in employment but the shares 
must then be held in trust for a further two years in order to qualify for tax advantages. The fair value of shares granted during the year, determined using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model, was £3.58 per share (2010 – no awards made). The inputs into the model were as for the Bonus Share Scheme. 

As part of the SIP arrangements, the Company also offers eligible employees the opportunity to participate in a “Partnership” share scheme, under which 
employees can save up to £125 a month. The Group offers one free Matching share for every two Partnership shares purchased by the employee at the end of a 
twelve-month saving period. Matching shares are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group within three years of the date of award, and qualify for tax advantages 
if they are held in the SIP for five years. The fair value of Matching shares is determined by the market price at the grant date. 

The dividend payable in respect of the shares held in the SIP is used to purchase additional shares, known as Dividend Shares, which are also held in trust and 
allocated to individuals and are subject to the same conditions of release. 

Movements in SIP bonus shares granted are as follows: 

 2011 2010 

Outstanding at 1 January 16,556 39,263

Awarded during the year 74,325 –

Forfeited during the year (4,738) (1,043)

Vested during the year1 (17,289) (21,664)

Outstanding at 31 December2 68,854 16,556

1 May still be held in trust. 

2 Shares that remain within their three-year holding period. 

 

49 Pensions 
Prior to acquisition of The Trafford Centre, the Group operated a defined contribution group pension plan (the “GPP”) which all employees were eligible to join. 
Post the Trafford Centre acquisition, the Group additionally now operates for Trafford Centre employees a trustee-based money purchase scheme (The Trafford 
Centre Limited Retirements Benefits Scheme) and a stakeholder scheme. Additionally the Group makes contributions to self-invested personal pension 
arrangements (“SIPPs”) on behalf of an executive director and a senior executive. All contributions are invested in funds administered outside of the Group. 

The pension charge for the Group contributions to these arrangements is the actual amount paid which for continuing operations totalled £1.1 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2011 (2010 – £1.1 million). 

As reported last year, the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme was closed in 2009 and fully wound up on 20 April 2011. This scheme had no assets or liabilities 
as at 31 December 2011 (2010 – nil). 

 

50 Events after the reporting period 
At the General Meeting on 17 February 2012 shareholders approved the details of two proposed transactions with the Peel Group. These transactions required 
shareholder approval as John Whittaker, Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive Director of CSC, is connected with the Peel Group. Details of the two transactions 
are set out below. 

The first transaction is the acquisition for £4.7 million from Clydeport Properties Limited of a 30.96 acre site known as King George V Docks (West) adjacent to 
CSC’s shopping centre at Braehead, Glasgow. 

The second transaction is the acquisition for €2.5 million from Peel Holdings Limited of a three year option alongside a refundable deposit of €7.5 million to 
purchase two parcels of land in the province of Malaga, Spain; an approximately 60 acre site which has initial planning consents for the construction of a high-class 
regional shopping centre and leisure development, and an adjacent approximately 14 acre site which is earmarked for possible future development. Should CSC 
wish to exercise the option, CSC would expect, subject to applicable law and regulation in force at the time, to be required to seek further approval from 
shareholders at that time. 
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51 Directors’ interests 
(a) In shares in Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC Group companies 
The number of ordinary shares of the Company in which the Directors were beneficially interested were: 

 2011 2010 

Chairman: 

D.P.H. Burgess 29,266 29,266

Deputy Chairman: 

J. Whittaker (appointed 28 January 2011)* 172,731,549 –

Executive: 

D.A. Fischel 549,322 549,322

E.M.G. Roberts 30,000 30,000

Non-Executive: 

J.G. Abel 122,221 122,221

R.M. Gordon** 5,436,526 10,710,526

I.J. Henderson 12,601 12,601

A.J.M. Huntley  12,000 12,000

Lady Patten (appointed 22 September 2011) 10,000 –

R.O. Rowley 1,260 1,260

N. Sachdev – –

A.D. Strang  – –

Retired during the year: 

K.E. Chaldecott (resigned 30 September 2011) n/a 102,800

* Total beneficial interest includes shares held by subsidiaries of the Peel Group of which Mr Whittaker is the chairman. 

**  During 2011, Mr Gordon transferred 5,274,000 shares into a family trust of which he is a discretionary beneficiary. His direct personal beneficial interest in ordinary shares therefore 
reduced to 5,436,526 as shown in the table above. 

Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC ordinary shares of 50 pence each 
Conditional awards of shares have previously been made under the Company’s annual bonus scheme. 

The awards comprise “Restricted” shares and “Additional” shares, the latter equal to 50 per cent of the restricted and Share Incentive Plan shares combined. 
As noted in the Directors’ remuneration report contained in the Company’s 2010 Annual Report, all outstanding deferred bonus shares held by Directors and 
staff vested in March 2010. Executive Directors were required to retain the shares, net of shares sold to meet tax and PAYE deductions, which vested ahead of 
the normal vesting date. Following this vesting, no deferred bonus shares remained outstanding as at 31 December 2010. 

Awards to Executive Directors under the scheme in 2011 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010 are as follows: 

Current Directors: 

 Award date 
Market price at 
award (pence) 

Original 
vesting date 

Market price at 
vesting (pence) 

Number of shares 
at 

31 December 
2010 

Number of shares 
lapsed during 2010 

Number of shares 
awarded during 

2011 

Number of shares 
vested during 

2011 

Number of shares 
at 

31 December 
2011 

D.A. Fischel 03/03/2011 387 03/03/2013 – – – 158,784 – 158,784

    

E.M.G. Roberts 03/03/2011 387 03/03/2013 – – – 65,470 – 65,470

 

Directors who retired during the year: 

 Award date 
Market price at 
award (pence) 

Original 
vesting date 

Market price at 
vesting (pence) 

Number of shares 
at 

31 December 
2010 

Number of shares 
lapsed during 2011 

Number of shares 
awarded 

during 2011 

Number of shares 
vested during 

2011 

Number of shares 
at 

31 December 
2011 

K.E. Chaldecott 03/03/2011 387 03/03/2013 329 – – 73,642 73,642 –

Details of Restricted and Additional shares awarded in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011 are given in the Directors’ remuneration report on 
pages 72 to 83. 
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51 Directors’ interests (continued) 
Awards may also be made under the Company’s Share Incentive Plan (SIP). The SIP shares can be released three years after the date of the award provided the 
individual Director has remained in employment but the shares must be held in trust for a further two years in order to qualify for tax advantages. The dividend 
payable in respect of the shares held in trust is used to purchase additional shares, known as Dividend Shares, which are also held in trust.  

 

At 
31 December 

2010 
Removed 

from trust Lapsed Awarded
1
 

Partnership, 
matching and 

dividend 
shares 

At 
31 December 

2011
2

Current Directors:  

D.A. Fischel 5,963 – – 775 874 7,612

E.M.G. Roberts – – – 775 29 804

  

Directors who retired during the year:  

K.E. Chaldecott 3,439 – – 775 713 4,927

1 SIP shares awarded in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010 awarded in March 2011. Details of SIP shares awarded in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011 are 
given in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 72 to 83. 

2 Or date of cessation if earlier. 

(b) In share options in the Company 
Current Directors interests in share options are given in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 72 to 83. 

(c) Other disclosures 
No Director had any dealings in the shares of any Group company between 31 December 2011 and 23 February 2012, being a date less than one month prior to 
the date of the notice convening the Annual General Meeting. 

Other than as disclosed in these accounts, no Director of the Company had a material interest in any contract (other than service contracts), transaction or 
arrangement with any Group company during the year ended 31 December 2011. 
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1. Property valuation data as at 31 December 2011 

 
Market value

£m 
Net initial

yield (EPRA) 
“Topped-up” NIY 

(EPRA) 
Nominal

equivalent yield Occupancy 

As at 31 December 2011  

The Trafford Centre, Manchester 1,700.0 4.9% 5.1% 5.5% 96.2%

Lakeside, Thurrock 1,081.0 5.0% 5.2% 5.6% 98.2%

Metrocentre, Gateshead 864.4 5.3% 5.7% 5.9% 96.3%

Braehead, Glasgow 582.5 5.1% 5.3% 6.1% 95.5%

Arndale, Manchester 369.6 5.4% 5.5% 5.7% 97.9%

Victoria Centre, Nottingham 333.0 5.1% 5.2% 6.4% 96.9%

The Harlequin, Watford 327.0 5.3% 5.3% 6.7% 97.9%

St David’s, Cardiff 286.3 4.4% 5.3% 5.9% 94.1%

Eldon Square, Newcastle upon Tyne 256.2 4.7% 5.4% 6.8% 94.1%

Chapelfield, Norwich 238.1 5.7% 5.9% 6.7% 99.0%

Cribbs Causeway, Bristol 219.5 5.1% 5.2% 6.1% 96.0%

The Chimes, Uxbridge 213.7 5.9% 6.0% 6.5% 98.6%

The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent 184.3 7.3% 7.3% 7.5% 97.7%

The Glades, Bromley 173.9 5.7% 5.7% 7.3% 95.3%

Other 130.7  

Total investment and development property 6,960.2 5.14%A 5.34%A 5.98%A 96.7%A

As at 31 December 2010 5,099.1 5.32% 5.64% 6.30% 97.7%

 

 
31 December 2011

£m 

31 December 
2010

£m 

Passing rent 358.4A 283.1

ERV 448.9A 354.1

Weighted average unexpired lease 7.5 yearsA 7.0 years

Please refer to the glossary for the definition of terms. 

On a like-for-like basis (including The Trafford Centre) as at 31 December 2010 the nominal equivalent yield was 6.12 per cent, passing rent was £353.5 million and ERV was 
£459.0 million. 

Notes 

A  Amounts quoted exclude Broadmarsh, Nottingham 

 

2. Analysis of capital return in the year 
 Market value Revaluation surplus*

 
2011

£m 
2010  

£m  
2011

£m 
2011

% 

Like-for-like property 5,177.9 5,092.4 19.8 0.4

The Trafford Centre 1,700.0 – 46.5 2.8

Like-for-like property (including The Trafford Centre) 6,877.9 5,092.4 66.3 1.0

Other 82.3 6.7 (3.3) n/a

Total investment and development property 6,960.2 5,099.1 63.0 0.9

* Revaluation surplus includes amortisation of lease incentives and fixed head leases. 

 

3. Analysis of net rental income in the year 

 
2011 

£m 
2010

£m 
Change

% 

Like-for-like property 272.1 262.6 3.6

The Trafford Centre and other acquisitions 77.5 – 100.0

Disposals – 1.0 (100.0)

Developments 14.4 13.3 8.3

Total investment and development property 364.0 276.9 31.5
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4. Additional property information as at 31 December 2011 

 Ownership Note 
Form of 

Ownership 
I

Vacancy 
rate 

(EPRA)
E
 

Gross area 
million 

sq. ft.
F
 

Year
opened 

Acquisition 
Date

G

As at 31 December 2011    

The Trafford Centre, Manchester 100%  FH 4.4% 2.0 1998 2011

Lakeside, Thurrock 100%  FH 1.1% 1.4 1990 –

Metrocentre, Gateshead 90% A LH 3.0% 2.1 1986 1995

Braehead, Glasgow 100%  FH 1.2% 1.1 1999 –

Arndale, Manchester 48% B LH 1.1% 1.6 1976 2005

Victoria Centre, Nottingham 100%  FH 0.7% 1.0 1972 2002H

The Harlequin, Watford 93%  LH 0.0% 0.7 1992 –

St David’s, Cardiff 50%  FH/LH 8.8% 1.4 2009 2006

Eldon Square, Newcastle upon Tyne 60%  FH/LH 2.4% 1.4 1976 –

Chapelfield, Norwich 100%  FH 0.0% 0.5 2005 –

Cribbs Causeway, Bristol 33% C FH/LH 2.4% 1.0 1998 2005

The Chimes, Uxbridge 100%  FH 0.0% 0.4 2001 –

The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent 100%  FH 0.0% 0.6 1998 –

The Glades, Bromley 64%  LH 2.1% 0.5 1991 –

Other D  0.9 

Total investment and development property  2.3% J 16.6 

As at 31 December 2010  0.8% 14.1 

Notes 

A Interest shown is that of the Metrocentre Partnership in the Metrocentre (90 per cent) and the Metro Retail Park (100 per cent). The Group has a 60 per cent interest in the 
Metrocentre Partnership which is consolidated as a subsidiary of the Group. 

B The Group’s interest is through a joint venture ownership of a 95 per cent interest in The Arndale, Manchester, and 90 per cent interest in New Cathedral Street, Manchester. 

C The Group’s interest is through a joint venture ownership of a 66 per cent interest in The Mall at Cribbs Causeway and a 100 per cent interest in The Retail Park, Cribbs Causeway. 

D Includes the Group’s 67 per cent economic interest in Broadmarsh, Nottingham and the Group’s 50 per cent economic interest in Xscape, Braehead. 

E As defined in the glossary. 

F Area shown is not adjusted for the proportional ownership. 

G The acquisition date is presented only where the centre was not built by the Group. 

H CSC held a 20 per cent stake in Victoria Centre, Nottingham prior to 2002 when it acquired the remaining 80 per cent to take its holding to 100 per cent. 

I Form of ownership is shown as either freehold (FH), leasehold (LH) or freehold and leasehold (FH/LH). 

J Amount quoted excludes Broadmarsh, Nottingham. 
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Financial covenants on asset-specific debt excluding joint ventures 

 Maturity 

Loan outstanding
at 31 January

2012
1

£m LTV covenant 

Loan to  
31 December  

2011  
market value

2
 

Interest cover
covenant 

Interest cover
actual

3

Metrocentre 2015 536.3 90% 62% 120% 132%

Braehead 2015 324.2 n/a n/a 120% 181%

Watford 2015 249.3 n/a n/a 120% 139%

Nottingham 2016 244.5 90% 73% 120% 384%

Chapelfield 2016 209.8 n/a n/a 120% 162%

Uxbridge 2016 157.2 85% 74% 120% 145%

Bromley 2016 135.3 85% 78% 120% 145%

Lakeside 2017 514.5 75% 48% 140% 211%

Total 2,371.1  
 
 

The Trafford Centre 
There are no financial covenants on the Trafford Centre debt. However a debt service cover ratio is assessed quarterly and where this falls below specified levels 
certain restrictions come into force. The loan to 31 December 2011 market value ratio is 46 per cent. 

 

Financial covenants on joint ventures asset-specific debt 

 Maturity 

Loan outstanding at 
31 January

2012
£m

1
LTV covenant 

Loan to 
31 December 

2011  
market value

2
 

Interest cover 
covenant 

Interest cover
actual

3

Cardiff 2014 93.44 70% 33% 180% 237%

Xscape 2014 22.84 n/a5 n/a5 120% 140%

Total 116.2  

1 The loan values are the actual principal balances outstanding at 31 January 2012, which take into account any principal repayments made in January 2012. The balance sheet value of 
the loans includes any unamortised fees.  

2 The Loan to 31 December 2011 market value provides an indication of the impact of the 31 December 2011 property valuations could have on the LTV covenants. The actual timing 
and manner of testing LTV covenants varies and is loan specific. 

3 Based on latest certified figures, calculated in accordance with loan agreements, which have been submitted between 31 December 2011 and 31 January 2012. The calculations are 
loan specific and include a variety of historic, forecast and, in certain instances, a combined historic and forecast basis. 

4 50 per cent of the debt is shown which is consistent with accounting treatment and the Group’s economic interest. 

5 The Xscape LTV covenant is suspended until 1 April 2012. At that date the LTV covenant will be 90 per cent. The loan to 31 December market value was 85 per cent. 

 

Financial covenants on corporate facilities at 31 December 2011 

 
Net worth 
covenant* 

Net worth
actual 

Interest cover
covenant*

Interest cover  
actual 

Borrowings/net 
worth covenant*

Borrowings/net worth 
actual 

£375m facility, maturing in 2016 £750m £1,196m 120% 209% 110% 26%

* Tested on the Borrower Group which excludes, at the Group’s election, certain subsidiaries with asset-specific finance. The facility is secured on the Group’s investments in Arndale, 
Manchester and Cribbs Causeway, Bristol.  

 

Capital Shopping Centres Debenture PLC at 31 December 2011 

 Maturity 
Loan

£m 
Capital cover

covenant*
Capital cover  

actual 
Interest cover 

covenant 
Interest cover 

actual 

 2027 231.4 167% 190% 100% 120%

* From 1 January 2012 the capital cover covenant reduces to 150 per cent. 

The debenture is currently secured on the Group’s interests in The Potteries, Stoke-on-Trent and Eldon Square, Newcastle.  

Should the capital cover or interest cover test be breached Capital Shopping Centres Debenture PLC (the issuer) has three months from the date of delivery of 
the valuation or the latest certificate to the Trustees to make good any deficiencies. The issuer may withdraw property secured on the debenture by paying a sum 
of money or through the substitution of alternative property provided that the capital cover and interest cover tests are satisfied immediately following the 
substitution. 
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Year ended 
31 December 

2011 
£m 

Year ended 
31 December 

2010 
£m 

Six months 
ended 

31 December 
2011 

£m 

Six months  
ended  

31 December  
2010  

£m 

Six months 
ended 

30 June 
2011 

£m 

Six months 
ended 

30 June 
2010 

£m 

Net rental income 364.0 276.9 186.1 142.4 177.9 134.5

Net other income 7.8 0.7 4.1 0.4 3.7 0.3

 371.8 277.6 190.2 142.8 181.6 134.8

Administration expenses  (24.1) (23.0) (12.3) (11.8) (11.8) (11.2)

Underlying operating profit 347.7 254.6 177.9 131.0 169.8 123.6

Finance costs (198.9) (165.4) (100.8) (83.1) (98.1) (82.3)

Finance income 0.8 3.1 0.2 1.8 0.6 1.3

Other finance costs (7.9) (8.8) (3.9) (4.4) (4.0) (4.4)

Underlying net finance costs (206.0) (171.1) (104.5) (85.7) (101.5) (85.4)

Underlying profit before tax and associates 141.7 83.5 73.4 45.3 68.3 38.2

Tax on adjusted profit (1.0) (0.1) (0.3) 0.1 (0.7) (0.2)

Remove amounts attributable to  
non-controlling interest 3.3 2.3 2.1 1.4 1.2 0.9

Share of underlying loss of associates (0.1) – – – (0.1) –

C&C US underlying earnings included within 
discontinued operations – 10.9 – 6.5 – 4.4

Interest on convertible bonds deducted directly in 
equity (5.3) – (2.9) – (2.4) –

Underlying earnings 138.6 96.6 72.3 53.3 66.3 43.3

Underlying earnings per share (pence) 16.5p 15.4p 8.5p 8.4p 8.0p 7.0p
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1. Summary 
The EPRA Best Practice Recommendations identify five key performance measures. The measures are deemed to be of importance for investors in property 
companies and aim to encourage more consistent and widespread disclosure. The Group is supportive of this initiative but continues to disclose additional measures 
throughout this report which it believes are more appropriate to the Group’s current circumstances. 

The EPRA measures as calculated for the Group are detailed below: 

 2011 2010 

EPRA Earnings £133.4m £69.0m

– per share 15.9p 11.0p

EPRA NAV £3,492.7m £2,677.0m

– per share 391p 390p

EPRA Triple Net Asset Value (NNNAV) £3,138.2m £2,592.6m

– per share 351p 378p

EPRA Net Initial Yield 5.1% 5.3%

EPRA “topped-up” NIY 5.3% 5.6%

EPRA Vacancy Rate 2.3% 0.8%

 

2. EPRA earnings 
   2011   2010 

 
Earnings 

£m 
Shares 
million 

Pence per 
share 

Earnings  
£m 

Shares 
million 

Pence per 
share 

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 24.7 840.9 2.9p 428.8 627.8 68.3p

Remove:  

Revaluation and sale of investment and development property (63.0) (7.5)p (497.2) (79.2)p

Share of associates revaluation and sale of investment and 
development property (9.1) (1.1)p – –

Impairment and sale of investments 8.7 1.1p 2.6 0.4p

Gain on acquisition of subsidiaries (52.9) (6.3)p – –

Gain on sale of subsidiaries (40.4) (4.8)p – –

Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments 193.4 23.0p 50.0 8.0p

Exceptional administration costs – acquisition related 18.8 2.3p 4.1 0.6p

Exceptional finance charges – termination of derivative financial 
instrument 42.3 5.0p 65.1 10.4p

Profits on sale and write down of trading property 0.5 0.1p (0.7) (0.1)p

Tax on the above 3.5 0.4p (2.8) (0.4)p

Non-controlling interest in respect of the above 6.9 0.8p 19.1 3.0p

EPRA earnings per share 133.4 840.9 15.9p 69.0 627.8 11.0p

Reconciliation to the Group’s measure of underlying earnings 
per share  

Remove:  

Exceptional items 7.6 0.9p 12.7 2.1p

REIT entry charge – – 3.3 0.5p

Other exceptional tax (1.9) (0.2)p – –

Add:  

Profits on sale and write down of trading property (0.5) (0.1)p 0.7 0.1p

C&C US underlying earnings included within discontinued 
operations – – 10.9 1.7p

Underlying earnings per share 138.6 840.9 16.5p 96.6 627.8 15.4p

EPRA earnings per share has been presented as recommended by EPRA which seeks to assist comparison between European property companies. However, we 
believe that our measure of underlying earnings per share is more appropriate than the EPRA measure in the context of our business as set out in note 17(c). 
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3. EPRA NAV 
   2011   2010 

 
Net assets 

£m 
Shares 
million 

NAV per share 
pence 

Net assets  
£m 

Shares 
million 

NAV per share 
pence 

NAV attributable to equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC 2,922.1 853.5 342p 2,273.4 685.8 331p

Dilutive convertible bonds, share options and awards 3.8 40.3 –  – 

Diluted NAV 2,925.9 893.8 327p 2,273.4 685.8 331p

Add:  

Unrecognised surplus on trading properties (net of tax) – – 1.4 –

Remove:  

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (net of tax) 520.9 58p 314.9 46p

Deferred tax on investment and development properties 5.0 1p 47.7 7p

Non-controlling interest in respect of the above (30.4) (3)p (31.7) (5)p

Add:  

Non-controlling interest recoverable balance not recognised 71.3 8p 71.3 11p

EPRA NAV 3,492.7 893.8 391p 2,677.0 685.8 390p

Fair value of derivative financial instruments (net of tax) (520.9) (58)p (314.9) (46)p

Excess of fair value of debt over book value 141.0 16p 246.5 36p

Deferred tax (5.0) (1)p (47.7) (7)p

Non-controlling interest in respect of the above (6.4) (1)p (22.8) (3)p

EPRA NNNAV 3,101.4 893.8 347p 2,538.1 685.8 370p

The Group’s measure of NAV per share (diluted, adjusted) disclosed in note 18 is equal to the EPRA NAV presented above. The adjustment in respect of the  
non-controlling interest recoverable balance not recognised is due to historic accounting practices and is required to get, in our view, a more appropriate value of 
net assets attributable to equity shareholders of the Group. 

 

4. EPRA Net Initial Yield and “topped-up” NIY 

 
2011

£m 
2010

£m 

Investment and development property 6,960 5,099

Less developments (71) (7)

Completed property portfolio 6,889 5,092

Allowance for estimated purchasers costs 328 259

Gross up completed property portfolio valuation 7,217 5,351

 

Annualised cash passing rental income 385 297

Property outgoings (19) (15)

Annualised net rents 366 282

Notional rent on expiration of rent free periods or other lease incentives 16 18

Topped-up net annualised rent 382 300

 

EPRA net initial yield 5.1% 5.3%

EPRA “topped-up” NIY 5.3% 5.6%

EPRA net initial yield and “topped-up” NIY by property is given in the Investment and development property section. 

 

5. EPRA Vacancy Rate 

 
2011

% 
2010

% 

EPRA Vacancy Rate 2.3 0.8

EPRA Vacancy Rate is calculated as the ERV of vacant space divided by the ERV of the whole portfolio. EPRA vacancy rate by property is given in the Investment 
and development property section. 
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 2009
1
 2010 2011 

Net rental income £267m £277m £364m

Underlying earnings £75m £97m £139m

Underlying earnings per share 15.1p 15.4p 16.5p

Dividend per share 15.0p 15.0p 15.0p

Property revaluation (deficit)/surplus £(535)m £501m £63m

  

NAV per share (diluted, adjusted) 339p 390p 391p

Market value of investment and development property £4,631m £5,099m £6,960m

Net external debt £2,522m £2,437m £3,374m

  

Debt to assets ratio 55% 48% 48%

Interest cover 1.41x 1.56x 1.71x

  

Change in like-for-like net rental income (3.4)% 2.1% 3.6%

Occupancy2 97.8% 97.7% 96.7%

Growth in footfall (like-for-like) 3% 3% 2%

Results prior to 2009 are not presented as they include the Capco business and so are not considered comparable. 

1 2009 figures are re-presented to remove the impact of the Capco business following the demerger in May 2010 and to present the C&C US business as held for sale. 

2 From 2010 occupancy is stated including the extension to St David’s completed in November 2009. 
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*  Additional members of the Executive Committee are the Chief Executive (Chairman of 
the Committee) and the Finance Director.
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ABC1 Customers
Proportion of customers within UK social groups A, B and C1, defi ned 
as members of households whose chief earner’s occupation is 
professional, higher or intermediate management or supervisory.

Annual property income
The Group’s share of passing rent plus the external valuers’ estimate of 
annual excess turnover rent, additional rent in respect of unsettled rent 
reviews and sundry income such as that from car parks and mall 
commercialisation. 

Debt to assets ratio
Net external debt divided by the market value of investment and 
development property.

Diluted fi gures
Reported amounts adjusted to include the eff ects of dilutive potential 
shares issuable under convertible bonds and employee incentive 
arrangements.

Earnings per share
Profi t for the period attributable to equity shareholders of CSC 
divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue during 
the period.

EPRA
European Public Real Estate Association, the publisher of Best Practice 
Recommendations intended to make fi nancial statements of public real 
estate companies in Europe clearer, more transparent and comparable.

ERV (estimated rental value)
The external valuers’ estimate of the Group’s share of the current 
annual market rent of all lettable space net of any non-recoverable 
charges, before bad debt provision and adjustments required under 
IFRS regarding tenant lease incentives.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are those items that in the Directors’ view are 
required to be separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence 
to enable a full understanding of the Group’s fi nancial performance. 

Headline rent ITZA
Annual contracted rent per square foot after expiry of concessionary 
periods in terms of zone A.

Initial yield to the Group
Annualised net rent (as per net initial yield (EPRA)) on investment 
property expressed as a percentage of the net market value, 
representing the yield that would be foregone by the Group were 
the asset to be sold.

Interest cover
Underlying operating profi t excluding trading property related items 
divided by the net fi nance cost plus interest on convertible bonds 
recognised in equity excluding the change in fair value of derivatives, 
exceptional fi nance costs and amortisation of compound fi nancial 
instruments.

Interest rate swap
A derivative fi nancial instrument enabling parties to exchange interest 
rate obligations for a predetermined period. These are used by the 
Group to convert fl oating rate debt to fi xed rates.

IPD 
Investment Property Databank Ltd, producer of an independent 
benchmark of property returns. 

Like-for-like property
Investment property which has been owned throughout both 
periods without signifi cant capital expenditure in either period, so that 
income can be compared on a like-for-like basis. For the purposes of 
comparison of capital values, this will also include assets owned at the 
previous reporting period end but not throughout the prior period.

Loan-to-value (LTV)
LTV is the ratio of attributable debt to the market value of an 
investment property. 

NAV per share (diluted, adjusted)
NAV per share calculated on a diluted basis and adjusted to refl ect any 
unrecognised surplus on trading properties (net of tax), to remove the 
fair value of derivatives (net of tax) and to remove deferred tax on 
investment and development property and other investments.

Net asset value (NAV) per share
Net assets attributable to equity shareholders of CSC Group PLC 
divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue at the period end.

Net external debt
Net debt after removing the Metrocentre compound fi nancial 
instrument.
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Net initial yield (EPRA)
Annualised net rent on investment property (after deduction of 
revenue costs such as head rent, running void, service charge after 
shortfalls, empty rates and merchant association contribution) 
expressed as a percentage of the gross market value before deduction 
of theoretical acquisition costs, consistent with EPRA’s net initial yield.

Net rental income
The Group’s share of net rents receivable as shown in the income 
statement, having taken due account of non-recoverable costs, bad 
debt provisions and adjustments to comply with IFRS including those 
regarding tenant lease incentives.

Nominal equivalent yield
Eff ective annual yield to a purchaser from the assets individually at 
market value after taking account of notional acquisition costs assuming 
rent is receivable annually in arrears, refl ecting estimated rental values 
(ERV) but disregarding potential changes in market rents.

Occupancy
The passing rent of let and under off er units expressed as a percentage 
of the passing rent of let and under off er units plus ERV of un-let units, 
excluding development and recently completed properties and treating 
units let to tenants in administration as un-let.

Passing rent
The Group’s share of contracted annual rents receivable at the balance 
sheet date. This takes no account of accounting adjustments made in 
respect of rent free periods or tenant incentives, the reclassifi cation of 
certain lease payments as fi nance charges or any irrecoverable costs 
and expenses, and does not include excess turnover rent, additional 
rent in respect of unsettled rent reviews or sundry income such as 
from car parks etc. Contracted annual rents in respect of tenants in 
administration are excluded.

Property Income Distribution (PID)
A dividend, generally subject to UK withholding tax at the basic rate of 
income tax, that a UK REIT is required to pay to its shareholders from 
its qualifying rental profi ts. Certain classes of shareholder may qualify 
to receive a PID gross, shareholders should refer to www.capital-
shopping-centres.co.uk for further information. The Group can also pay 
non-PID dividends which are not subject to UK withholding tax.

Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT)
A tax regime which exempts from corporation tax the rental profi ts 
and capital gains of the REIT’s qualifying investment property activities. 
In the UK, the regime must be elected into and the REIT must meet 
certain ongoing qualifi cations including the requirement to distribute at 
least 90 per cent of qualifying rental profi ts to shareholders. The Group 
elected for REIT status with eff ect from 1 January 2007.

Tenant (or lease) incentives
Any incentives off ered to occupiers to enter into a lease. Typically 
incentives are in the form of an initial rent free period and/or a cash 
contribution to fi t-out the premises. Under IFRS the value of incentives 
granted to tenants is amortised through the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Topped-up NIY (EPRA)
Net initial yield adjusted for the expiration of rent free periods and 
other unexpired lease incentives.

Total fi nancial return
The change in NAV per share (diluted, adjusted) plus dividends per 
share paid in the period expressed as a percentage of opening NAV 
per share (diluted, adjusted).

Trading property
Property held for trading purposes rather than to earn rentals or for 
capital appreciation and shown as current assets in the balance sheet.

Underlying earnings per share (EPS)
Earnings per share adjusted to exclude valuation movements, 
exceptional items and related tax. 

Underlying fi gures
Amounts described as underlying exclude valuation movements, 
exceptional items and related tax.

Vacancy rate (EPRA)
The ERV of vacant space divided by total ERV.

Yield shift
A movement (usually expressed in basis points) in the yield of a 
property asset.



Dividends

The Directors of Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC have 
proposed a fi nal dividend per ordinary share (ISIN GB0006834344) of 
10.0 pence (2010 – 10.0 pence) to bring the total dividend per ordinary 
share for the year to 15.0 pence (2010 – 15.0 pence).

This dividend will be partly paid as a Property Income Distribution 
(“PID”) with a gross value of 2.5 pence per share and partly paid as 
a non-PID with a value of 7.5 pence per share. The PID element 
will be subject to deduction of a 20 per cent withholding tax unless 
exemptions apply (please refer to the Special note below). 
The non-PID element will be treated as an ordinary company 
dividend, and therefore SA shareholders may suff er a Dividends 
Tax, the proposed rate of which has recently been increased from 
10 to 15 per cent.

The following are the salient dates for the payment of the proposed 
fi nal dividend:

Thursday 17 May 2012
Sterling/Rand exchange rate struck

Friday 18 May 2012
Sterling/Rand exchange rate and dividend amount in SA currency 
announced

Monday 28 May 2012
Ordinary shares listed ex-dividend on the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange

Wednesday 30 May 2012
Ordinary shares listed ex-dividend on the London Stock Exchange

Friday 1 June 2012
Record date for 2011 fi nal dividend in London and Johannesburg

Tuesday 3 July 2012
Dividend payment day for shareholders

Should the Directors decide to off er shareholders a scrip alternative 
to the 2011 fi nal dividend, shareholders will be advised no later than 
11 May 2012.

South African shareholders should note that, in accordance with 
the requirements of Strate, the last day to trade cum-dividend will be 
Friday 25 May 2012 and that no dematerialisation or rematerialisation 
of shares will be possible from Monday 28 May to Friday 1 June 2012 
inclusive. No transfers between the UK and South African registers 
may take place from Thursday 17 May to Sunday 3 June 2012 inclusive. 
South Africa introduces its new Dividends Tax with eff ect from 
1 April 2012; SA Shareholders will be contacted by our SA registrars, 
Computershare, or relevant CSDP or broker as applicable, to advise 
on the operation of the new tax.

PID Special note
The following applies to the PID element only of the 2011 fi nal dividend:

UK shareholders For those who are eligible for exemption from the 
20 per cent withholding tax and have not previously registered for 
exemption, an HM Revenue & Customs (“HMRC”) Tax Exemption 
Declaration is available for download from the “Investors” section of 
the Capital Shopping Centres Group website (www.capital-shopping-
centres.co.uk), or on request to our UK registrars, Capita Registrars. 
Validly completed forms must be received by Capita Registrars no later 
than the Record Date, Friday 1 June 2012, otherwise the dividend will 
be paid after deduction of tax.

South African and other non-UK shareholders South African shareholders 
may apply to HMRC after payment of the dividend for a refund of the 
diff erence between the 20 per cent withholding tax and the UK/South 
African double taxation treaty rate of 15 per cent. Other non-UK 
shareholders may be able to make similar claims. Refund application 
forms for all non-UK shareholders are available for download from 
the “Investors” section of the Capital Shopping Centres Group 
website (www.capital-shopping-centres.co.uk), or on request to our 
SA registrars, Computershare, or HMRC. Refunds are not claimable 
from Capital Shopping Centres Group, the South African Revenue 
Service or other national authorities, only from the UK’s HMRC.

Additional information on PIDs can be found at www.capital-shopping-
centres.co.uk/investors/shareholder_info/reit.

The above does not constitute advice and shareholders should seek 
their own professional guidance. Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC 
does not accept liability for any loss suff ered arising from reliance on 
the above.
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Shareholder information

Registrars
All enquiries concerning shares or shareholdings, including notifi cation 
of change of address, queries regarding loss of a share certifi cate and 
dividend payments should be addressed to:

For shareholders registered in the UK

Capita Registrars 
The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU
Telephone (within UK) 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10p per minute plus 
network extras; lines are open 8.30 am – 5.30 pm Monday – Friday) 
Telephone (outside UK) +44 20 8639 3399
Facsimile +44 20 8639 2342
Email: ssd@capitaregistrars.com
www.capitashareportal.com

For shareholders registered in South Africa

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001
South Africa
Postal address:
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown 2107, South Africa
Telephone +27 11 370 5000
Facsimile +27 11 688 5221
Email: web.queries@computershare.co.za
www.computershare.com

Payment of dividends
Shareholders who wish to have their dividends paid directly into a bank 
or building society account should complete a mandate form available 
from the appropriate registrars. 

Share price information
The latest information on the Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC share 
price is available on the website www.capital-shopping-centres.co.uk

Web-based enquiry service for shareholders 
Shareholders registered in the UK can go to www.capitashareportal.
com to obtain details of their shareholdings and dividends. 
The shareholder’s surname, Investor Code (found on any 
correspondence from registrars) and postcode are required to use 
this service. Shareholders may also use this service to amend or change 
their address and dividend mandate details.

Shareholders registered in South Africa can go to www.computershare.
com/investor to obtain details of their shareholdings. Shareholders will 
need to follow a registering process in order to access such information. 
Unfortunately, due to South African legal requirements, shareholders 
may not update records, but will be able to view their entire holding of 
shares globally. Please note that the Computershare company code for 
Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC is CSOZ.

Share dealing
Existing UK shareholders may trade Capital Shopping Centres Group 
PLC shares through Capita Share Dealing Services who provide an 
easy to use, real-time online, telephone and postal dealing service. 

Contact details are:

www.capitadeal.com 
Telephone (within UK) 0871 664 0364 (calls cost 10p per minute plus 
network extras; lines are open 8.00 am – 4.30 pm Monday – Friday) 
(Ireland) Lo-call 1 890 946 375 
(outside UK) +44 20 3367 2686

Existing South African shareholders whose shares are held in electronic 
format through Computershare CSDP may trade Capital Shopping 
Centres Group PLC shares through Computershare’s low cost 
telephone share dealing service on 0861 100 950 (SA calls only).

Electronic communication
The company supplies information such as the Annual and Interim 
Report via its website to shareholders who have consented to such 
communication. Shareholders will be notifi ed by email or post when 
new information is available on the website.

Shareholders can at any time revoke a previous instruction in order to 
receive hard copies of shareholder information.

UK shareholders may register to receive email alerts by logging on 
to the website of the UK Registrars (www.capitashareportal.com) 
and following the instructions given to register an email address. 
SA shareholders may register to receive email alerts by written 
instruction to the SA register, Computershare, sent either by email 
(ecomms@computershare.co.za) or by facsimile (+27 11 688 5248). 
Once registered, shareholders are sent a “Notice of Availability” 
email highlighting that the Annual Report, Interim Report or other 
information is available for viewing on the website.

This report contains “forward-looking statements” regarding the belief or current expectations of Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC, its Directors and other members of its senior 
management about Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC’s businesses, fi nancial performance and results of operations. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future 
performance. Rather, they are based on current views and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside the control of 
Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC and are diffi  cult to predict, that may cause actual results, performance or developments to diff er materially from any future results, performance or 
developments expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date of this report. Except as required by applicable law, 
Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC makes no representation or warranty in relation to them and expressly disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements 
contained herein to refl ect any change in Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such 
statement is based.  

Any information contained in this report on the price at which shares or other securities in Capital Shopping Centres Group PLC have been bought or sold in the past, or on the yield on 
such shares or other securities, should not be relied upon as a guide to future performance.
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